
           

Mitchell W. Jordan, Mayor
Sean Conner, Council District #1
Ava Harmon, Council District #2 
James Smith, Council District #3
Kenneth Davidson, Council District #4 
Krissy Clark, Council District #5
Christopher Gibbs, Council District #6 

Teresa Herrera, City Manager
April Jackson, City Secretary
Rezzin Pullum, City Attorney

 NOTICE OF MEETING 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

April 22, 2024
 Work Session at 3:30 p.m. 
City Hall Conference Room

504 N. Queen Street
Palestine, Texas

 Regular Meeting at 5:30 p.m.
City Council Chambers

504 N. Queen Street
Palestine, Texas

 

Zoom Link:
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86555989361?pwd=b1lSd3E2TUJvVlE0ViszU05pRGpXdz09

Meeting ID: 865 5598 9361
Passcode: 534793

One tap mobile
+13462487799,,86555989361#,,,,*534793# US
 
Note: when you are joining a Zoom meeting by phone, you can use your phone’s dial pad to enter the commands *6 for toggling
mute/unmute and *9 to “raise your hand.” Learn more here.

Follow us live at: facebook.com/palestinetx

           

WORK SESSION
1. Discuss water utility options from KSA. Kevin Olson, PW Director
2. Discuss the Water Master Plan from Freese and Nichols, Inc. Kevin Olson, PW Director
3. Discuss expanding Palestine Municipal Airport hangars and taxiways. Kevin Olson, PW

Director
4. Discussion regarding boards, commissions, and committees appointments: Palestine

Economic Development Corporation and other board appointments. Chris Gibbs, Council
Member

5. Discussion on Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) – Clarification of Process and Consideration
of Dissolution. Rezzin Pullum, City Attorney
 

  

REGULAR MEETING
A. CALL TO ORDER

 
  

B. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
 

  

C. PROPOSED CHANGES OF AGENDA ITEMS
 

  

D. PUBLIC RECOGNITION, PUBLIC COMMENTS, AND ANNOUNCEMENTS   

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86555989361?pwd=b1lSd3E2TUJvVlE0ViszU05pRGpXdz09
http://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/201362663-Joining-a-meeting-by-phone
http://www.facebook.com/palestinetx/


D. PUBLIC RECOGNITION, PUBLIC COMMENTS, AND ANNOUNCEMENTS
Any citizen wishing to speak during public comments regarding an item on or off the agenda
may do so after completing the required Request to Speak form. All comments must be no
more than five minutes in length. Any comments regarding items not on the posted agenda
may not be discussed or responded to by the City Council. Members of the public may join
via Zoom or in person.

It is not the intention of the City of Palestine to provide a public forum for the embarrassment
or demeaning of an individual or group. Neither is it the intention of the Council to allow a
member of the public to slur the performance, honesty, and/or integrity of any person or
threaten any person. Accordingly, profane, insulting, or threatening language will not be read
aloud at the meeting.  
 

  

1. Certificate of Achievement for the Fiscal Year 2022 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.
Andrew Sibai, Finance Director

2. Recognition of the Visitor Center. Mitchell Jordan, Mayor
 

  

E. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURES
 

  

F. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT   

1. March 2024 Police Monthly Report
2. March/April 2024 Economic Development Monthly Report

 
G. CONSENT AGENDA

The following items may be acted upon in one motion. No separate discussion or action is
necessary unless requested by the Mayor or a Council Member, in which event those items
will be pulled for separate consideration. Approval of the consent agenda authorizes the City
Manager to implement each item in accordance with staff recommendations.

  

1. Consider approval of minutes of the Work Session and Regular Agenda of April 8, 2024. April
Jackson, City Secretary

2. Consider approval of a resolution for the Texas Community Development Block Grant No.
CDV23-0354 and reaffirming adopted local Fair Housing and Civil Rights Policies, including
the Citizen Participation Plan, the Excessive Force Policy, the Fair Housing Policy and Public
Service Announcement, the Fair Housing Month Proclamation, the Section 504 Policy and
Section 504 Self-Evaluation Form, the Code of Conduct Policy, and the Violence Against
Women Act. Teresa Herrera, City Manager

3. Consider approval of a resolution adopting the Financial Policies and Procedures for Federal
Grant Contracts as needed for applying for a GLO Resilient Communities Program (RDP)
grant. Teresa Herrera, City Manager

4. Consider approval of a resolution adopting the Procurement Policies and Procedures for
Federal Grant Contracts as needed for applying for a GLO Resilient Communities Program
(RCP) grant. Teresa Herrera, City Manager

5. Consider approval of the City of Palestine Farmers' Market Agreement between the City of
Palestine and April and Roger Shaner. Teresa Herrera, City Manager

6. Consider approval of expenditures over $25,000.00. Andrew Sibai, Finance Director
7. Consider approval of engineering services at the Palestine Municipal Airport. Kevin Olson, PW

Director
8. Consider authorizing the City Manager to seek sealed bids for annual sludge removal at the

Water Treatment Plant. Kevin Olson, PW Director
9. Consider approval of a revised contract with ETEX for phone and fiber services for a 48-month

term in the amount of $7,396.90 monthly. Andrew Sibai, Finance Director



10. Consider approval of an ordinance amending the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 budget by
appropriating and setting aside the necessary funds for additional expenditures for the
Palestine Economic Development Corporation in the amount of $140,000.00. Andrew Sibai,
Finance Director
 

H. REGULAR AGENDA   

1. Traylor & Associates Section 3 Presentation - Overview of Texas Community Development
Block Grant (TxCDBG) requirements related to Section 3 of the Housing and Urban
Development Act of 1968 for Grant Number CDV23-0354.

2. Discussion and possible action regarding a Downtown Grant Agreement between the
Palestine Economic Development Corporation and The Historic Palestine Event Center in an
amount not to exceed $37,125.00. Christophe Trahan, EDC Director

3. Discussion and possible action regarding a Downtown Grant Agreement between the
Palestine Economic Development Corporation and Palestine Community Theater, Inc. in an
amount not to exceed $60,000.00. Christophe Trahan, EDC Director
 

I. MAYOR'S REPORT
 

  

J. ITEMS FROM COUNCIL
 

  

K. CLOSED SESSION
Council will go into Closed Session pursuant to Texas Government Code, Chapter 551,
Subchapter D.

  

1. Section 551.071 consultation with an attorney: pending or contemplated litigation or a
settlement offer: Palestine Municipal Airport, Union Pacific Railroad, Laza, Humber, and
legal advice contract negotiations for trash services.
 

  

L. RECONVENE IN REGULAR SESSION   

1. Take any action necessary regarding consultation with an attorney: pending or
contemplated litigation or a settlement offer: Palestine Municipal Airport, Union Pacific
Railroad, Laza, Humber, and legal advice contract negotiations for trash services.
 

  

M. ADJOURNMENT
 

  

The Palestine City Council reserves the right to adjourn into executive session at any time during
the course of this meeting to discuss any of the matters listed above, as authorized by Texas
Government Code Sections 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney), 551.072 (Deliberations about
Real Property), 551.073 (Deliberations about Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters),
551.076 (Deliberations about Security Devices), and 551.087 (Economic Development), and
§551.086 (Competitive Matters regarding Electric Utility).

I certify that the above Notice of Meeting was posted on the outdoor bulletin board at the main entrance to
City Hall, 504 N. Queen Street, Palestine, Texas, in compliance with Chapter 551 of the Texas
Government Code on  Friday, April 19, 2024, at 3:30 p.m.

April Jackson, City Secretary

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA)
PERSONS IN NEED OF SPECIAL ACCOMMODATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS PROCEEDING



PERSONS IN NEED OF SPECIAL ACCOMMODATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS PROCEEDING
SHALL, CONTACT THE CITY SECRETARY'S OFFICE VIA EMAIL AT citysecretary@palestine-tx.org or
903-731-8414.

mailto:cmadmin@palestine-tx.org


Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Kimberly Beckman, Public Works Admin
Agenda Item: Discuss water utility options from KSA
Date Submitted: 04/17/2024

SUMMARY:
Discuss water utility options from KSA.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
No required action.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
KSA 
Maps 























Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Kimberly Beckman, Public Works Admin
Agenda Item: Discuss Water Master Plan from Freese and Nichols, Inc.
Date Submitted: 04/17/2024

SUMMARY:
Discuss the Water Master Plan from Freese and Nichols, Inc.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
No required action. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Report 
Map 
Entire Report 































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT Water Master Plan Update 

PREPARED BY: 
FREESE AND NICHOLS, INC. 
801 CHERRY STREET, SUITE 2800 
FORT WORTH, TEXAS 76102 
817-735-7300 

March 2024 

City of Palestine 



 

DRAFT 

2023 Water Master Plan Update 
Prepared for: 

City of Palestine 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

FREESE AND NICHOLS, INC. 

801 Cherry Street, Suite 2800 

Fort Worth, Texas 76102 

817-735-7300 

 

FNI Project Number: PLT22291 

DRAFT 

THIS DOCUMENT IS RELEASED FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF INTERIM REVIEW 

UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF MAZEN 

KAWASMI, P.E., TEXAS NO. 106100 

ON MARCH 5, 2024. IT IS NOT TO BE 

USED FOR CONSTRUCTION, BIDDING 

OR PERMIT PURPOSES. 

FREESE AND NICHOLS, INC. 

TEXAS REGISTERED ENGINEERING 

FIRM F- 2144 

DRAFT 

THIS DOCUMENT IS RELEASED FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF INTERIM REVIEW 

UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF NICHOLAS 

MCCORMICK, P.E., TEXAS NO. 135767 

ON  MARCH 5, 2024. IT IS NOT TO BE 

USED FOR CONSTRUCTION, BIDDING 

OR PERMIT PURPOSES. 

FREESE AND NICHOLS, INC. 

TEXAS REGISTERED ENGINEERING 

FIRM F- 2144 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

 i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.0 INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................. 1-1 

1.1 Scope of Work ....................................................................................................................... 1-1 

1.2 List of Abbreviations ............................................................................................................ 1-2 

2.0 HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED POPULATION .......................................................................... 2-1 

2.1 Historical Population ............................................................................................................ 2-1 

2.2 Population Projections ......................................................................................................... 2-2 

3.0 WATER DEMAND PROJECTIONS ........................................................................................... 3-1 

3.1 Historical Water Demands ................................................................................................... 3-1 

3.2 Projected Water Demands ................................................................................................... 3-2 

4.0 EXISTING WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM ............................................................................. 4-1 

4.1 Existing Water System .......................................................................................................... 4-1 

4.1.1 Upper Pressure Plane ................................................................................................................... 4-1 

4.1.2 South Pressure Plane .................................................................................................................... 4-1 

4.1.3 Central Pressure Plane ................................................................................................................. 4-2 

4.1.4 Lower Pressure Plane ................................................................................................................... 4-2 

4.2 Model Update and Calibration ............................................................................................. 4-5 

4.2.1 Model Update ................................................................................................................................... 4-5 

4.2.2 Pressure Testing and Calibration ............................................................................................. 4-5 

4.3 Existing Water System Analysis .......................................................................................... 4-8 

4.3.1 Existing System Facility Evaluation ........................................................................................ 4-8 

4.3.2 Hydraulic Analysis ................................................................................................................. 4-10 

4.3.3 Fire Flow Analysis ................................................................................................................. 4-11 

5.0 FUTURE WATER SYSTEM ANALYSIS ....................................................................................... 5-1 

5.1 Future System Facility Evaluation ....................................................................................... 5-1 

5.1.1 Upper Pressure Plane Evaluation .......................................................................................... 5-16 

5.1.2 South Pressure Plane Evaluation ........................................................................................... 5-16 

5.1.3 Central/Lower Pressure Plane Evaluation ........................................................................ 5-16 

5.1.4 Water Treatment Plant Capacity Evaluation ..................................................................... 5-17 

5.2 Future Water System Analysis ........................................................................................... 5-16 

6.0 WATER SYSTEM CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN .................................................................... 6-1 

6.1 Existing Condition Improvements ....................................................................................... 6-2 

6.2 Future Growth Improvements ............................................................................................. 6-3 

 

  



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

 ii 

LIST OF TABLES 

Table 1-1: List of Abbreviations .................................................................................................................. 1-2 

Table 2-1: Historical Population Growth .................................................................................................... 2-1 

Table 2-2: Population Projections .............................................................................................................. 2-2 

Table 2-3: People per Connection Summary .............................................................................................. 2-2 

Table 3-1: Historical Water Production ...................................................................................................... 3-2 

Table 3-2: Water Demand Design Criteria .................................................................................................. 3-3 

Table 3-3: City-Wide Projected Water Demands........................................................................................ 3-3 

Table 3-4: Projected Water Demands by Pressure Plane ........................................................................... 3-3 

Table 4-1: Existing Ground Storage Facilities ............................................................................................. 4-2 

Table 4-2: Existing Elevated Storage Facilities ............................................................................................ 4-2 

Table 4-3: Existing Pumping Facilities......................................................................................................... 4-3 

Table 4-4: TCEQ Pumping Requirements ................................................................................................... 4-8 

Table 4-5: Existing Connections by Pressure Plane .................................................................................... 4-9 

Table 4-6: TCEQ Total Storage Capacity – Existing System ......................................................................... 4-9 

Table 4-7: TCEQ Elevated Storage Capacity – Existing System ................................................................... 4-9 

Table 4-8: TCEQ Pumping Capacity - Existing System (Condition 1) ......................................................... 4-10 

Table 4-9: TCEQ Water Supply Capacity – Existing System ...................................................................... 4-10 

Table 5-1: Projected Connections by Pressure Plane ................................................................................. 5-1 

Table 6-1: Water CIP Cost Summary .......................................................................................................... 6-2 

 

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 2-1: Historical and Projected Population ........................................................................................ 2-3 

Figure 2-2: Population Projections by Census Block Group ....................................................................... 2-4 

Figure 4-1: Existing Water Distribution System .......................................................................................... 4-4 

Figure 4-2: Diurnal Curve ........................................................................................................................... 4-7 

Figure 5-1: Upper Pressure Plane Ground Storage Capacity Evaluation .................................................... 5-3 

Figure 5-2: Upper Pressure Plane Elevated Storage Capacity Evaluation .................................................. 5-4 

Figure 5-3: Upper Pressure Plane Total Storage Capacity Evaluation ........................................................ 5-5 

Figure 5-4: Upper Pressure Plane Pumping Capacity Evaluation ............................................................... 5-6 

Figure 5-5: South Pressure Plane Ground Storage Capacity Evaluation .................................................... 5-7 

Figure 5-6: South Pressure Plane Elevated Storage Capacity Evaluation ................................................... 5-8 

Figure 5-7: South Pressure Plane Total Storage Capacity Evaluation ......................................................... 5-9 

Figure 5-8: South Pressure Plane Pumping Capacity Evaluation.............................................................. 5-10 

Figure 5-9: Central Pressure Plane Ground Storage Capacity Evaluation ................................................ 5-11 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

 iii 

Figure 5-10: Central Pressure Plane Elevated Storage Capacity Evaluation ............................................. 5-12 

Figure 5-11: Central Pressure Plane Total Storage Capacity Evaluation ................................................... 5-13 

Figure 5-12: Central Pressure Plane Pumping Capacity Evaluation ......................................................... 5-14 

Figure 5-13: Water Treatment Plant Treatment Capacity Evaluation ...................................................... 5-15 

Figure 6-1: Water Distribution Capital Improvement Plan ........................................................................ 6-1 

 

APPENDIX 
Appendix A Pressure Recorder Locations and Data Summary 

Appendix B  Calibration Charts 

Appendix C Existing Water System Analysis Mapping 

Appendix D Estimated Water CIP Opinion of Probable Construction Costs  

 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

1-1 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

The City of Palestine (City) contracted with Freese and Nichols, Inc. (FNI) to perform an update to the 

Water Master Plan in March 2022. This report details the existing performance of the system and identifies 

improvements to address existing deficiencies and future growth. Water usage data was reviewed to 

determine trends and project demands for the system evaluation. Based on the evaluation, a phased 

Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) through buildout was developed. The recommended improvements will 

serve as a basis for the design, construction, and financing of linear assets and facilities required to meet 

the City’s future system needs. 

1.1 Scope of Work 

The scope of work consisted of the following major tasks: 

• Population and Water Demands Update: Population and water demand projections for existing, 

near-term (5-year), intermediate-term (10-year), and long-term (buildout) conditions were 

developed using future land use assumptions and design criteria. These projections were 

developed for each pressure plane within the City’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ). 

• Field Pressure Testing and Water Model Update/Calibration: FNI utilized Autodesk® InfoWater 

Pro to build the City’s hydraulic water model. FNI utilized the latest Geographic Information System 

(GIS) information to add new lines and facilities to the model to obtain the most up-to-date 

representation of the water distribution system. Field pressure monitoring was conducted from 

July 6 through July 20, 2022, to gather pressure data throughout the distribution system, which 

was used in the model calibration process. 

• Distribution System Hydraulic Capacity Analysis: The existing and future water distribution 

system was evaluated under maximum day and peak hour demand conditions to determine where 

pressure issues occur, if storage tanks are operating properly, and if pumping facilities are 

adequate to meet the demand. The water system evaluations were used to develop and provide 

recommendations for future supply, pumping, elevated storage, and ground storage capacity 

requirements. 

• Water System Capital Improvement Plan and Water Master Plan Report: The hydraulic model 

was utilized to prepare a CIP to serve the projected buildout demands. Planning level cost 

estimates in 2024 dollars, including engineering and contingencies, were developed for each 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

1-2 

recommended project. A prioritized list of projects was prepared to address existing and projected 

deficiencies in the water system and to extend service to future customers. 

1.2 List of Abbreviations 

The frequently used abbreviations in this report are presented in Table 1-1. 

Table 1-1: List of Abbreviations 

Abbreviation Actual 

ACR Alternative Capacity Requirement 

CBG Census Block Group 

CIP Capital Improvement Plan 

City City of Palestine 

CPP Central Pressure Plane 

EST Elevated Storage Tank 

ETJ Extra-Territorial Jurisdiction 

FNI Freese and Nichols, Inc. 

fps Feet per Second 

ft Feet 

gal Gallons 

GIS Geographic Information System 

gpcd Gallons per Capita per Day 

gpm Gallons per Minute 

GST Ground Storage Tank 

LPP Lower Pressure Plane 

MG Million Gallons 

MGD Million Gallons per Day 

MDD Maximum Day Demand 

OPCC Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 

PRV Pressure Reducing Valve 

psi Pounds per Square Inch 

SCADA Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition 

SPP South Pressure Plane 

TAC Texas Administrative Code 

TCEQ Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 

UPP Upper Pressure Plane 

WTP Water Treatment Plant 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

2-1 

2.0 HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED POPULATION 

2.1 Historical Population 

FNI reviewed the City’s historical population data collected from the U.S. Census Bureau. The City’s 

historical population growth rate since 2012 is, on average, lower than that experienced between 2000 

and 2011. Based on the U.S. Census Bureau data, the City has maintained a growth rate of approximately 

0.39%, 0.22%, and 1.03% over the last twenty, ten, and five years, respectively. Table 2-1 includes the 

historical population and associated growth rates.  

Table 2-1: Historical Population Growth 

Year 

U.S. Census 
Historical Population 

City Population Growth (%) 

2000 17,598 -- 

2001 17,722 0.70% 

2002 17,846 0.70% 

2003 17,969 0.69% 

2004 18,093 0.69% 

2005 18,217 0.69% 

2006 18,341 0.68% 

2007 18,464 0.67% 

2010 18,712 1.34% 

2011 18,544 -0.90% 

2012 18,446 -0.53% 

2013 18,323 -0.67% 

2014 18,136 -1.02% 

2015 18,024 -0.62% 

2016 18,084 0.33% 

2017 18,056 -0.15% 

2018 17,877 -0.99% 

2019 17,713 -0.92% 

2020 18,544 4.69% 

2021 18,756 1.14% 

2022 18,981 1.20% 

20-Year Average Growth Rate  0.39% 

10-Year Average Growth Rate  0.22% 

5-Year Average Growth Rate  1.03% 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

2-2 

2.2 Population Projections 

FNI worked with City staff to develop and distribute the projected population. Population projections from 

the U.S. Census Bureau Census Block Group (CBG) data were used as a starting point. Information on 

known developments provided by City staff was used to adjust the population projections. Table 2-2 

summarizes the updated population projections, and Figure 2-1 depicts the historical and projected 

populations for the City of Palestine. For this study, an average annual growth rate of 0.50% was utilized 

based on recent growth trends and direction from City staff. Figure 2-2 illustrates the existing, 5-year, 10-

year, and buildout population by CBG. For the purposes of this study, buildout was assumed to occur by 

2053. 

Table 2-2: Population Projections 

Year Rate Population 

2023 

0.50% 

19,076 

2028 19,558 

2033 20,051 

Buildout 22,155 

FNI also used active water meter connection information provided by City staff to determine the number 

of people per connection. This is used for projecting the number of water meter connections in each 

pressure plane under future planning years. Table 2-3 presents the updated people per connection 

summaries. 

Table 2-3: People per Connection Summary 

Criteria Value 

2023 Population 19,076 

2023 Active Water Meter Connections 9,525 

People/Connection 2.00 

 

  



-1.5%

-0.5%

0.5%

1.5%

2.5%

3.5%

4.5%

5.5%

14,000

16,000

18,000

20,000

22,000

24,000

26,000
2

0
0

0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

2
0

2
1

2
0

2
2

2
0

2
3

2
0

2
4

2
0

2
5

2
0

2
6

2
0

2
7

2
0

2
8

2
0

2
9

2
0

3
0

2
0

3
1

2
0

3
2

2
0

3
3

2
0

3
4

2
0

3
5

2
0

3
6

2
0

3
7

2
0

3
8

2
0

3
9

2
0

4
0

2
0

4
1

2
0

4
2

2
0

4
3

2
0

4
4

2
0

4
5

2
0

4
6

2
0

4
7

2
0

4
8

2
0

4
9

2
0

5
0

2
0

5
1

2
0

5
2

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

Year

DRAFT City of Palestine

Water Master Plan Update

Figure 2-1: Historical and Projected Population

Historical U.S. Census Estimates 0.5% Growth Rate (Water Master Plan) Historical Census Growth Rate

2020 

(Census)

18,544

2022 

18,981

2000 

(Census)

17,598

0.39%

0.47% 0.30%

Buildout

Buildout 

22,155



9509014
77
77
77

277

9509011
34
34
34
34

9509012
58
58
58

1,000

9509013
21
21
21
21

9505004
441
441
441
441

9509021
7

307
607
962

9509022
4
4
4
4

9506001
1,421
1,421
1,421
1,570

9509023
14
14
14
14

9509024
2
2
2
2

9506002
1,545
1,545
1,545
1,545

9508002
1,497
1,679
1,872
1,930

9508001
761
761
761

1,161

9505003
2,469
2,469
2,469
2,469

9507001
1,136
1,136
1,136
1,136

9506004
1,404
1,404
1,404
1,404

9506003
1,640
1,640
1,640
1,640

9505001
511
511
511
511

9505002
591
591
591
591

9507003
1,255
1,255
1,255
1,255

9507002
831
831
831
831

9508003
1,441
1,441
1,441
1,441

9508005
883
883
883
883

9508004
1,033
1,033
1,033
1,033

O
L

D
 E

L
K

H
A

R
T

 R
D

COUNTY ROAD 386

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 153

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

67

B
A

S
S

E
T

T

S
 JA

C
K

S
O

N

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 431

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 404

E LACY

S
 R

O
Y

A
L

L
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
90

4

COUNTY ROAD 2213

COUNTY ROAD 408

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

25

E BRAZOS ST

COUNTY ROAD 363

A
R

M
O

R
Y

 R
D

R
O

Y
A

L

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
5

6

COUNTY ROAD 2301

CO
UNTY R

O
AD 3

96

COUNTY ROAD 422
C

O
U

N
T

Y
 R

O
A

D
 2

20
6

W CAROLINA ST

OAK

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2907

COUNTY R
OAD 4034

COUNTY ROAD 2211

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 151

N QUEEN ST

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 385

W LACY

S
Y

C
A

M
O

R
E

COUNTY R
OAD 2901

M
A

Y
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2232

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4659

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 420

RANGE RD

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
3

0
3

W GREEN ST

COUNTY ROAD 419

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

90
3

S
 D

O
R

R
A

N
C

E
 S

T

INWOOD DR

C
E

D
A

R
 S

T

COUNTY ROAD 4334

BENBRO
O

K DR

W KOLSTAD ST

MILLS ST

COUNTY ROAD 409

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

6

CO
UNTY

 R
O

AD 2
21

2

COUNTY ROAD 421

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

3

LARRY ST

L
O

N
G

 L
N

O
L

D
 B

R
U

S
H

Y
 C

R
E

E
K

 R
D

N
E

C
H

E
S

 T
R

C
E

COUNTY ROAD 147

COUNTY ROAD 152

COUNTY ROAD 157

COUNTY ROAD 23

COUNTY ROAD 150

D
R

E
X

E
L

 S
T

COUNTY R
OAD 410

M
E

M
O

R
Y

C
O

T
TA

G
E

 A
V

E

COUNTY ROAD 417

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2134

HILLTOP DR

W COOK ST

COUNTY ROAD 4253

T
E

X
A

S
 A

V
E

COUNTY ROAD 2233

M
C

N
EI

L 
ST

COUNTY ROAD 360

COUNTY R
OAD 1

98

V
IR

G
IN

IA
 A

V
E

C
A

LH
O

U
N

 S
T

T
IL

E
 FA

C
T

O
R

Y
 R

D

FAWN DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
3

0
2

W
E

S
L

E
Y

 D
R

N
IX

O
N

 S
T

C
H

IS
M

 D
R

MOODY

EILENSTEIN ST

L
E

L
IA

 S
T

MURCHISON ST

S
 V

A
R

IA
H

COUNTY ROAD 4251

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 6049

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 433

L
O

R
I L

N

B
O

W
IE

 S
T

O
LD

 E
LK

H
A

R
T

CO
UNTY

 R
O

AD 2
21

4

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
2

COUNTY ROAD 2235

C
A

R
R

O
L

L
 D

R

L
IS

A
 L

N

B
R

O
O

K
V

IE
W

 L
N

JOLLY ST

COUNTY ROAD 405

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
0

3
5

FAY WAY DR

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2140

COUNTY ROAD 358

JU
N

IP
E

R
 D

R

RICHLAND DR

COUNTY ROAD 2150

COUNTY ROAD 146

COUNTY ROAD 372

B
O

B
 W

H
IT

E
 S

T

W
A

LL
 S

T

O
H

IO
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
1

COUNTY ROAD 2311

COUNTY ROAD 9408

COUNTY ROAD 4259

LORETTA RD

COUNTY ROAD 1515

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

7

KICKAPOO ST

T
IM

B
E

R
L

IN
E

 T
R

L

B
R

O
N

C
O

C
A

D
D

O
 D

R

MOORE DR

CRAWFORD

W LACY ST

B
E

N
T

W
O

O
D

 D
R

S
H

A
M

R
O

C
K

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2139

C
H

A
N

C
E

L
L

O
R

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
3

7

N
A

N
N

IE
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
1

COUNTY ROAD 4252

BROOKHOLLOW DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
54

MEDICAL DR

N
 JO

H
N

 S
T

COUNTY ROAD 155

W MAIN ST

BULLARD DR

RIDER RANCH RD

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

7

CC SOUTH

COUNTY ROAD 4152

B
L

U
E

 L
A

K
E

 R
D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
3

0
2

COUNTY ROAD 141

SALT WORKS RD

COUNTY ROAD 349

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
1

0
5

COUNTY ROAD 400

COUNTY ROAD 2905

COUNTY R
OAD 143

L
A

K
E

V
IE

W
 A

V
E

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3391

M
IT

Z
IE

 L
N

FA
R

R
IS

 L
N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
5

YORKSHIR
E B

LVD

B
R

IS
T

O
L

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

32

COUNTY ROAD 2216

COUNTY ROAD 4250

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
4

STERNE

LERAM DR

M
IS

S
O

U
R

I S
T

L
IN

E
 S

T

N
A

V
A

JO

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3

COUNTY ROAD 4257

M L CARY ST

D
A

IS
Y

 L
N

MAVERICK DR

F
E

R
G

U
S

O
N

 R
D

S
E

M
IN

O
L

E
 S

T

UPPER LAKE RD

M
O

N
IC

A
 L

N

A
N

D
E

R
S

O
N

 D
R

COFFEE ST

W
ORD DR

TA
T

E
 S

T

BRIERWOOD

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
7 PIC

KENS D
R

M
A

R
IO

N
 S

T

B
U

T
T

E
R

M
IL

K
 D

R

GILLESPIE

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
48

W MAFFITT ST

T
Y

L
E

R
 S

T

L
O

N
G

H
O

R
N

 D
R

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

24

COUNTY ROAD 3732

TIP ST

GRANT ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
2

RAVINE DR

CLIFTON RD

TRINITY CT

D
E

E
 A

N
N

 S
T

C
E

D
A

R
V

A
L

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

4

PERRY TAP

COLUMBIA ST

W POINT TAP RD

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

90
6

T
O

N
Y

 S
T

A
S

H
 S

T

COUNTY ROAD 2910

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4271

COUNTY ROAD 330

COUNTY ROAD 2142

COUNTY ROAD 4274

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
20

8

W
O

O
D

W
A

Y
 D

R

SHADOW WOOD DR

WINDRIDGE RD

PINE ST

W GOOCH ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
0

COUNTY ROAD 4036

COUNTY ROAD 2104

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 369

COUNTY ROAD 4657

BUCKAROO

L
A

U
R

A
 S

T

O
A

K
L

A
N

D
 D

R

ALPINE ST

VISTA RDG

OAKHURST DR

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

70
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
6

9
4

FLORENCE ST

HARRISON

V
A

R
IA

H
 S

T

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

 B
LV

D
LY

N
C

H
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
5

WOODGATE DR

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

75

W
A

LT
O

N
 S

T

HOMESTEAD DR

S
T

O
N

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 1420

W
 R

EAG
AN S

T

COUNTY ROAD 3204

P
A

L
O

M
IN

O

W BRAZOS ST

BEN MILAM

FIELD RD

N JACKSON

COUNTY R
OAD 2202

COUNTY R
OAD 3

70

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
10

1

COUNTY ROAD 140

A
N

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 421

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
5

9

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY ROAD 378

TEJAS

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

2
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

14
4

COUNTY ROAD 427

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
3

0

N QUEEN ST

COUNTY ROAD 4302

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 403

COUNTY ROAD 151

N
 JA

C
K

SO
N

COUNTY ROAD 370

COUNTY ROAD 150

SALT WORKS RD

COUNTY ROAD 153

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
10

1

N
 Q

U
E

E
N

 S
T

W LACY ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY R
OAD 3

59

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
1

0
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

0

COUNTY ROAD 2140

R
A

N
G

E
 R

D

COUNTY ROAD 370

COUNTY ROAD 422

COUNTY ROAD 2212

GILLESPIE
C

O
U

N
TY

 R
O

A
D

 1
42

0

ARM
O

RY RD

To wn Cre
ek

Kee
ch

ie
Cre

ek

M
an

so
n

C
re

ek

B as
set Creek

W
el

ls Creek

W
illow

Slough

Chalybeate
C

reek

Mack Cree k

W
ells

Creek
N

orthw
est

Snake Creek

Fivemile Branch

Wolf Cree k

Stil ls Creek

S
ix

m

ile
Creek

Hurricane Creek

Frost Creek

Gum
Creek

Sm
ith

Branch

Sa
dd

le
r

C
re

ek

Cedar Creek

Crooked Creek

Sixm
i le

Branch

Mound Prairie Creek

Wells Creek Trib
ut

ar
y

So
ut

h

Tr
in

ity
River

Bas
se

t C
re

ek
Tr

ib
ut

ar
y

Trinity River

Smith Branch

Stills

Creek

Sm
ith

Branch

Sixmile
Creek

Wol f Creek

Hurricane Cree
k

Sa
dd

le
r

C
re

ek

Gum Creek

Basset C re
ek

Well
s Creek

G
um

 C
reek

Old Salt Works Lake

Lost Prairie Lake

Haverlah Lake

Circle R Lake Number 1

Calhoun Lake Number 1

Wolf Creek Lake

Circle R Lake Number 2 Crystal Lake

Created By Freese and Nichols, Inc.
Job No.:  PLT22291
Location: H:\W_WW_PLANNING\01_DELIVERABLES\11_DRAFT_REPORT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT.aprx\(Figure_2-2)-Population_Projections_by_CBG
Updated: Monday, February 19, 2024 6:45 AM
User Name: 02499

0 2,700 5,400

SCALE IN FEET

LEGEND

Census Block Group

Road

Stream

Lake

Parcel

City Limit

ETJ Boundary

DRAFT FIGURE 2-2

CITY OF PALESTINE
POPULATION PROJECTIONS
BY CENSUS BLOCK GROUPSCBG ID

2023 Population
2028 Population
2033 Population

Buildout Population

TOTAL POPULATION
Total 2023 Population: 19,076
Total 2028 Population: 19,558
Total 2033 Population: 20,051

Total Buildout Population: 22,155



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

3-1 

3.0 WATER DEMAND PROJECTIONS 

The City’s water distribution system was evaluated under several demand conditions to assess the 

performance of the system. Average day use is the total annual water use divided by the number of days 

in the year. The average day rate is used as a basis for estimating maximum day and peak hour demands. 

Maximum day use is the maximum quantity of water used over a 24-hour period and is used in the sizing 

of ground storage tanks and pump stations. Maximum day plus fire flow includes the addition of a 1,000 

gallons per minute (gpm) fire flow demand to the maximum day demand. Peak hour use is the peak rate 

at which water is required during any one hour of the year. Since minimum distribution pressures are 

usually experienced during peak hour, the sizes and locations of distribution facilities are generally 

determined based on this condition. These demands represent the range of conditions typically 

encountered in water distribution systems. 

3.1 Historical Water Demands 

Historical water production data provided by the City was used to develop the water demand projections 

by planning year. An overall average day per capita usage (gpcd) was utilized for this study based on the 

data received. This factor represents the amount of water that is used in a residence or commercial 

development per person on an annual average basis. 

The historical average day and maximum day demands were reviewed to determine appropriate design 

criteria for projecting water demands. Adequately selecting the water demand design criteria for the City 

is a critical step in the master planning process so that infrastructure can be sufficiently sized to meet 

existing and future customer water demands. 

Table 3-1 summarizes the historical water production, overall average day per capita usage, and maximum 

day to average day peaking factor. Historical overall per capita usage was determined using the average 

day water demand and dividing by the served population. The overall average day per capita usage varied 

from a low of 125 gpcd in 2020 to a peak of 143 gpcd in 2016 and 2017, with an overall average of 137 

gpcd. The maximum day demand ranged from 4.58 million gallons per day (MGD) in 2022 to 7.55 MGD in 

2020. The maximum day to average day peaking factor represents the ratio of the highest daily demand 

to the annual average day demand. The historical maximum day to average day peaking factor ranged from 

1.72 in 2022 to 3.26 in 2020, with an overall average of 2.36.  

  



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

3-2 

Table 3-1: Historical Water Production 

Year Population1 

Average Day 
Demand2 

(MGD) 

Overall Average 
Day Per Capita 

Usage 
(gpcd) 

Maximum Day 
Demand2 

(MGD) 

Maximum Day 
to Average Day 
Peaking Factor 

2015 18,024 2.55 142 6.06 2.37 

2016 18,084 2.59 143 4.84 1.87 

20173 18,056 2.58 143 5.02 1.95 

2018 17,877 2.48 139 5.84 2.35 

2019 17,713 2.45 138 4.61 1.88 

2020 18,544 2.31 125 7.55 3.26 

20214 18,756 2.37 127 6.71 2.82 

20225 18,944 2.65 140 4.58 1.72 

Average 137 -- 2.36 

Minimum 125 -- 1.72 

Maximum 143 -- 3.26 

1Source: U.S. Census Bureau 

2City staff provided daily water treatment plant data from 2015-2022. 

3Data available from January 2017 to September 2017. 

4Data available from September 2021 to December 2021. 

5Data available from January 2022 to March 2022 and May 2022 to July 2022.  

3.2 Projected Water Demands 

Projected water demands were estimated based on the projected population within the water service 

area and the recent historical trends shown in Table 3-1. The recommended water demand design criteria 

are shown in Table 3-2. Higher design criteria were selected to provide a somewhat conservative approach 

to estimating future water demands. Since no historical data was available for peak hour demands, an 

overall peak hour to maximum day peaking factor of 1.5 was utilized based on best practices and is 

consistent with other similar sized cities in the region. Based on the population projections and water 

demand design criteria, the projected city-wide 5-year, 10-year, and buildout water demands were 

calculated, as shown in Table 3-3. A detailed summary of the projected water demands by pressure plane 

is shown in Table 3-4. 

  



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

3-3 

Table 3-2: Water Demand Design Criteria 

Criteria Factor 

Overall Average Day Per Capita Usage (gpcd) 160 

Max Day to Average Day Peaking Factor 2.2 

Peak Hour to Max Day Peaking Factor 1.5 

Table 3-3: City-Wide Projected Water Demands 

Planning Year  Population 
Average Day Demand 

(MGD) 
Maximum Day Demand 

(MGD) 
Peak Hour Demand 

(MGD) 

2023 19,076 3.05 6.71 10.07 

2028 19,558 3.13 6.89 10.33 

2033 20,051 3.21 7.06 10.59 

Buildout 22,155 3.54 7.80 11.70 

Table 3-4: Projected Water Demands by Pressure Plane 

Pressure Plane Population 
Average Day Demand 

(MGD) 
Maximum Day Demand 

(MGD) 
Peak Hour Demand 

(MGD) 

Existing Water Demands (2023) 

Lower 2,372 0.38 0.84 1.26 

Central 15,414 2.47 5.43 8.15 

Upper 444 0.07 0.15 0.23 

South 846 0.14 0.31 0.47 

Total 19,076 3.06 6.73 10.11 

Short-Term Water Demands (2028) 

Lower 2,372 0.38 0.84 1.26 

Central 15,887 2.54 5.59 8.39 

Upper 444 0.07 0.15 0.23 

South 855 0.14 0.31 0.47 

Total 19,558 3.13 6.89 10.35 

Intermediate-Term Water Demands (2033) 

Lower 2,372 0.38 0.84 1.26 

Central 16,370 2.62 5.76 8.64 

Upper 444 0.07 0.15 0.23 

South 865 0.14 0.31 0.47 

Total 20,051 3.21 7.06 10.60 

Long-Term Water Demands (Buildout) 

Lower 2,501 0.40 0.88 1.32 

Central 17,396 2.78 6.12 9.18 

Upper 457 0.07 0.15 0.23 

South 1,801 0.29 0.64 0.96 

Total 22,155 3.54 7.79 11.69 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

4-1 

4.0 EXISTING WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM 

4.1 Existing Water System 

The City operates one WTP along the northeastern city limits with a treatment capacity of 9.0 MGD. The 

existing water distribution system includes four pressure planes, two elevated storage tanks (ESTs), six 

ground storage tanks (GSTs), and two pump stations. Tables 4-1 and 4-2 present a summary of the City’s 

existing ground storage and elevated storage facilities. Table 4-3 lists the City’s existing pumps grouped by 

facility. The existing water distribution system, including ESTs, GSTs, and pressure plane boundaries, is 

shown in Figure 4-1. The existing facilities in each of the four pressure planes are discussed in the following 

sections. 

4.1.1 Upper Pressure Plane 

The Upper Pressure Plane (UPP) generally includes the northwestern portion of the City and is supplied 

water through the Central Pressure Plane (CPP) via two pumps at the North Jackson Pump Station. The 

North Jackson Pumping Station has a firm pumping capacity of 250 gpm and is supplied by the two North 

Jackson GSTs, 0.50 MG million gallons (MG) and 0.75 MG, respectively. The pump station has two 250 gpm 

pumps. The firm pumping capacity for a pump station is the capacity with the largest pump out of service. 

The North Jackson EST (0.15 MG) has an overflow elevation of 766 feet. The North Jackson GSTs may be 

used as elevated storage for the CPP and LPP. Approximately 10% of the North Jackson GSTs capacity is 

needed for the UPP, while 90% is allocated to the CPP and LPP. 

4.1.2 South Pressure Plane 

The South Pressure Plane (SPP) generally includes the southern portion of the City. Water is delivered to 

the system through the CPP via three pumps at the South Sycamore Pump Station. The South Sycamore 

Pump Station has a firm pumping capacity of 1,200 gpm and is supplied by the two South Sycamore GSTs, 

1.00 MG and 0.50 MG, respectively. The pump station has three 600 gpm pumps. The Willow Creek EST 

(1.00 MG) has an overflow elevation of 725 feet. The South Sycamore GSTs may be used as elevated 

storage for the CPP and LPP. Approximately 15% of the South Sycamore GSTs capacity is needed for the 

SPP, while 85% is allocated to the CPP and LPP. 

  



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

4-2 

4.1.3 Central Pressure Plane 

The CPP is the largest pressure plane and generally includes the central portion of the City. Water is 

delivered to the system through the High Service Pump Station located at the WTP. The High Service Pump 

Station has a firm pumping capacity of 6,195 gpm and draws suction from the two 1.0 MG clearwells at 

the WTP. The pump station has one 2,550 gpm pump, one 3,645 gpm pump, and one 4,350 gpm pump, all 

of which are supplied by the GSTs. The GSTs at the South Sycamore Pump Station and North Jackson Pump 

Station act as elevated storage for the CPP, with an overflow elevation of 664 feet and 644 feet, 

respectively, as described in Section 4.1.1 and Section 4.1.2. 

4.1.4 Lower Pressure Plane 

The LPP generally includes the southwest portion of the City. The LPP does not have any existing GST, EST, 

or pump stations. Water to the LPP is supplied directly from the CPP through two pressure reducing valves 

(PRVs) due to the elevation difference between the two planes. 

Table 4-1: Existing Ground Storage Facilities 

Pressure Plane Facility Name 

Capacity 

(MG) 

Overflow Elevation 

(ft) 

Upper North Jackson GST #11 0.50 644 

Upper North Jackson GST #21 0.75 644 

South South Sycamore GST #12 1.00 664 

South South Sycamore GST #22 0.50 664 

Central/Lower Clearwell GST #1 1.00 -- 

Central/Lower Clearwell GST #2 1.00 -- 
1The North Jackson GSTs may serve the CPP/LPP as well as the UPP 

1The South Sycamore GSTs may serve the CPP/LPP as well as the SPP 

Table 4-2: Existing Elevated Storage Facilities 

Pressure Plane Facility Name 

Capacity 

(MG) 

Overflow Elevation 

(ft) 

Upper North Jackson EST 0.15 766 

South Willow Creek EST 1.00 725 

 

  



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

4-3 

Table 4-3: Existing Pumping Facilities 

Pressure Plane Facility Name Pump No. 

Capacity 

(gpm) 

Capacity 

(MGD) 

Upper North Jackson Pump Station 
1 250 0.36 

2 250 0.36 

Upper Firm Pumping Capacity 250 0.36 

Upper Total Pumping Capacity 500 0.72 

South South Sycamore Pump Station 

1 600 0.86 

2 600 0.86 

3 600 0.86 

South Firm Pumping Capacity 1,200 1.73 

South Total Pumping Capacity 1,800 2.59 

Central/Lower Water Treatment Plant 

1 2,550 3.67 

2 3,645 5.25 

3 4,350 6.26 

Central/Lower Firm Pumping Capacity 6,195 8.92 

Central/Lower Total Pumping Capacity 10,545 15.18 



!A

!A

UT

UTUT

UT(#
UT

(#
UT

[Ú

[Ú

3Q

1.00 MG Willow Creek
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 725'

South Sycamore Pump Station
(3) - 0.86 MGD Pumps

(1) - 1.00 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 664'

North Jackson Pump Station
(2) - 0.36 MGD Pumps

(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.75 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 644'

0.15 MG North Jackson
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 766'

Water Treatment Plant
Firm Capacity: 8.92 MGD

(1) - 3.67 MGD Pump
(1) - 5.25 MGD Pump
(1) - 6.26 MGD Pump

(2) - 1.00 MG Clearwell Ground Storage Tanks

12
"

14"

27
"

20"

18
"

16"

10"

14"

10"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

10
"

10"

12"

12"

10
"

10"
12"

10"

14
"

12"

10
"

10"

10
"

14"

12"

12"

10"

10"

12
"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"
12"

16"

12
"

10"

10
"

27
"

10"

10"

12
"

10"

12"

10
"

10"

12"

10"

12"

27
"

12"

10"

12"

10"

16"

12"

12
"

12"

10"

27"

10"

14
"

14"

10"

12"

16
"

10" 10"

18
"

12"

10"

16"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

12
"

16"

27"

20
"

12"

12"

12"

12"

14"

12
"

12"

12"

12"

10"

10"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"

16"

12"

10
"

10
"

12"

10"

12"

10"

12"

12"

12"

14"

12"

12"

10"

10"

10"

16"

12"

10"

12"

10"

O
L

D
 E

L
K

H
A

R
T

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

67

B
A

S
S

E
T

T

S
 JA

C
K

S
O

N

COUNTY ROAD 153

E LACY

S
 R

O
Y

A
L

L
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

COUNTY ROAD 2212

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

25

COUNTY ROAD 386

E BRAZOS ST

A
R

M
O

R
Y

 R
D

R
O

Y
A

L

E NECHES ST

COUNTY ROAD 422

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
20

6

W CAROLINA ST

LAMAR ST

OAK

COUNTY ROAD 2907

COUNTY R
OAD 4034

MOODY ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 151

N QUEEN ST

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 385

E ANGELINA ST

W LACY

S
Y

C
A

M
O

R
E

T
E

N
N

E
S

S
E

E
 A

V
E

M
A

Y
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2232

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4659

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 420

RANGE RD

W GREEN ST

COUNTY ROAD 419

S DO
RRANCE ST

INWOOD DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
5

6

C
E

D
A

R
 S

T

BENBRO
O

K DR

W KOLSTAD ST

COUNTY ROAD 2211

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 431

COUNTY ROAD 421

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

3

COUNTY ROAD 4665

LARRY ST

L
O

N
G

 L
N

COUNTY ROAD 147

COUNTY ROAD 152

PALM DR

COUNTY ROAD 150

D
R

E
X

E
L

 S
T

M
E

M
O

R
Y

C
O

T
TA

G
E

 A
V

E

S
 M

IC
H

E
A

U
X

 A
V

E

COUNTY ROAD 408

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 417

HILLTOP DR

W COOK ST

COUNTY ROAD 4253

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 404

T
E

X
A

S
 A

V
E

W CORONACA ST

T
E

X
A

S

COUNTY ROAD 2233

M
C

N
EI

L 
ST

L
IN

K
 S

T

GAY AVE

V
IR

G
IN

IA
 A

V
E

C
A

LH
O

U
N

 S
T

FAWN DR

W
E

S
L

E
Y

 D
R

N
IX

O
N

 S
T

E REAGAN ST

MOODY

EILENSTEIN ST

SANDY LN

L
E

L
IA

 S
T S

 V
A

R
IA

H

FIFTH ST

COUNTY ROAD 4251

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N
 D

R

W BURKITT ST

AV
EN

U
E 

B
 S

T

F
A

N
N

IN
 S

T

L
O

R
I L

N

O
LD ELKHART

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
2

COUNTY ROAD 2235

C
A

R
R

O
L

L
 D

R

L
IS

A
 L

N

TURNER DR

B
R

O
O

K
V

IE
W

 L
N

HOLMES ST

T
R

IM
B

L
E

 S
T

JOLLY ST

FAY WAY DR

SWIFT ST

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2140

JU
N

IP
E

R
 D

R

RICHLAND DR

COUNTY ROAD 2150

COUNTY ROAD 146

COUNTY ROAD 372

W SOUTH ST

W
A

LL
 S

T

O
H

IO
 S

T

B
O

Y
D

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
1

ANGLE ST

COUNTY ROAD 4259

LORETTA RD

COUNTY ROAD 1515

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

7

N
 F

O
R

T
 S

T

T
IM

B
E

R
L

IN
E

 T
R

L

B
R

O
N

C
O

SWANSON DR

C
A

D
D

O
 D

R

CRAWFORD

KENNY DR

B
E

N
T

W
O

O
D

 D
R

S
H

A
M

R
O

C
K

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2139

C
H

A
N

C
E

L
L

O
R

 S
T

HIGHLAND DR

N
A

N
N

IE
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
1

COUNTY ROAD 4252

RAGLAND ST

BROOKHOLLOW DR

SIERRA DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 6
04

9

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
54

SUG
AR L

N

N
 JO

H
N

 S
T

COUNTY ROAD 155

BULLARD DR

RIDER RANCH RD

BROOKLYN AVE

CC SOUTH

COUNTY ROAD 4152

C
C

 E

B
L

U
E

 L
A

K
E

 R
D

SALT WORKS RD

CLAY ST

L
A

K
E

V
IE

W
 A

V
E

STEPHANIE DR

CAPLIN

M
IT

Z
IE

 L
N

FA
R

R
IS

 L
N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
5

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 428

B
R

IS
T

O
L

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

32

L
U

D
O

L
P

H
 S

T

COUNTY ROAD 4250

H
A

M
ILT

O
N

 R
D

S
 M

A
G

N
O

L
IA

 S
T

M
IS

S
O

U
R

I S
T

LIN
E ST

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 433

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
25

4

N
A

V
A

JO

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3

COUNTY ROAD 4257

M L CARY ST

MEADOW BROOK DR

D
A

IS
Y

 L
N

MAVERICK DR

P
A

R
K

C
R

E
S

T
 D

R

S
E

M
IN

O
L

E
 S

T

W
O

O
D

R
ID

G
E

 S
T

UPPER LAKE R
D

M
O

N
IC

A
 L

N

A
N

D
E

R
S

O
N

 D
R

W
ORD DR

TA
T

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
7

PIC
KENS D

R

M
A

R
IO

N
 S

T

B
U

T
T

E
R

M
IL

K
 D

R

GILLESPIE

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
48LONGHORN DR

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

24

COUNTY ROAD 3732

P
E

C
A

N
 S

T

SH
ER

ID
A

N
 D

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
2

RAVINE DR

LINCOLN ST

COUNTY ROAD 9280

SEVENTH ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3
1

C
O

M
A

N
C

H
E

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

4

PERRY TAP

M
IL

L
E

R
 S

T

W POINT TAP RD

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 426

COUNTY ROAD 1400

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4271

COUNTY ROAD 2142

COUNTY ROAD 4274

R
E

D
L

A
N

D
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
8

W
O

O
D

W
A

Y
 D

R

WILLOWBROOK WAY

W GIRAUD ST

GILBERT ST

SHADOW WOOD DR

COUNTY ROAD 4033

CATALPA ST

L
IL

A
C

 L
N

H
A

W
 S

T

N
 V

A
R

IA
H

 S
T

W GOOCH ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
0

NORTH ST

L
A

K
E

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2104

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 369

COUNTY ROAD 4657

HAPPY OAKS RD

ALPINE ST

B
E

R
M

U
D

A
 LN

SUNSET RD

COUNTY ROAD 3723

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

70
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
6

9
4

S
E

L
D

O
N

 S
T

ALABAMA ST

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

 B
LV

D

A
C

A
D

E
M

Y

K
E

N
T

 A
V

E

LY
N

C
H

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
5

LOAN OAK DR

WOODGATE DR

COUNTY ROAD 3850

G
L

E
N

W
O

O
D

 D
R

E DAVIS ST

Q
U

A
L

 R
ID

G
E

 R
D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

5

MAPLE ST

W
A

LT
O

N
 S

T

T
H

R
E

L
L

 S
T

HOMESTEAD DR

S
T

O
N

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 1420

W
 R

EAGAN S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 380

P
A

L
O

M
IN

O

W BRAZOS ST

COUNTY ROAD 416

BELLVIEW DR

W NECHES ST

L
A

K
E

S
ID

E
 D

R

P
IN

E
R

ID
G

E
 S

T

E POPLAR ST

A
B

B
O

TT C
T

BEN MILAM

FIELD RD

OAKLAND ST

N JACKSON

COUNTY ROAD 2202

COUNTY ROAD 370

COUNTY ROAD 3204

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
10

1

RENNER

COUNTY ROAD 140

A
N

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 421

COUNTY ROAD 429

COUNTY ROAD 359

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY ROAD 378

TEJAS

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

2
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

14
4

COUNTY ROAD 427

V
E

N
T

U
R

E
 V

IE
W

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
3

0

S
 R

O
Y

A
L

L
 S

T

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY R
OAD 3

59

W
 P

O
IN

T
 TA

P
 R

D

N JACKSO
N

R
A

N
G

E
 R

D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 1

42
0

N
 Q

U
E

E
N

 S
T

COUNTY ROAD 2140

COUNTY ROAD 422

COUNTY ROAD 150

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
1

0
1

N QUEEN ST

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0

O
LD

 E
LK

H
A

R
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

0

E LACY

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5
2

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

10
1

COUNTY ROAD 151

COUNTY ROAD 2202

COUNTY ROAD 427

E REAGAN ST

COUNTY ROAD 370

6"

8"

2"

3"

4"

1"

6"

6"

2"

8"

6"

6"

8"
6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

1"

2"

2"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

4"

4"

6"

8"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

8"

2"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

2"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

1"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

8"

8"

6"

1"

1"

8"

8"

6"
6"

8"
6"

8"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

8"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

3"

6"

6"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

1"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"
2"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"
6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"
6"

6"
6"

8"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"
6"

6"

8"

2"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

Town Creek

Bas
set Creek

M
an

so
n

Cre
ek

Chalybeate
C

reek

Keec
hie

Cree
k

W
il

lo
w

Sl
ou

gh

W
el

ls
C

re
ek

Wol f Cree
k

Stills Creek

Wells Creek Northwest

Fivemile Bra nch

Gum
Creek

Snake Creek

Sixmile Creek

Sa
dd

le
r

C
re

ek

Wells
Cree

k Trib
ut

ar
y

So
ut

h

Mack
C

re
ek

Sad
dler

C
reek

G
um

C
reek

Basse
t Creek

Stills Creek

Gum Creek

Wolf Creek

Well
s Creek

Well

s Creek
N

orthw
est

Old Salt Works Lake

Circle R Lake Number 1

Calhoun Lake Number 1

Lower City Lake

Lake Mary

Wolf Creek Lake

Upper City Lake

Circle R Lake Number 2

Pat Morris Lake

Grover C Walker Lake

Swift Lake

Davey Lake

0 2,100 4,200

SCALE IN FEET

!I
Created By Freese and Nichols, Inc.
Job No.:  PLT22291
Location: H:\W_WW_PLANNING\01_DELIVERABLES\11_DRAFT_REPORT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT.aprx\(Figure_4-1)-Existing_Water_System
Updated: Friday, February 16, 2024 10:44 AM
User Name: 02499

LEGEND

!A Pressure Reducing Valve

UT Ground Storage Tank

(#
UT Elevated Storage Tank

[Ú Pump Station

3Q Water Treatment Plant

8" and Smaller Water Line

10" and Larger Water Line

Road

Stream

Lake

Parcel

City Limit

Pressure Plane

Lower

Upper

Central

South

DRAFT FIGURE 4-1

CITY OF PALESTINE
EXISTING WATER SYSTEM



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

4-5 

4.2 Model Build and Calibration 

4.2.1 Model Build 

FNI created a hydraulic model of the City of Palestine’s water distribution system utilizing the Autodesk® 

InfoWater Pro software package. InfoWater Pro is a software package that models a water distribution 

system utilizing a GIS type interface and the industry standard EPANET hydraulic calculation engine. The 

hydraulic water model was used to simulate the operation of the piping system, elevated tanks, and 

pumping facilities in the City’s water distribution system. 

The City provided a GIS geodatabase that contained all water mains, pumps, valves, and tanks in the 

distribution system. FNI utilized this geodatabase to build the hydraulic model which provided the most 

up-to-date representation of the water distribution system. The model includes 1,133 pipes sized 8-inch 

and larger, however some 6-inch lines were included for connectivity. The Hazen-Williams equation was 

used to determine the friction losses in the distribution pipelines. Hazen-Williams roughness coefficients 

were initially assigned to the new lines based on pipe age and material where information was available. 

Some of the roughness coefficients were adjusted during model calibration based on model results. 

4.2.2 Pressure Testing and Calibration 

Field pressure monitoring was conducted from July 6, 2022, to July 20, 2022, to gather data on pressures 

throughout the system. System pressure was monitored at eight locations in the CPP, two in the LPP, one 

in the SPP, and one in the UPP. The locations of the pressure testing sites and graphs of each of the 

individual pressure recorder readings are shown in Appendix A. 

In order to verify that the hydraulic model accurately represents actual distribution system operation, an 

extended period model calibration was performed. The calibration process involves adjusting system 

operation, C-values, demand allocation, and peaking factors to match a known condition. Historical billing 

meter data was used to allocate demand throughout the distribution system. A close correlation between 

hydraulic model results, Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) values, and field recorded 

pressures is key to establishing confidence in the model’s ability to imitate real-world conditions. A close 

correlation provides more accurate system analysis results, which inform the proposed system 

improvements.  

The 24-hour period occurring from 12:00 a.m. on July 19 to 12:00 a.m. on July 20 was selected for 

calibration. This day was chosen because demands were relatively high, typical operations were observed, 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

4-6 

and no monitoring outages occurred. Pressure recorder #10 observed pressures as low as 15 pounds per 

square inch (psi) with an average of 20 psi, which is below the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 

(TCEQ) minimum pressure requirement of 35 psi. Low pressure in this area was verified with City staff. The 

City provided level SCADA data for the ESTs and one of the South Sycamore GSTs, as well as flows from the 

High Service Pump Station, in one-hour intervals for the pressure testing period. This was utilized to 

calculate an overall diurnal curve by examining water going into (supply) and out of (demand) the 

distribution system. Normalized diurnal factors for the 24-hour period within the system range from 0.5 

to 1.5 and average to 1.00, as shown in Figure 4-2. The calculated total system demand for July 19 was 

6.72 MGD with a peak of 10.18 MGD and a minimum demand of 3.39 MGD. 

The majority of the model calibration results are within 5-10 psi of the observed pressures, indicating a 

close correlation between the model and real-world conditions. In addition to matching the field recorded 

pressures, FNI compared the elevated storage tank levels to the hydraulic model results. For the elevated 

storage tank levels, model results stayed primarily within 5 feet of the field recorded levels, and more 

importantly followed the overall pattern of field recorded levels. Appendix B contains calibration charts 

showing modeled versus SCADA recorded values for tank levels and field recorded pressures. 

  



0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

1.40

1.60

0.00 4.00 8.00 12.00 16.00 20.00 24.00

M
u

lt
ip

li
e

r

Time (Hours)

DRAFT Figure 4-2

City of Palestine

Diurnal Pattern

July 19, 2022

Diurnal Curve



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

4-8 

4.3 Existing Water System Analysis 

To adequately plan for future demands, it is important to know how the system performs under existing 

conditions. The primary parameters analyzed by FNI for the existing system were minimum pressures 

under peak hour demands, maximum headloss and velocity under peak hour demands, available fire flow 

under maximum day demands, and TCEQ pumping and storage requirements. 

4.3.1 Existing System Facility Evaluation 

The City is required to meet the TCEQ minimum elevated storage capacity requirement of 100 gallons per 

connection and the total storage (elevated and ground) requirement of 200 gallons per connection. The 

TCEQ requirements for pumping capacity are summarized in Table 4-4. The amount of elevated storage 

affects the minimum required TCEQ pumping capacity. An elevated storage capacity equal to or greater 

than 200 gallons per connection decreases the amount of required pumping to 0.6 gpm per connection. 

The City is also required to meet the TCEQ minimum water production capacity requirement of 0.6 gpm 

per connection. 

Table 4-4: TCEQ Pumping Requirements 

Condition Pumping Capacity Requirement1 

1. If providing at least 200 

gallons per connection 

of elevated storage 

Two service pumps with a minimum combined capacity of 0.6 gpm 

per connection at each pressure plane. 

2. If providing less than 200 

gallons per connection 

of elevated storage 

The lesser of (a) or (b): 

(a) Total pumping capacity of 2.0 gpm per connection 

(b) Total capacity of at least 1,000 gpm and the ability to meet peak 

hourly demands2 with the largest pump out of service 
1Capacity requirement from TAC §290.45(b)(2)(F) 
2In the absence of verified historical data, peak hourly demand means 1.25 times the maximum daily 

demand (prorated to an hourly rate) if a public water supply meets the commission’s minimum 

requirements for elevated storage capacity. 

Table 4-5 summarizes the existing water distribution system connections. The number of connections in 

each pressure plane is assumed based on 2.0 people per connection (as determined in Section 2.2). 

  



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

4-9 

Table 4-5: Existing Connections by Pressure Plane 

Pressure Plane Existing Connections 

Upper 222 

South 422 

Central 7,696 

Lower 1,185 

Total 9,525 

A comparison of the City’s existing total storage, elevated storage, pumping capacity, and water production 

by pressure plane to TCEQ requirements is shown in Tables 4-6 through 4-10.  

Table 4-6: TCEQ Total Storage Capacity – Existing System 

 

Pressure Plane 

Served 

Connections 

Existing Total 

Storage 

(MG) 

TCEQ Requirement 

200 gal/conn 

(MG) 

Meets TCEQ Total 

Storage 

Requirement? 

Upper 222 0.28 0.04 Yes 

South 422 1.23 0.08 Yes 

Central/Lower1 8,881 4.40 1.78 Yes 
1 The LPP is directly served off of the CPP and shares total storage. 85% of the South Sycamore GST and 90% 

of the North Jackson GST capacities are utilized by CPP/LPP as effective elevated storage. 

Table 4-7: TCEQ Elevated Storage Capacity – Existing System 

 

 

Pressure Plane 

Served 

Connections 

Existing 

Elevated 

Storage 

(MG) 

TCEQ 

Requirement 

100 gal/conn 

(MG) 

TCEQ 

Alternative 

200 

gal/conn 

(MG) 

Meets TCEQ 

Elevated 

Storage 

Requirement 

for 100 

gal/conn? 

Meets TCEQ 

Alternative 

for 200 

gal/conn? 

Upper 222 0.15 0.02 0.04 Yes Yes 

South 422 1.00 0.04 0.08 Yes Yes 

Central/Lower1 8,881 2.40 0.89 1.78 Yes Yes 
1 The LPP is directly served off of the CPP and shares total storage. 85% of the South Sycamore GST and 90% of 

the North Jackson GST capacities are utilized by CPP/LPP as effective elevated storage. 

Each pressure plane in the City has sufficient total and elevated storage capacity based on TCEQ minimum 

storage requirements. Additionally, all pressure planes meet the 200 gallons/connection alternative of 

elevated storage. Therefore, the City’s required pumping capacity is impacted as described in Table 4-4. 

The pressure planes are governed by Condition 1 and meet this regulatory requirement. Table 4-8 

summarizes the pumping capacity requirements by pressure plane for Condition 1. Table 4-9 illustrates 

that the City has 0.6 gpm per connection of supply capacity as required by TCEQ. 

 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

4-10 

Table 4-8: TCEQ Pumping Capacity - Existing System (Condition 1) 

 

 

 

Pressure Plane 

Served 

Connections 

Existing 

Firm 

Pumping 

Capacity 

(MGD) 

Existing 

Total 

Pumping 

Capacity 

(MGD) 

TCEQ 

Requirement 

Condition 1 

0.6 

gpm/conn 

(MGD) 

Meets TCEQ 

Pumping 

Capacity 

Requirement? 

Upper 222 0.36 0.72 0.19 Yes 

South 422 1.73 2.59 0.37 Yes 

Central/Lower1 9,525 8.92 15.18 8.23 Yes 
1 The CPP/LPP includes city-wide connections. 

Table 4-9: TCEQ Water Supply Capacity – Existing System 

City-Wide Served 
Connections 

Existing Water Supply 
Capacity 
(MGD) 

TCEQ Requirement 0.6 
gpm/conn 

(MGD) 

Meets TCEQ Supply 
Requirement of 0.6 
gpm/connection? 

9,525 9.00 8.23 Yes 

4.3.2 Hydraulic Analysis 

The water distribution system was analyzed for three operating conditions: maximum day demands, peak 

hour demands, and maximum day demand with fire flow. By examining the water system under these 

various operating conditions, it is possible to determine where there are pressures issues, whether tanks 

are filling and draining properly, and whether the pumping facilities are adequate to meet the demands at 

acceptable pressures. FNI developed design criteria to inform the need, timing, and size of capital 

improvement projects. These criteria are thresholds for triggering improvements and were evaluated 

under existing conditions. 

Water transmission lines shall be sized to maintain a minimum of 35 psi throughout the system during 

peak hour demand conditions. Transmission lines (12-inch and greater lines) shall be sized for a maximum 

pipeline velocity of 5 feet per second (fps) and a maximum friction loss of 5 feet per 1,000 feet of pipeline 

length. Distribution lines (10-inch and smaller lines) shall be sized for a maximum pipeline velocity of 7 fps 

and a maximum friction loss of 7 feet per 1,000 feet of pipeline length.  

Color-coded pressure maps were prepared to illustrate the residual pressure calculated at model junctions, 

included in Appendix C. These maps help to identify potential problem areas in the system and were used 

as a tool to confirm that reasonable pressure ranges were maintained throughout the system. Minimum 

pressures shown on the maps represent the lowest value of the pressures experienced during the 24-hour 

simulation, usually occurring during the peak hour demands. During peak hour events, the distribution 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

4-11 

system experiences the highest demands, and as a result, the pressure drops. Minimum pressures 

modeled below the TCEQ requirement were primarily located along pressure plane boundaries. 

Specifically, areas near the North Jackson Pump Station and the South Sycamore Pump Station experience 

low pressures due to relatively high elevations. 

In addition to documenting minimum pressures, FNI evaluated the pipeline velocity and headloss under 

peak hour conditions. Mapping was created to highlight the areas that exceed the maximum velocity and 

headloss criteria and can be found in Appendix C. Maximum velocities and headlosses shown on the map 

represent the highest value experienced during the 24-hour simulation, usually occurring during peak hour 

demands.  A few distribution system water lines, located along East Newman Street, West Kolstad Street, 

and West Oak Street exceed the velocity criteria. Several distribution system water lines, located along 

Gardner Drive, North Loop 256, West Palestine Avenue, North Church Street, East Newman Street, West 

Kolstad Street, and West Oak Street, exceed the headloss criteria.  

4.3.3 Fire Flow Analysis  

TCEQ requires a minimum residual pressure of 20 psi to be maintained while delivering a fire flow demand 

(Texas Administrative Code (TAC) §290.45(a)(2)). Having both available fire flow and sufficient water 

pressure is important because it enables firefighters to respond to an emergency in one area without 

negatively impacting other areas of the system. The recommended minimum conditions for fire flow are 

1,000 gpm of available flow at each hydrant while maintaining a pressure of 20 psi at the fire hydrant. For 

this analysis, a steady-state model run was utilized to calculate the available fire flow under maximum day 

demand conditions at each fire hydrant node in the system while maintaining a minimum pressure of 20 

psi at all nodes in the system and a maximum velocity of 11 fps through all pipes in the system. The areas 

with insufficient available fire flow include along West Hamlett Street, South Jackson Street, West Reagan 

Street, West Point Tap Road, Chestnut Drive, near the North Jackson Pump Station, and near the South 

Sycamore Pump Station. The low available fire flow in these areas is due to insufficient water line sizes, 

dead end mains, and high elevations. A fire flow map showing the available fire flow throughout the 

existing distribution system is presented in Appendix C.



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

5-1 

5.0 FUTURE WATER SYSTEM ANALYSIS 

5.1 Future System Facility Evaluation 

As detailed in Section 4.3.1, the City is required to meet the TCEQ minimum requirements for elevated 

storage, total storage, pumping, and water supply capacities as growth occurs throughout the system. As 

indicated in Section 4.3.1, the amount of elevated storage affects the minimum required TCEQ pumping 

capacity. An elevated storage capacity equal to or greater than 200 gallons per connection decreases the 

amount of required pumping to 0.6 gpm per connection.  

 In addition to the required TCEQ criteria, FNI evaluated the water system’s pumping and storage capacities 

against criteria developed by FNI to promote a high level of service for operational needs. These criteria 

take into consideration many additional factors including operational flexibility, fire protection, emergency 

reserve, and energy efficiency. The TCEQ does not have specific requirements for ground storage, so FNI 

recommends that six hours of maximum day demand be supplied by GSTs to operate the City’s water 

system. This allows the City to accommodate short disruptions in supply and allows pump stations to 

continue operating. Additionally, maintaining pumping capacity greater than or equal to the maximum day 

demand ensures adequate capacity to meet customer demands during the highest daily demand 

conditions while peak hourly demands throughout the day are met through elevated storage. For this 

study, FNI recommends that the pumping capacity meets 125% of maximum day demands. Lastly, elevated 

storage should consist of emergency storage plus equalization storage to meet peak hourly demands. FNI 

suggests that 40% of peak hour demands for four hours should be supplied by elevated storage capacity. 

Table 5-1 summarizes the projected water distribution system connections. The number of connections in 

each pressure plane is assumed based on 2.0 people per connection and the projected population (as 

summarized in Section 2.2). 

Table 5-1: Projected Connections by Pressure Plane 

Pressure Plane 

Existing 

Connections 

5-Year 

Connections 

10-Year 

Connections 

Buildout 

Connections 

Upper 222 222 222 229 

South 422 426 431 899 

Central 7,696 7,932 8,173 8,686 

Lower 1,185 1,185 1,185 1,249 

Total 9,525 9,765 10,011 11,063 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

5-2 

Figures 5-1 through 5-13 show the TCEQ required versus proposed ground storage capacity, elevated 

storage capacity, total storage capacity, and pumping capacity for future planning periods in each pressure 

plane. The vertical bars represent the projected water demand/criteria for the planning period, and the 

capacity of the system over time is shown by the red line. Capacity will change with the expansion, 

addition, or decommissioning of facilities to meet the projected needs. 

  



0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04

0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05

0.00

0.02

0.04

0.06

0.08

0.10

0.12

0.14

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

G
ro

u
n

d
 S

to
ra

ge
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

(M
G

)

Year

6 Hour Max Day Demand 8 Hour Max Day Demand Existing Ground Storage

North Jackson GST #1 (0.5 MG Total)1: 0.05 MG 
North Jackson GST #2 (0.75 MG Total)1: 0.075 MG 

Existing Total: 0.125 MG

DRAFT Figure 5-1
Upper Pressure Plane

Ground Storage Capacity Evaluation

¹Existing GST capacity of 0.5 MG and 0.75 MG is shared with the CPP/LPP. Assumes 10% of capacity is utilized by the UPP.



0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02
0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01

0.04 0.04 0.04
0.05

0.00

0.02

0.04

0.06

0.08

0.10

0.12

0.14

0.16

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

El
ev

at
e

d
 S

to
ra

ge
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

(M
G

)

Year
TCEQ Requirement 100 gal/conn 40% of Peak Hour Demands for 4 hours

Alternative TCEQ Requirement 200 gal/conn Elevated Storage Capacity

North Jackson EST: 0.15 MG
Existing Total: 0.15 MG

DRAFT Figure 5-2
Upper Pressure Plane

Elevated Storage Capacity Evaluation



0.04 0.04 0.04
0.05

0.00

0.05

0.10

0.15

0.20

0.25

0.30

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

To
ta

l S
to

ra
ge

 C
ap

ac
it

y 
(M

G
)

Year

TCEQ Requirement 200 gal/conn Existing Ground Storage

North Jackson EST: 0.15 MG
North Jackson GST #1 (0.5 MG Total)1: 0.05 MG 

North Jackson GST #2 (0.75 MG Total)1: 0.075 MG 
Existing Total: 0.275 MG

DRAFT Figure 5-3
Upper Pressure Plane

Total Storage Capacity Evaluation

¹Existing GST capacity of 0.5 MG and 0.75 MG is shared with the CPP/LPP. Assumes 10% of capacity is utilized by the UPP.



0.19 0.19 0.19 0.20
0.19 0.19 0.19 0.19

0.00

0.05

0.10

0.15

0.20

0.25

0.30

0.35

0.40

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

P
u

m
p

in
g 

C
ap

ac
it

y 
(M

G
D

)

Year

TCEQ Requirement 0.6 gpm/conn 125% Max Day Demand Existing Firm Pumping Capacity

North Jackson PS (Firm): 0.36 MGD
Existing Total: 0.36 MGD

DRAFT Figure 5-4
Upper Pressure Plane

Pumping Capacity Evaluation



0.08 0.08 0.08

0.16

0.10 0.10 0.10

0.21

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

G
ro

u
n

d
 S

to
ra

ge
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

(M
G

)

Year

6 Hour Max Day Demand 8 Hour Max Day Demand Existing Ground Storage

DRAFT Figure 5-5
South Pressure Plane

Ground Storage Capacity Evaluation

¹Existing GST capacity of 1.0 MG and 0.5 MG is shared with the CPP/LPP. Assumes 15% of capacity is utilized by the SPP.

South Sycamore GST #1 (1.0 MG Total)1: 0.150 MG 
South Sycamore GST #2 (0.50 MG Total)1: 0.075 MG 

Existing Total: 0.225 MG



0.04 0.04 0.04 0.090.03 0.03 0.03
0.060.08 0.09 0.09

0.18

0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

El
e

va
te

d
 S

to
ra

ge
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

(M
G

)

Year
TCEQ Requirement 100 gal/conn 40% Peak Hour Demand for 4 hours

Alternative TCEQ Requirement 200 gal/conn Elevated Storage Capacity

Willow Creek EST: 1.00 MG
Existing Total: 1.00 MG

DRAFT Figure 5-6
South Pressure Plane

Elevated Storage Capacity Evaluation



0.08 0.09 0.09
0.18

0.0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

To
ta

l S
to

ra
ge

 C
ap

ac
it

y 
(M

G
)

Year

TCEQ Requirement 200 gal/conn Existing Ground Storage

Willow Creek EST: 1.00 MG
South Sycamore GST #1 (1.0 MG Total)1: 0.150 MG 

South Sycamore GST #2 (0.50 MG Total)1: 0.075 MG 
Existing Total: 1.225 MG

DRAFT Figure 5-7
South Pressure Plane

Total Storage Capacity Evaluation

¹Existing GST capacity of 1.0 MG and 0.5 MG is shared with the CPP/LPP. Assumes 15% of capacity is utilized by the SPP.



0.36 0.37 0.37

0.78

0.39 0.39 0.39

0.80

0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

1.40

1.60

1.80

2.00

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

P
u

m
p

in
g 

C
ap

ac
it

y 
(M

G
D

)

Year

TCEQ Requirement 0.6 gpm/conn 125% of Max Day Demand Existing Firm Pumping Capacity

South Sycamore PS (Firm): 1.73 MGD
Existing Total: 1.73 MGD

DRAFT Figure 5-8
South Pressure Plane

Pumping Capacity Evaluation



1.68 1.72 1.77
1.95

2.24 2.30 2.35
2.60

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

G
ro

u
n

d
 S

to
ra

ge
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

(M
G

)

Year

6 Hours of Max Day Demand 8 Hours of Max Day Demand Ground Storage Capacity

Clearwell GST #1: 1.00 MG
Clearwell GST #2: 1.00 MG

Existing Total: 2.00 MG

DRAFT Figure 5-9
Central Pressure Plane

Ground Storage Capacity Evaluation
(Supplies CPP and LPP)

Clearwell GST #1: 1.00 MG
Clearwell GST #2: 1.00 MG
Clearwell GST #3: 1.00 MG

Buildout Total: 3.00 MG



0.89 0.91 0.94 0.99

0.63 0.64 0.66 0.70

1.78 1.82 1.87
1.99

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

El
ev

at
e

d
 S

to
ra

ge
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

(M
G

)

Year
TCEQ Requirement 100 gal/conn 40% of Peak Hour Demand for 4 hours
Alternative TCEQ Requirement 200 gal/conn Elevated Storage Capacity

DRAFT Figure 5-10
Central Pressure Plane

Elevated Storage Capacity Evaluation
(Supplies CPP and LPP)

¹Existing GST capacity of 0.5 MG and 0.75 MG is shared with the CPP/LPP. Assumes 90% of capacity is utilized by the CPP/LPP as elevated storage.
2Existing GST capacity of 1.0 MG and 0.5 MG is shared with the CPP/LPP. Assumes 85% of capacity is utilized by the CPP/LPP as elevated storage.

North Jackson GST #1 (0.5 MG Total)1: 0.450 MG
North Jackson GST #2 (0.75 MG Total)1: 0.675 MG 

South Sycamore GST #1 (1.0 MG Total)2: 0.850 MG 
South Sycamore GST #2 (0.50 MG Total)2: 0.425 MG 

Existing Total: 2.400 MG



1.78 1.82 1.87 1.99

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

To
ta

l S
to

ra
ge

 C
ap

ac
it

y 
(M

G
)

Year

TCEQ Requirement 200 gal/conn* Total Storage Capacity

DRAFT Figure 5-11
Central Pressure Plane

Total Storage Capacity Evaluation
(Supplies CPP and LPP)

*Includes city-wide projections

North Jackson GST #1 (0.5 MG Total)1: 0.450 MG
North Jackson GST #2 (0.75 MG Total)1: 0.675 MG 

South Sycamore GST #1 (1.0 MG Total)2: 0.850 MG
South Sycamore GST #2 (0.50 MG Total)2: 0.425 MG    

Clearwell GST #1: 1.000 MG
Clearwell GST #2: 1.000 MG
Clearwell GST #3: 1.000 MG

Buildout Total: 5.100 MG

North Jackson GST #1 (0.5 MG Total)1: 0.450 MG
North Jackson GST #2 (0.75 MG Total)1: 0.675 MG 

South Sycamore GST #1 (1.0 MG Total)2: 0.850 MG
South Sycamore GST #2 (0.50 MG Total)2: 0.425 MG    

Clearwell GST #1: 1.000 MG
Clearwell GST #2: 1.000 MG

Existing Total: 4.400 MG

¹Existing GST capacity of 0.5 MG and 0.75 MG is shared with the CPP/LPP. Assumes 90% of capacity is utilized by the CPP/LPP as elevated storage.
2Existing GST capacity of 1.0 MG and 0.5 MG is shared with the CPP/LPP. Assumes 85% of capacity is utilized by the CPP/LPP as elevated storage.



8.23 8.44 8.65
9.56

8.41 8.61 8.83
9.74

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

P
u

m
p

in
g 

C
ap

ac
it

y 
(M

G
D

)

Year

TCEQ Requirement 0.6 gpm/conn* 125% Max Day Demand* Existing Firm Pumping Capacity

WTP PS (Firm): 8.92 MGD
Existing Total: 8.92 MGD

DRAFT Figure 5-12
Central Pressure Plane

Pumping Capacity Evaluation
(WTP Serves CPP, UPP, LPP, and SPP)

*Includes city-wide projections

WTP PS (Firm): 8.92 MGD
WTP PS Expansion: 1.08 MGD

Buildout Total: 10.00 MGD



8.23 8.44 8.65

9.56

6.73 6.89 7.06
7.797.74 7.92 8.12

8.96

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

Existing (2023) 2028 2033 Buildout

W
at

e
r 

Tr
e

at
m

e
n

t 
C

ap
ac

it
y 

(M
G

D
)

Year

TCEQ Requirement 0.6 gpm/conn Max Day Demand 115% of Max Day Demand WTP Treatment Capacity

9.00 MGD WTP Capacity
Existing Total: 9.00 MGD

DRAFT Figure 5-13
Water Treatment Plant

Treatment Capacity Evaluation



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

5-16 

5.1.1 Upper Pressure Plane Evaluation 

The UPP includes two GSTs and one EST which are supplied by the North Jackson Pump Station. Notably, 

the North Jackson GSTs may be used as effective elevated storage for the CPP/LPP. For this reason, 

approximately 10% (0.125 MG) of the GST capacities are needed in the UPP as ground storage, while the 

remaining capacity is allocated to the CPP/LPP as elevated storage. The UPP has the capacity to meet the 

total, elevated storage, and pumping capacity requirements for all planning years. Figures 5-1 through 5-

4 show the UPP ground storage, elevated storage, total storage, and pumping capacity evaluations.  

5.1.2 South Pressure Plane Evaluation 

The SPP includes two GSTs and one EST which are supplied by the South Sycamore Pump Station. Notably, 

the South Sycamore GSTs may be used as effective elevated storage for the CPP/LPP. For this reason, 

approximately 15% (0.225 MG) of the GST capacities are needed in the SPP as ground storage, while the 

remaining capacity is allocated to the CPP/LPP as elevated storage. The SPP has the capacity to meet the 

ground storage, elevated storage, and pumping capacity requirements for all planning years. Figures 5-5 

through 5-8 show the SPP ground storage, elevated storage, total storage, and pumping capacity 

evaluations. 

5.1.3 Central/Lower Pressure Plane Evaluation 

The CPP includes two GSTs which are supplied from the WTP north of the CPP. Water to the LPP is supplied 

directly from the CPP through two PRVs, so the storage requirements include connections from both 

pressure planes. As previously stated, the North Jackson and South Sycamore GSTs may be used as 

effective elevated storage for the CPP; therefore, 90% (1.125 MG) of the North Jackson GST capacities and 

85% (1.275 MG) of the South Sycamore GST capacities are allocated to the CPP as elevated storage. The 

CPP supplies water to all pressure planes throughout the system and will require additional pumping 

capacity to meet TCEQ requirements. FNI recommends adding an additional 1.0 MG GST at the WTP before 

buildout conditions are experienced to allow for a more resilient and robust water supply to WTP High 

Service Pump Station. To meet pumping capacity requirements, FNI recommends expanding the WTP High 

Service Pump Station by replacing the existing 3.67 MGD pump with a 4.75 MGD pump, to obtain a firm 

capacity of 10.0 MGD. Figures 5-9 through 5-12 show the CPP ground storage, elevated storage, total 

storage, and pumping capacity evaluations. 

  



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

5-17 

5.1.4 Water Treatment Plant Capacity Evaluation 

FNI evaluated the City’s WTP capacity to meet future demands. Figure 5-13 illustrates the required 

treatment plant capacity through the buildout planning period. The projected capacity is based on meeting 

115% of maximum day demands and 0.6 gpm per connection. The current WTP has the pumping capacity 

to meet requirements until buildout. FNI recommends that the City apply for an Alternative Capacity 

Requirement (ACR) when buildout conditions are met, as the projected maximum day demand is lower 

than the TCEQ requirement. 

5.2 Future Water System Analysis 

The future water distribution system was analyzed utilizing the same criteria summarized in Sections 4.3.2 

and 4.3.3. The analyses were performed on the future water distribution system, with the proposed water 

system improvements in service. Various combinations of improvements and modifications were 

investigated to determine the most appropriate approach for meeting projected demands. Parameters 

used in developing the CIP included increasing system reliability, simplifying system operations, meeting 

fire flow requirements, and maintaining adequate pressures. FNI analyzed the future system to determine 

what improvements are needed to adequately serve future growth. 

 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

6-1 

6.0 WATER SYSTEM CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

The goal of the CIP is to address existing deficiencies and provide capacity for future demands in the water 

distribution system. Upon completion of the water model analyses representing existing and future 

demand conditions, capital improvement projects were analyzed and phased into the period in which they 

become hydraulically necessary based on the model results. FNI developed recommended water 

distribution system improvements for existing deficiencies and future growth-based deficiencies to 

increase capacity and improve connectivity in the existing system where needed. Where existing facilities 

need to be upgraded, the recommended improvements are sized to convey projected buildout demands 

under peak hour conditions. Figure 6-1 illustrates the proposed CIP projects. The projects are colored 

based on their primary driver: existing or future deficiency. 

Locations shown for water mains and other recommended improvements were generalized for hydraulic 

analyses. Specific alignments and sites will be determined as part of the design process. It is recommended 

that these projects be constructed generally in the order listed; however, changes in development patterns 

may make it necessary to construct some projects sooner than anticipated. 

Additionally, a planning level opinion of probable construction cost (OPCC) was developed for each project 

in 2024 dollars from recent bid tabs. The cost estimates include material and construction costs, 

engineering design fees, and general contingency. Additional expenses related to environmental, 

geotechnical, change order contingency, operations and maintenance, and soft costs are not included. 

These costs also do not include escalation or inflation. Table 6-1 provides a cost summary for each project 

and corresponds with the numbered projects in Figure 6-1. Appendix D contains detailed OPCC sheets for 

each CIP project. 

  



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

6-2 

Table 6-1: Water CIP Cost Summary 

Project Number Project Name Cost 

Existing Condition Improvements 

1 16-inch Downtown Water Line Replacement  $        5,880,000  

2 
Martin Luther King Jr Boulevard 16-inch Water Line 
Replacement and Variah Street 12-inch Extension  $        3,893,800  

3 
W Oak Street 12-inch Water Line Replacement and 10-inch 7th 

Street Water Line Extension  $        3,544,400  

4 
Central and Lower Pressure Plane 12-inch Water Line 

Replacement   $        2,839,200  

5 Loop 256 20-inch Water Line Replacement  $        2,090,400  

6 Loop 256 16-inch Water Line Replacement  $        4,305,600  

7 S Sycamore Street 16-inch Water Line Replacement  $        2,995,200  

Existing Total $      25,548,600 

Future Growth Improvements  

8 Water Treatment Plant High Service Pump Station Expansion  $      12,402,000  

9 State HW 155 12-inch Water Line Replacement and Extension  $        2,414,900  

10 E Palestine Avenue 12-inch Water Line Replacement  $        1,856,400  

11 Crockett Road 12/16-inch Water Line Replacement   $        3,026,400  

12 12-inch South Loop Water Line  $      15,802,800  

Future Total  $      35,502,500  

Water CIP Total  $      61,051,100  

  



1.00 MG Willow Creek
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 725'

South Sycamore Pump Station
(3) - 0.86 MGD Pumps

(1) - 1.00 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 664'

North Jackson Pump Station
(2) - 0.36 MGD Pumps

(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.75 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 644'

0.15 MG North Jackson
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 766'

6
6

5
9

10

11

12

12

12

12

1

2

1

3

4

7

Water Treatment Plant
Firm Capacity: 8.92 MGD

(1) - 3.67 MGD Pump
(1) - 5.25 MGD Pump
(1) - 6.26 MGD Pump

(2) - 1.00 MG Clearwell Ground Storage Tanks
New 1.00 MGD Clearwell

Expand Firm Capacity to 10.00 MGD

8

8"

16"

16"

12"

20"

10"

16"

20"

12
"

16"

12"

12"

16"
16"

16"

16"

12"
12"

12
"

16"

16"
16"

16"

12
"

12
"

16"

12"

16"

12"

16"

12
"

12"

12"

12"

12
"

12"

12
"

12"

12"

12"
12"

12
"

12"

12"

12"

12
"

12"

12
"

14"

27
"

20"

18
"

16"

10"

16"

12
"

16
"

10"
16"

10"

10"

10"

10"

10
"

10"

10"

10"

12"

12"

10"

10"

12"

18"

10"

16"

12"

10"

12
"

10"

16
"

10
"

10"

14"

10"

10"

10"

10
"

12"

10"

12"
12"

16"

10"

12"

10"

12"

27
"

10"

10"

10"

14"

12"

12"

20
"

14"

10"

10"

10"

12"

10"

10"

12"

27
"

27"

12"

12"

12"

10
"

27"

14
"

10"

12"

12"

10"

12"

14"

10
"

14
"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12
"

12"

12"

10"

10
"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12
"

12"

10"

12"

12"

12"

14"

12"

12"

12"

12"

O
L

D
 E

L
K

H
A

R
T

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

67

B
A

S
S

E
T

T

S
 JA

C
K

S
O

N

COUNTY ROAD 153

E LACY

S
 R

O
Y

A
L

L
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

COUNTY ROAD 2212

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

25

COUNTY ROAD 386

E BRAZOS ST

A
R

M
O

R
Y

 R
D

R
O

Y
A

L

E NECHES ST

COUNTY ROAD 422

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
20

6

W CAROLINA ST

LAMAR ST

OAK

H
O

O
D

 S
T

COUNTY ROAD 2907

COUNTY R
OAD 4034

MOODY ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 151

N QUEEN ST

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 385

E ANGELINA ST

W LACY

S
 S

Y
LV

A
N

 A
V

E

M
A

Y
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2232

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4659

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 420

RANGE RD

W GREEN ST

COUNTY ROAD 419

S DO
RRANCE ST

INWOOD DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
5

6

BENBRO
O

K DR

W KOLSTAD ST

COUNTY ROAD 2211

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 431

COUNTY ROAD 421

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

3

COUNTY ROAD 4665

LARRY ST

L
O

N
G

 L
N

COUNTY ROAD 147

COUNTY ROAD 152

PALM DR

COUNTY ROAD 150

D
R

E
X

E
L

 S
T

M
E

M
O

R
Y

C
O

T
TA

G
E

 A
V

E

S
 M

IC
H

E
A

U
X

 A
V

E

COUNTY ROAD 408

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 417

HILLTOP DR

W COOK ST

COUNTY ROAD 4253

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 404

T
E

X
A

S
 A

V
E

W CORONACA ST

T
E

X
A

S

COUNTY ROAD 2233

M
C

N
EI

L 
ST

V
IR

G
IN

IA
 A

V
E

FAWN DR

W
E

S
L

E
Y

 D
R

N
IX

O
N

 S
T

E REAGAN ST

MOODY

L
E

L
IA

 S
T

MURCHISON ST

S
 V

A
R

IA
H

FIFTH ST

BIRCH ST

COUNTY ROAD 4251

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N
 D

R

W BURKITT ST

AV
EN

U
E 

B
 S

T

F
A

N
N

IN
 S

T

L
O

R
I L

N

O
LD ELKHART

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
2

COUNTY ROAD 2235

C
A

R
R

O
L

L
 D

R

L
IS

A
 L

N

TURNER DR

B
R

O
O

K
V

IE
W

 L
N

HOLMES ST

T
R

IM
B

L
E

 S
T

JOLLY ST

F
A

Y
 W

A
Y

 D
R

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2140

JUNIPER DR

RICHLAND DR

COUNTY ROAD 2150

COUNTY ROAD 146

COUNTY ROAD 372

W SOUTH ST

W
A

LL
 S

T

B
O

Y
D

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
1

ANGLE ST

COUNTY ROAD 4259

HAYS ST

LORETTA RD

COUNTY ROAD 1515

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

7

N
 F

O
R

T
 S

T

T
IM

B
E

R
L

IN
E

 T
R

L

B
R

O
N

C
O

SW
ANSO

N D
R

C
A

D
D

O
 D

R

KENNY DR

W LACY ST

B
E

N
T

W
O

O
D

 D
R

S
H

A
M

R
O

C
K

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2139

C
H

A
N

C
E

L
L

O
R

 S
T

N
A

N
N

IE
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
1

COUNTY ROAD 4252

RAGLAND ST

BROOKHOLLOW DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 6
04

9

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
54

COUNTY ROAD 155

BULLARD DR

RIDER RANCH RD

BROOKLYN AVE

CC SOUTH

COUNTY ROAD 4152

C
C

 E

B
L

U
E

 L
A

K
E

 R
D

SALT WORKS RD

CLAY ST

STEPHANIE DR

CAPLIN

M
IT

Z
IE

 L
N

FA
R

R
IS

 L
N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
5

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 428

B
R

IS
T

O
L

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

32

L
U

D
O

L
P

H
 S

T

COUNTY ROAD 4250

H
A

M
ILT

O
N

 R
D

M
IS

S
O

U
R

I S
T

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 433

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
25

4

N
A

V
A

JO

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3

COUNTY ROAD 4257

M L CARY ST

D
A

IS
Y

 L
N

MAVERICK DR

S
E

M
IN

O
L

E
 S

T

W
O

O
D

R
ID

G
E

 S
T

UPPER LAKE R
D

M
O

N
IC

A
 L

N

A
N

D
E

R
S

O
N

 D
R

WOODSIDE DR

W
ORD DR

TA
T

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
7

PIC
KENS D

R

M
A

R
IO

N
 S

T

B
U

T
T

E
R

M
IL

K
 D

R

GILLESPIE

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
48LONGHORN DR

N
E

C
H

E
S

 S
T

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

24

COUNTY ROAD 3732

B
E

N
B

R
O

O
K

GRANT ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
2

RAVINE DR

COUNTY ROAD 9280

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3
1

C
O

M
A

N
C

H
E

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

4

PERRY TAP

M
IL

L
E

R
 S

T

W POINT TAP RD

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 426

COUNTY ROAD 1400

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4271

COUNTY ROAD 2142

COUNTY ROAD 4274

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
8

W
O

O
D

W
A

Y
 D

R

WILLOWBROOK WAY

GILBERT ST

SHADOW WOOD DR

COUNTY ROAD 4033

COLLEY DR

CATALPA ST

L
IL

A
C

 L
N

H
A

W
 S

T

W GOOCH ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
0

COUNTY ROAD 2104

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 369

COUNTY ROAD 4657

HAPPY OAKS RD

B
E

R
M

U
D

A
 LN

COUNTY ROAD 3723

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

70
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
6

9
4

S
E

L
D

O
N

 S
T

ALABAMA ST

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

 B
LV

D

A
C

A
D

E
M

Y

K
E

N
T

 A
V

E

LY
N

C
H

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
5

LOAN OAK DR

COUNTY ROAD 3850

G
L

E
N

W
O

O
D

 D
R

E DAVIS ST

Q
U

A
L

 R
ID

G
E

 R
D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

5

BRAKENRIDGE ST

W
A

LT
O

N
 S

T

T
H

R
E

L
L

 S
T

HOMESTEAD DR

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 1420

W
 R

EAGAN S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 380

P
A

L
O

M
IN

O

W BRAZOS ST

COUNTY ROAD 416

W NECHES ST

D
A

ILY
 S

T

P
IN

E
R

ID
G

E
 S

T

A
B

B
O

TT C
T

BEN MILAM

FIELD RD

OAKLAND ST

N JACKSON

COUNTY ROAD 2202

PILLAR ST

COUNTY ROAD 370

COUNTY ROAD 3204

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
10

1

RENNER

COUNTY ROAD 140

A
N

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 421

COUNTY ROAD 429

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
59

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY ROAD 378

TEJAS

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

2
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5

COUNTY R
OAD 2144

COUNTY ROAD 427

V
E

N
T

U
R

E
 V

IE
W

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
3

0

COUNTY ROAD 403

E LACY

N QUEEN ST

COUNTY ROAD 151

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0

COUNTY ROAD 427

COUNTY ROAD 422

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
1

0
1

COUNTY ROAD 2140

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

10
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5
2

N JACKSO
N

COUNTY ROAD 150

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 1

42
0

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

0

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

W
 P

O
IN

T
 TA

P
 R

D

COUNTY ROAD 370

O
LD

 E
LK

H
A

R
T

COUNTY ROAD 2202

COUNTY ROAD 359

R
A

N
G

E
 R

D

6"

8"

2"

3"

4"

1"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

2"

8"

2"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

6"

6" 2"

4"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

4"

4"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

4"

6"

8"

2"

6"

1"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

8"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

8"

2"

6"

8"

8"

6"

8"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"
6"

6"

8"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"
6"

4"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6" 6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

1"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

1"6"

8"

6"

6"

2"

6"

2"

8"

6"

6"

2"

2"

2"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

1"

8"

2"

6"

6"

8"

3"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

1"

8"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

2"

8"

8"

8"

8"

6"

2"

6"

2"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

8"

8"

2"

2"

4"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

3"

4"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

2"

4"

8"

6"

6"

8"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

Town Creek

Basset Cr eek

M
an

so
n

Cre
ek

Chalybeate
C

reek

Keec
hie

Cree
k

W
il

lo
w

Sl
ou

gh

W
el

ls
C

re
ek

Wol f Cree
k

Stills Creek

Wells Creek Northwest

Fivemile Bra nch

Gum
Creek

Snake Creek

Sixmile Creek

Sa
dd

le
r

C
re

ek

Wells
Cree

k Trib
ut

ar
y

So
ut

h

Mack
C

re
ek

G
um

C
reek

Basse
t Creek

Wolf Creek

Stills Creek

Sad
dler

C
reek

Well
s Creek

Well

s Creek
N

orthw
est

Gum Creek

Old Salt Works Lake

Circle R Lake Number 1

Calhoun Lake Number 1

Lower City Lake

Lake Mary

Wolf Creek Lake

Upper City Lake

Circle R Lake Number 2

Pat Morris Lake

Grover C Walker Lake

Swift Lake

Davey Lake

0 2,100 4,200

SCALE IN FEET

Created By Freese and Nichols, Inc.
Job No.:  PLT22291
Location: H:\W_WW_PLANNING\01_DELIVERABLES\11_DRAFT_REPORT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT.aprx\(Figure_6-1)-Water_CIP
Updated: Monday, February 19, 2024 8:19 AM
User Name: 02499

LEGEND
Existing Condition
Proposed Improvement

Future Growth
Water Treatment Plant
Improvement

Future Growth
Proposed Improvement

Pressure Reducing
Valve

Ground Storage Tank

Elevated Storage Tank

Pump Station

Water Treatment Plant

8" and Smaller Water
Line

10" and Larger Water
Line

Road

Stream

Lake

Parcel

City Limit

Pressure Plane

Lower

Upper

Central

South

DRAFT FIGURE 6-1

CITY OF PALESTINE
WATER SYSTEM

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PLAN



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

6-2 

6.1 Existing Condition Improvements 

Project #1: 16-inch Downtown Water Line Replacement 

This improvement consists of the construction of a 16-inch water line replacing the existing 10/12-inch 

water line from Head Street to Texas Avenue. This improvement also includes the construction of a 8-inch 

water line replacing the existing 6-inch water line along W Lacy Street from N Queen Street to N Rainey 

Street. This improvement will increase the transmission capacity in the central area of the City to the South 

and Lower Pressure Planes. This improvement will also increase looping and redundancy within the 

system. 

Project #2: Martin Luther King Jr Boulevard 16-inch Water Line Replacement and Variah Street 12-inch 

Extension 

This improvement consists of the construction of 16-inch water line replacing the existing 12-inch water 

line along Martin Luther King Jr Boulevard from Texas Avenue to Robinson Street. This project also includes 

a 12-inch water line replacing the existing 10-inch water line along Variah Street and will extend south to 

connect with the existing 8-inch water line at W Palestine Avenue and W Oak Street. This improvement 

will increase the transmission capacity in the central area of the City to the South and Lower Pressure 

Planes. This improvement will also increase looping and redundancy within the system. 

Project #3: W Oak Street 12-inch Water Line Replacement and 10-inch 7th Street Water Line Extension 

This improvement consists of the construction of a 12-inch water line replacing the existing 6/10-inch 

water line along W Palestine Avenue and W Oak Streett between Court Drive and W Point Tap Road. This 

improvement also includes the replacement of the existing 8/6-inch water line at Westwood Road and 7th 

Street with a 10-inch water line along 7th Street from Westwood Road to the proposed 12-inch water line 

along W Oak Street. This improvement will increase the transmission capacity in the central area of the 

City to the South and Lower Pressure Planes. This improvement will also increase looping and redundancy 

within the system. 

Project #4: Central and Lower Pressure Plane 12-inch Water Line Replacement 

This improvement consists of the construction of a 12-inch water line replacing the existing 8-inch water 

line along W Oak Street between Point Tap Road and Tile Factory Road. This improvement will increase 

the transmission capacity in the central area of the City to the South and Lower Pressure Planes. This 

improvement will also increase looping and redundancy within the system. 

  



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

6-3 

Project #5: Loop 256 20-inch Water Line Replacement 

This improvement consists of the construction of a 20-inch water line replacing the existing 12-inch water 

line along N Loop 256 between E Palestine Avenue and State HW 156. This improvement will increase the 

transmission capacity to the North Jackson Pump Station and increase looping and redundancy within the 

system. 

Project #6: Loop 256 16-inch Water Line Replacement 

This improvement consists of the construction of a 16-inch water line replacing the existing 12-inch water 

line along N Loop 256 between State HW 156 and the North Jackson Pump Station. This improvement will 

increase the transmission capacity to the North Jackson Pump Station and increase looping and 

redundancy within the system. 

Project #7: S Sycamore Street 16-inch Water Line Replacement 

This improvement consists of the construction of a 16-inch water line replacing the existing 12-inch water 

line along S Sycamore Street between W Huffsmith Street and the South Sycamore Pump Station. This 

improvement will increase the transmission capacity to the South Sycamore Pump Station and increase 

looping and redundancy within the system. 

6.2 Future Growth Improvements 

Project #8: Water Treatment Plant High Service Pump Station Expansion 

This improvement consists of the construction of a 1.0 MGD clearwell at the Water Treatment Plant. This 

improvement also includes replacing the existing 3.67 MGD pump at the Water Treatment Plant High 

Service Pump Station with a 4.75 MGD pump to increase the firm capacity to 10.0 MGD. This improvement 

will increase the pumping and storage capacity at the Water Treatment Plant to serve the future growth 

in the Central, Upper, and South Pressure Planes. 

  



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

6-4 

Project #9: State HW 155 12-inch Water Line Replacement and Extension 

This improvement consists of the construction of a 12-inch water line replacing the existing 6-inch water 

line along State HW 155 between Kickapoo Street and E Palestine Avenue. This improvement also includes 

the construction of a 12-inch water line connecting the proposed 20-inch water line at State HW 155 and 

Brushy Creek Road to the proposed 12-inch water line at State HW 155 and Kickapoo Street. This 

improvement will provide additional transmission capacity through the central part of the City to serve 

future growth in the Central and Upper Pressure Planes. This improvement will also improve looping and 

redundancy within the system. 

Project #10: E Palestine Avenue 12-inch Water Line Replacement 

This improvement consists of the construction of a 12-inch water line replacing the existing 6-inch water 

line along E Palestine Avenue between N Mallard Street and N Jackson Street. This improvement will 

provide additional transmission capacity through the central part of the City to serve future growth in the 

Central and Upper Pressure Planes. This improvement will also improve looping and redundancy within 

the system. 

Project #11: Crockett Road 12/16-inch Water Line Replacement 

This improvement consists of the construction of a 16-inch water line replacing the existing 12-inch water 

line along E Huffsmith Street between S Sycamore Street and Crockett Road. This improvement also 

consists of the construction of a 12-inch water line replacing the existing 8-inch water line along Crockett 

Road between E Huffsmith Street and Crestline Drive. This improvement will provide additional 

transmission capacity to service future developments in the southeast part of the system. 

Project #12: 12-inch South Loop Water Line 

This improvement consists of the construction of a 12-inch water line looping from the existing 12-inch 

water line along S Sycamore Street near the Willow Creek EST west along Anderson County Road 2140, 

and north along Anderson County Road 2101 looping back to the existing 12-inch along Willow Creek 

Parkway. This improvement will provide water service to potential future development in the South 

Pressure Plane. This project will also provide increased transmission capacity, looping, and fire flow 

capacity. 



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

PRESSURE RECORDER LOCATIONS AND DATA SUMMARY 

  



!A

!A

UT

UTUT

UT(#
UT

(#
UT

[Ú

[Ú

3Q

!(PR

!(PR

!(PR

!(PR

!(PR

!(PR

!(PR

!(PR

!(PR

!(PR

!(PR

!(PR

1.00 MG Willow Creek
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 725'

South Sycamore Pump Station
(3) - 0.86 MGD Pumps

(1) - 1.00 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 664'

North Jackson Pump Station
(2) - 0.36 MGD Pumps

(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.75 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 644'

0.15 MG North Jackson
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 766'

Water Treatment Plant
Firm Capacity: 8.92 MGD

(1) - 3.67 MGD Pump
(1) - 5.25 MGD Pump
(1) - 6.26 MGD Pump

(2) - 1.00 MG Clearwell Ground Storage Tanks

PR #2
2265 FM 322

PR #5
5315 W Oak St

PR #3
3001 W Oak St

PR #8
601 Armory Rd

PR #12
2206 Monica Ln

PR #1
2213 Crockett Rd

PR #10
3011 N Loop 256

PR #11
2730 N Jackson St

PR #9
1522 E Palestine Ave

PR #7
N John St and W Spring St

PR #6
E Huffsmith St and Crockett Rd

PR #4
W Point Tap Rd and Panther Blvd

12
"

14"

27
"

20"

18
"

16"

10"

10"

12"

12"

12"

10
"

10"

12"

12"

10
"

10"
12"

10"

14
"

12"

10
"

10"

10
"

14"

12"

12"

10"

10"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"
12"

10"

10
"

27
"

10"

10"

12
"

10"

12"

10
"

10"

12"

10"

12"

27
"

12
"

12"

10"

12"

10"

16"

12"

12"

10"

27"

10"

14
"

14"

10"

10" 10"

18
"

12"

10"

16"

12"

12"

12"

12
"

16"

20
"

12"

12"

12"

12"

14"

12"

12"

12"

10"

10"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

16"

12"12"

10
"

10
"

12"

10"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

12"

14"

12"

12"

10"

10"

10"

16"

12"

10"

12"

10"

O
L

D
 E

L
K

H
A

R
T

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

67

B
A

S
S

E
T

T

S
 JA

C
K

S
O

N

COUNTY ROAD 153

E LACY

S
 R

O
Y

A
L

L
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

COUNTY ROAD 2212

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

25

COUNTY ROAD 386

E BRAZOS ST

A
R

M
O

R
Y

 R
D

R
O

Y
A

L

E NECHES ST

COUNTY ROAD 422

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
20

6

W CAROLINA ST

LAMAR ST

OAK

COUNTY ROAD 2907

COUNTY R
OAD 4034

MOODY ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 151

N QUEEN ST

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 385

E ANGELINA ST

W LACY

S
Y

C
A

M
O

R
E

T
E

N
N

E
S

S
E

E
 A

V
E

S
 S

Y
LV

A
N

 A
V

E

M
A

Y
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2232

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4659

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 420

RANGE RD

W GREEN ST

COUNTY ROAD 419

S DO
RRANCE ST

INWOOD DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
5

6

C
E

D
A

R
 S

T

BENBRO
O

K DR

W KOLSTAD ST

COUNTY ROAD 2211

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 431

COUNTY ROAD 421

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

3

COUNTY ROAD 4665

LARRY ST

L
O

N
G

 L
N

COUNTY ROAD 147

COUNTY ROAD 152

PALM DR

COUNTY ROAD 150

D
R

E
X

E
L

 S
T

M
E

M
O

R
Y

C
O

T
TA

G
E

 A
V

E

S
 M

IC
H

E
A

U
X

 A
V

E

COUNTY ROAD 408

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 417

HILLTOP DR

W COOK ST

COUNTY ROAD 4253

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 404

T
E

X
A

S
 A

V
E

W CORONACA ST

T
E

X
A

S

COUNTY ROAD 2233

M
C

N
EI

L 
ST

L
IN

K
 S

T

GAY AVE

V
IR

G
IN

IA
 A

V
E

C
A

LH
O

U
N

 S
T

FAWN DR

W
E

S
L

E
Y

 D
R

E REAGAN ST

MOODY

EILENSTEIN ST

SANDY LN

L
E

L
IA

 S
T S

 V
A

R
IA

H

FIFTH ST

COUNTY ROAD 4251

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N
 D

R

W BURKITT ST

AV
EN

U
E 

B
 S

T

F
A

N
N

IN
 S

T

L
O

R
I L

N

O
LD ELKHART

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
2

COUNTY ROAD 2235

C
A

R
R

O
L

L
 D

R

L
IS

A
 L

N

TURNER DR

B
R

O
O

K
V

IE
W

 L
N

HOLMES ST

T
R

IM
B

L
E

 S
T

JOLLY ST

FAY WAY DR

SWIFT ST

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2140

JU
N

IP
E

R
 D

R

RICHLAND DR

COUNTY ROAD 2150

COUNTY ROAD 146

COUNTY ROAD 372

W SOUTH ST

W
A

LL
 S

T

O
H

IO
 S

T

B
O

Y
D

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
1

ANGLE ST

COUNTY ROAD 4259

LORETTA RD

COUNTY ROAD 1515

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

7

N
 F

O
R

T
 S

T

T
IM

B
E

R
L

IN
E

 T
R

L

B
R

O
N

C
O

SWANSON DR

C
A

D
D

O
 D

R

CRAWFORD

KENNY DR

B
E

N
T

W
O

O
D

 D
R

S
H

A
M

R
O

C
K

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2139

C
H

A
N

C
E

L
L

O
R

 S
T

HIGHLAND DR

N
A

N
N

IE
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
1

COUNTY ROAD 4252

BROOKHOLLOW DR

SIERRA DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 6
04

9

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
54

SUG
AR L

N

N
 JO

H
N

 S
T

COUNTY ROAD 155

BULLARD DR

RIDER RANCH RD

BROOKLYN AVE

CC SOUTH

COUNTY ROAD 4152

C
C

 E

B
L

U
E

 L
A

K
E

 R
D

SALT WORKS RD

CLAY ST

L
A

K
E

V
IE

W
 A

V
E

STEPHANIE DR

CAPLIN

M
IT

Z
IE

 L
N

FA
R

R
IS

 L
N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
5

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 428

B
R

IS
T

O
L

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

32

COUNTY ROAD 4250

H
A

M
ILT

O
N

 R
D

S
 M

A
G

N
O

L
IA

 S
T

M
IS

S
O

U
R

I S
T

LIN
E ST

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 433

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
25

4

N
A

V
A

JO

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3

COUNTY ROAD 4257

M L CARY ST

MEADOW BROOK DR

D
A

IS
Y

 L
N

S
E

M
IN

O
L

E
 S

T

W
O

O
D

R
ID

G
E

 S
T

UPPER LAKE R
D

A
N

D
E

R
S

O
N

 D
R

WOODSIDE DR

W
ORD DR

TA
T

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
7

B
U

T
T

E
R

M
IL

K
 D

R

GILLESPIE

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
48LONGHORN DR

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

24

COUNTY ROAD 3732

P
E

C
A

N
 S

T

SH
ER

ID
A

N
 D

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
2

RAVINE DR

LINCOLN ST

COUNTY ROAD 9280

SEVENTH ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3
1

C
O

M
A

N
C

H
E

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

4

PERRY TAP

M
IL

L
E

R
 S

T

W POINT TAP RD

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 426

COUNTY ROAD 1400

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4271

COUNTY ROAD 2142

COUNTY ROAD 4274

R
E

D
L

A
N

D
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
8

W
O

O
D

W
A

Y
 D

R

W GIRAUD ST

GILBERT ST

SHADOW WOOD DR

COUNTY ROAD 4033

CATALPA ST

L
IL

A
C

 L
N

H
A

W
 S

T

N
 V

A
R

IA
H

 S
T

W GOOCH ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
0

NORTH ST

COUNTY ROAD 2104

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 369

COUNTY ROAD 4657

HAPPY OAKS RD

ALPINE ST

SUNSET RD

COUNTY ROAD 3723

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

70
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
6

9
4

S
E

L
D

O
N

 S
T

ALABAMA ST

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

 B
LV

D

A
C

A
D

E
M

Y

K
E

N
T

 A
V

E

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
5

LOAN OAK DR

WOODGATE DR

COUNTY ROAD 3850

G
L

E
N

W
O

O
D

 D
R

E DAVIS ST

Q
U

A
L

 R
ID

G
E

 R
D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

5

MAPLE ST

W
A

LT
O

N
 S

T

HOMESTEAD DR

S
T

O
N

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 1420

W
 R

EAGAN S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 380

P
A

L
O

M
IN

O

COUNTY ROAD 416

BELLVIEW DR

W NECHES ST

L
A

K
E

S
ID

E
 D

R

P
IN

E
R

ID
G

E
 S

T

A
B

B
O

TT C
T

BEN MILAM

FIELD RD

OAKLAND ST

N JACKSON

COUNTY ROAD 2202

COUNTY ROAD 370

COUNTY ROAD 3204

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
10

1

RENNER

COUNTY ROAD 140

A
N

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 421

COUNTY ROAD 429

COUNTY ROAD 359

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY ROAD 378

TEJAS

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

2
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

14
4

COUNTY ROAD 427

V
E

N
T

U
R

E
 V

IE
W

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
3

0

COUNTY R
OAD 3

59

COUNTY ROAD 150

COUNTY ROAD 2140

W
 P

O
IN

T
 TA

P
 R

D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

R
A

N
G

E
 R

D

COUNTY ROAD 422

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
1

0
1

N QUEEN ST

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

E LACY

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

0

O
LD

 E
LK

H
A

R
T

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 1

42
0

N
 Q

U
E

E
N

 S
T

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

10
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5
2

E REAGAN ST

COUNTY ROAD 370

COUNTY ROAD 151

COUNTY ROAD 2202

COUNTY ROAD 427

6"

8"

2"

3"

4"

1"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

1"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

8"

4"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

1"

8"

8"

6"

1"

2"

4"

6"

2"

6"

6"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

2"
1"

2"

6"

6"

4"

6"

8"

6"
8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

1"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

1"

8"

6"

6"

3"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

2"

4"

8"

8"

2"

8"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

2"

8"

8"

6"

8"

8"

8"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

1"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

4"

6"

8"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

4"

8"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

4"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

3"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8" 6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

2"

8"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

Old Salt Works Lake

Circle R Lake Number 1

Calhoun Lake Number 1

Lower City Lake

Lake Mary

Wolf Creek Lake

Upper City Lake

Circle R Lake Number 2

Pat Morris Lake

Blue Lake

Grover C Walker Lake

Swift Lake

Davey Lake

Town Creek

Bas
set Creek

M
an

so
n

Cre
ek

Chalybeate
C

reek

Keec
hie

Cree
k

W
il

lo
w

Sl
ou

gh

W
el

ls
C

re
ek

Wol f Cree
k

Stills Creek

Wells Creek Northwest

Fivemile Bra nch

Gum
Creek

Snake Creek

Sixmile Creek

Sa
dd

le
r

C
re

ek

Wells
Cree

k Trib
ut

ar
y

So
ut

h

Mack
C

re
ek

Gum Creek

Well
s Creek

Wolf Creek

Well

s Creek
N

orthw
est

Basse
t Creek

Sad
dler

C
reek

G
um

C
reek

Stills Creek

Created By Freese and Nichols, Inc.
Job No.:  PLT22291
Location: H:\W_WW_PLANNING\01_DELIVERABLES\11_DRAFT_REPORT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT.aprx\(Figure_A-1)-Pressure_Recorders
Updated: Friday, February 16, 2024 10:44 AM
User Name: 02499

0 2,100 4,200

SCALE IN FEET

!I

LEGEND

!(PR Pressure Recorder

!A Pressure Reducing Valve

UT Ground Storage Tank

(#
UT Elevated Storage Tank

[Ú Pump Station

3Q Water Treatment Plant

8" and Smaller Water Line

10" and Larger Water Line

Road

Stream

Lake

Parcel

City Limit

Pressure Plane

Lower

Upper

Central

South

DRAFT FIGURE A-1

CITY OF PALESTINE
EXISTING WATER SYSTEM

PRESSURE RECORDERS



Power BI Desktop

-20

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

Pressure Recorder Number 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-2
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results



Power BI Desktop

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-3
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results

Pressure Recorder: 1

© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation, © 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation, © OpenStreetMap© OpenStreetMap

Address

2213 Crockett Road

Pressure Plane
Central

https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.openstreetmap.org/copyright


Power BI Desktop

0

20

40

60

80

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-4
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results

Pressure Recorder: 2

© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation

Address
2265 South 

Sycamore Street

Pressure Plane
South

https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO


Power BI Desktop

0

20

40

60

80

100

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-5
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results

Pressure Recorder: 3

© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation, © 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation, © OpenStreetMap© OpenStreetMap

Address

3001 Oak Street

Pressure Plane
Central

https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.openstreetmap.org/copyright


Power BI Desktop

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-6
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results

Pressure Recorder: 4

© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation

Address
West Point Tap 

Road and Panther

Pressure Plane
Lower

https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO


Power BI Desktop

0

20

40

60

80

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-7
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results

Pressure Recorder: 5

© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation, © 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation, © OpenStreetMap© OpenStreetMap

Address
5315 West Oak 

Street

Pressure Plane
Lower

https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.openstreetmap.org/copyright


Power BI Desktop

0

20

40

60

80

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-8
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results

Pressure Recorder: 6

© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation

Address
East Huffsmith 

Street and Crockett…

Pressure Plane
Central

https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO


Power BI Desktop

0

20

40

60

80

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-9
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results

Pressure Recorder: 7

© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation

Address
North John and 

West Spring

Pressure Plane
Central

https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO


Power BI Desktop

0

20

40

60

80

100

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-10
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results

Pressure Recorder: 8

© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation

Address

601 Armory Road

Pressure Plane
Central

https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO


Power BI Desktop

-20

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-11
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results

Pressure Recorder: 9

© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation, © 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation, © OpenStreetMap© OpenStreetMap

Address
1522 East Palestine 

Avenue

Pressure Plane
Central

https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.openstreetmap.org/copyright


Power BI Desktop

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-12
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results

Pressure Recorder: 10

© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation, © 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation, © OpenStreetMap© OpenStreetMap

Address
3011 North Loop 

256

Pressure Plane
Central

https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.openstreetmap.org/copyright


Power BI Desktop

0

20

40

60

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-13
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results

Pressure Recorder: 11

© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation

Address
2730 North Jackson

 Street

Pressure Plane
Upper

https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO


Power BI Desktop

0

20

40

60

80

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
 10
 11
 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-14
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results

Pressure Recorder: 12

© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation© 2024 TomTom, © 2024 Microsoft Corporation

Address

2206  Monica Lane

Pressure Plane
Central

https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO
https://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~0&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO


Power BI Desktop

-20

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

1 3 6 7 8 9 10 12

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-15
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results
Central Pressure Plane



Power BI Desktop

0

20

40

60

80

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

2

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-16
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results
South Pressure Plane



Power BI Desktop

0

20

40

60

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

11

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-17
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results
Upper Pressure Plane



Power BI Desktop

0

20

40

60

80

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si

)

Jul 06 Jul 08 Jul 10 Jul 12 Jul 14 Jul 16 Jul 18 Jul 20

4 5

Date Range

7/6/2022 7/20/2022

DRAFT Figure A-18
City of Palestine

07/06/22-07/20/22 Field Pressure Testing Results
Lower Pressure Plane



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

 

APPENDIX B 

CALIBRATION CHARTS 

  



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
re

ss
u

re
 (

p
si

)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-1
Pressure Calibration

FNI Pressure Recorder #1
Central Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
re

ss
u

re
 (

p
si

)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-2
Pressure Calibration

FNI Pressure Recorder #2
South Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
re

ss
u

re
 (

p
si

)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-3
Pressure Calibration

FNI Pressure Recorder #3
Central Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
re

ss
u

re
 (

p
si

)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-4
Pressure Calibration

FNI Pressure Recorder #4
Lower Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
re

ss
u

re
 (

p
si

)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-5
Pressure Calibration

FNI Pressure Recorder #5
Lower Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
re

ss
u

re
 (

p
si

)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-6
Pressure Calibration

FNI Pressure Recorder #6
Central Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
re

ss
u

re
 (

p
si

)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-7
Pressure Calibration

FNI Pressure Recorder #7
Central Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
re

ss
u

re
 (

p
si

)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-8
Pressure Calibration

FNI Pressure Recorder #8
Central Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
re

ss
u

re
 (

p
si

)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-9
Pressure Calibration

FNI Pressure Recorder #9
Central Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
re

ss
u

re
 (

p
si

)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-10
Pressure Calibration

FNI Pressure Recorder #10
Central Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
re

ss
u

re
 (

p
si

)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-11
Pressure Calibration

FNI Pressure Recorder #11
Upper Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
re

ss
u

re
 (

p
si

)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-12
Pressure Calibration

FNI Pressure Recorder #12
Central Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

Le
ve

l (
fe

e
t)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-13
Level Calibration

North Jackson EST
Upper Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

Le
ve

l (
fe

e
t)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-14
Level Calibration

South Sycamore GST
Central Pressure Zone

July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

0:00 2:00 4:00 6:00 8:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

Le
ve

l (
fe

e
t)

Time (hours)

DRAFT Figure B-15
Level Calibration
Willow Creek EST

South Pressure Zone
July 19, 2022

Recorded Modeled



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

EXISTING WATER SYSTEM ANALYSIS MAPPING 

  



1.00 MG Willow Creek
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 725'

South Sycamore Pump Station
(3) - 0.86 MGD Pumps

(1) - 1.00 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 664'

North Jackson Pump Station
(2) - 0.36 MGD Pumps

(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.75 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 644'

0.15 MG North Jackson
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 766'

Water Treatment Plant
Firm Capacity: 8.92 MGD

(1) - 3.67 MGD Pump
(1) - 5.25 MGD Pump
(1) - 6.26 MGD Pump

(2) - 1.00 MG Clearwell Ground Storage Tanks

12
"

14"

27
"

20"

18
"

16"

10"

14"

10"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

10
"

10"

12"

12"

10
"

10"
12"

10"

14
"

12"

10
"

10"

10
"

14"

12"

12"

10"

10"

12
"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"
12"

16"

12
"

10"

10
"

27
"

10"

10"

12
"

10"

12"

10
"

10"

12"

10"

12"

27
"

12"

10"

12"

10"

16"

12"

12
"

12"

10"

27"

10"

14
"

14"

10"

12"

16
"

10" 10"

18
"

12"

10"

16"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

12
"

16"

27"

20
"

12"

12"

12"

12"

14"

12
"

12"

12"

12"

10"

10"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"

16"

12"

10
"

10
"

12"

10"

12"

10"

12"

12"

12"

14"

12"

12"

10"

10"

10"

16"

12"

10"

12"

10"

O
L

D
 E

L
K

H
A

R
T

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

67

B
A

S
S

E
T

T

S
 JA

C
K

S
O

N

COUNTY ROAD 153

E LACY

S
 R

O
Y

A
L

L
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

COUNTY ROAD 2212

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

25

COUNTY ROAD 386

E BRAZOS ST

A
R

M
O

R
Y

 R
D

R
O

Y
A

L

E NECHES ST

COUNTY ROAD 422

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
20

6

W CAROLINA ST

LAMAR ST

OAK

COUNTY ROAD 2907

COUNTY R
OAD 4034

MOODY ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 151

N QUEEN ST

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 385

E ANGELINA ST

W LACY

S
Y

C
A

M
O

R
E

T
E

N
N

E
S

S
E

E
 A

V
E

M
A

Y
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2232

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4659

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 420

RANGE RD

W GREEN ST

COUNTY ROAD 419

S DO
RRANCE ST

INWOOD DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
5

6

C
E

D
A

R
 S

T

BENBRO
O

K DR

W KOLSTAD ST

COUNTY ROAD 2211

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 431

COUNTY ROAD 421

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

3

COUNTY ROAD 4665

LARRY ST

L
O

N
G

 L
N

COUNTY ROAD 147

COUNTY ROAD 152

PALM DR

COUNTY ROAD 150

D
R

E
X

E
L

 S
T

M
E

M
O

R
Y

C
O

T
TA

G
E

 A
V

E

S
 M

IC
H

E
A

U
X

 A
V

E

COUNTY ROAD 408

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 417

HILLTOP DR

W COOK ST

COUNTY ROAD 4253

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 404

T
E

X
A

S
 A

V
E

W CORONACA ST

T
E

X
A

S

COUNTY ROAD 2233

M
C

N
EI

L 
ST

L
IN

K
 S

T

GAY AVE

V
IR

G
IN

IA
 A

V
E

C
A

LH
O

U
N

 S
T

FAWN DR

W
E

S
L

E
Y

 D
R

N
IX

O
N

 S
T

E REAGAN ST

MOODY

EILENSTEIN ST

SANDY LN

L
E

L
IA

 S
T S

 V
A

R
IA

H

FIFTH ST

COUNTY ROAD 4251

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N
 D

R

W BURKITT ST

AV
EN

U
E 

B
 S

T

F
A

N
N

IN
 S

T

L
O

R
I L

N

O
LD ELKHART

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
2

COUNTY ROAD 2235

C
A

R
R

O
L

L
 D

R

L
IS

A
 L

N

TURNER DR

B
R

O
O

K
V

IE
W

 L
N

HOLMES ST

T
R

IM
B

L
E

 S
T

JOLLY ST

FAY WAY DR

SWIFT ST

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2140

JU
N

IP
E

R
 D

R

RICHLAND DR

COUNTY ROAD 2150

COUNTY ROAD 146

COUNTY ROAD 372

W SOUTH ST

W
A

LL
 S

T

O
H

IO
 S

T

B
O

Y
D

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
1

ANGLE ST

COUNTY ROAD 4259

LORETTA RD

COUNTY ROAD 1515

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

7

N
 F

O
R

T
 S

T

T
IM

B
E

R
L

IN
E

 T
R

L

B
R

O
N

C
O

SWANSON DR

C
A

D
D

O
 D

R

CRAWFORD

KENNY DR

B
E

N
T

W
O

O
D

 D
R

S
H

A
M

R
O

C
K

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2139

C
H

A
N

C
E

L
L

O
R

 S
T

HIGHLAND DR

N
A

N
N

IE
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
1

COUNTY ROAD 4252

RAGLAND ST

BROOKHOLLOW DR

SIERRA DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 6
04

9

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
54

SUG
AR L

N

N
 JO

H
N

 S
T

COUNTY ROAD 155

BULLARD DR

RIDER RANCH RD

BROOKLYN AVE

CC SOUTH

COUNTY ROAD 4152

C
C

 E

B
L

U
E

 L
A

K
E

 R
D

SALT WORKS RD

CLAY ST

L
A

K
E

V
IE

W
 A

V
E

STEPHANIE DR

CAPLIN

M
IT

Z
IE

 L
N

FA
R

R
IS

 L
N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
5

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 428

B
R

IS
T

O
L

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

32

L
U

D
O

L
P

H
 S

T

COUNTY ROAD 4250

H
A

M
ILT

O
N

 R
D

S
 M

A
G

N
O

L
IA

 S
T

M
IS

S
O

U
R

I S
T

LIN
E ST

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 433

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
25

4

N
A

V
A

JO

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3

COUNTY ROAD 4257

M L CARY ST

MEADOW BROOK DR

D
A

IS
Y

 L
N

MAVERICK DR

P
A

R
K

C
R

E
S

T
 D

R

S
E

M
IN

O
L

E
 S

T

W
O

O
D

R
ID

G
E

 S
T

UPPER LAKE R
D

M
O

N
IC

A
 L

N

A
N

D
E

R
S

O
N

 D
R

W
ORD DR

TA
T

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
7

PIC
KENS D

R

M
A

R
IO

N
 S

T

B
U

T
T

E
R

M
IL

K
 D

R

GILLESPIE

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
48LONGHORN DR

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

24

COUNTY ROAD 3732

P
E

C
A

N
 S

T

SH
ER

ID
A

N
 D

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
2

RAVINE DR

LINCOLN ST

COUNTY ROAD 9280

SEVENTH ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3
1

C
O

M
A

N
C

H
E

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

4

PERRY TAP

M
IL

L
E

R
 S

T

W POINT TAP RD

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 426

COUNTY ROAD 1400

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4271

COUNTY ROAD 2142

COUNTY ROAD 4274

R
E

D
L

A
N

D
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
8

W
O

O
D

W
A

Y
 D

R

WILLOWBROOK WAY

W GIRAUD ST

GILBERT ST

SHADOW WOOD DR

COUNTY ROAD 4033

CATALPA ST

L
IL

A
C

 L
N

H
A

W
 S

T

N
 V

A
R

IA
H

 S
T

W GOOCH ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
0

NORTH ST

L
A

K
E

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2104

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 369

COUNTY ROAD 4657

HAPPY OAKS RD

ALPINE ST

B
E

R
M

U
D

A
 LN

SUNSET RD

COUNTY ROAD 3723

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

70
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
6

9
4

S
E

L
D

O
N

 S
T

ALABAMA ST

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

 B
LV

D

A
C

A
D

E
M

Y

K
E

N
T

 A
V

E

LY
N

C
H

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
5

LOAN OAK DR

WOODGATE DR

COUNTY ROAD 3850

G
L

E
N

W
O

O
D

 D
R

E DAVIS ST

Q
U

A
L

 R
ID

G
E

 R
D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

5

MAPLE ST

W
A

LT
O

N
 S

T

T
H

R
E

L
L

 S
T

HOMESTEAD DR

S
T

O
N

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 1420

W
 R

EAGAN S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 380

P
A

L
O

M
IN

O

W BRAZOS ST

COUNTY ROAD 416

BELLVIEW DR

W NECHES ST

L
A

K
E

S
ID

E
 D

R

P
IN

E
R

ID
G

E
 S

T

E POPLAR ST

A
B

B
O

TT C
T

BEN MILAM

FIELD RD

OAKLAND ST

N JACKSON

COUNTY ROAD 2202

COUNTY ROAD 370

COUNTY ROAD 3204

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
10

1

RENNER

COUNTY ROAD 140

A
N

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 421

COUNTY ROAD 429

COUNTY ROAD 359

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY ROAD 378

TEJAS

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

2
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

14
4

COUNTY ROAD 427

V
E

N
T

U
R

E
 V

IE
W

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
3

0

S
 R

O
Y

A
L

L
 S

T

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY R
OAD 3

59

W
 P

O
IN

T
 TA

P
 R

D

N JACKSO
N

R
A

N
G

E
 R

D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 1

42
0

N
 Q

U
E

E
N

 S
T

COUNTY ROAD 2140

COUNTY ROAD 422

COUNTY ROAD 150

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
1

0
1

N QUEEN ST

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0

O
LD

 E
LK

H
A

R
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

0

E LACY

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5
2

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

10
1

COUNTY ROAD 151

COUNTY ROAD 2202

COUNTY ROAD 427

E REAGAN ST

COUNTY ROAD 370

6"

8"

2"

3"

4"

1"

6"

6"

2"

8"

6"

6"

8"
6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

1"

2"

2"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

4"

4"

6"

8"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

8"

2"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

2"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

1"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

8"

8"

6"

1"

1"

8"

8"

6"
6"

8"
6"

8"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

8"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

3"

6"

6"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

1"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"
2"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"
6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"
6"

6"
6"

8"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"
6"

6"

8"

2"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

Old Salt Works Lake

Circle R Lake Number 1

Calhoun Lake Number 1

Lower City Lake

Lake Mary

Wolf Creek Lake

Upper City Lake

Circle R Lake Number 2

Pat Morris Lake

Blue Lake

Grover C Walker Lake

Swift Lake

Davey Lake

Town Creek

Bas
set Creek

M
an

so
n

Cre
ek

Chalybeate
C

reek

Keec
hie

Cree
k

W
il

lo
w

Sl
ou

gh

W
el

ls
C

re
ek

Wol f Cree
k

Stills Creek

Wells Creek Northwest

Fivemile Bra nch

Gum
Creek

Snake Creek

Sixmile Creek

Sa
dd

le
r

C
re

ek

Wells
Cree

k Trib
ut

ar
y

So
ut

h

Mack
C

re
ek

Sad
dler

C
reek

G
um

C
reek

Basse
t Creek

Stills Creek

Gum Creek

Wolf Creek

Well
s Creek

Well

s Creek
N

orthw
est

0 2,100 4,200

SCALE IN FEET

Created By Freese and Nichols, Inc.
Job No.:  PLT22291
Location: H:\W_WW_PLANNING\01_DELIVERABLES\11_DRAFT_REPORT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT.aprx\(Figure_C-1)-Ex_W_System_PHD_MinPSI
Updated: Wednesday, February 28, 2024 8:20 AM
User Name: 02499

LEGEND

Pressure Reducing Valve

Ground Storage Tank

Elevated Storage Tank

Pump Station

Water Treatment Plant

8" and Smaller Water Line

10" and Larger Water Line

Road

Stream

Lake

Parcel

City Limit

Pressure Plane

Lower

Upper

Central

South

DRAFT FIGURE C-1

CITY OF PALESTINE
EXISTING WATER SYSTEM
PEAK HOUR CONDITIONS

MINIMUM PRESSURES

MINIMUM
PRESSURES

Less than 35 psi

35 - 50 psi

50 - 70 psi

70 - 80 psi

Greater than 80 psi



1.00 MG Willow Creek
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 725'

South Sycamore Pump Station
(3) - 0.86 MGD Pumps

(1) - 1.00 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 664'

North Jackson Pump Station
(2) - 0.36 MGD Pumps

(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.75 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 644'

0.15 MG North Jackson
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 766'

Water Treatment Plant
Firm Capacity: 8.92 MGD

(1) - 3.67 MGD Pump
(1) - 5.25 MGD Pump
(1) - 6.26 MGD Pump

(2) - 1.00 MG Clearwell Ground Storage Tanks

(5.95)

(5.98)

(7
.3

9)

12"

12"

6"

12
"

14"

27
"

20"

18
"

16"

10"

10"

12"

20
"

10"

12
"

16
"

14" 12"

12"

12"

12
"

10"

12"

10"

10"

14"

10"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

12"

10
"

12"

12"

12"

12"

10"

10"

10"

10"

12"

10
"

10"

12"

10"

12"

10"

12"

12
"

12"

10
"

10"

12"

10"

10"

12"

10"

12"

12"

12"

16"

12"

12"

10
"

14"

14
"

10"

12"

16
"

12"

10"

12"

12"

10"

10"

10"

12"

12"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

10"

12
"

12"

12"

14"

18
"

12"

27
"

12"

10"

14"

10"

10"

27"12"

12"10"

27
"

10
"

10
"

10
"

14
"

16"

12"

16
"

10"

12"

10"

16"

12
"

12"

12"

27"

12
"

10"

12"

12"

10"

12"

10"

10"

12"

12"

12"

O
L

D
 E

L
K

H
A

R
T

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

67

B
A

S
S

E
T

T

S
 JA

C
K

S
O

N

COUNTY ROAD 153

E LACY

S
 R

O
Y

A
L

L
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

COUNTY ROAD 2212

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

25

COUNTY ROAD 386

E BRAZOS ST

A
R

M
O

R
Y

 R
D

R
O

Y
A

L

E NECHES ST

COUNTY ROAD 422

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
20

6

W CAROLINA ST

LAMAR ST

OAK

COUNTY ROAD 2907

COUNTY R
OAD 4034

MOODY ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 151

N QUEEN ST

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 385

E ANGELINA ST

W LACY

S
Y

C
A

M
O

R
E

T
E

N
N

E
S

S
E

E
 A

V
E

S
 S

Y
LV

A
N

 A
V

E

M
A

Y
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2232

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4659

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 420

RANGE RD

W GREEN ST

COUNTY ROAD 419

S DO
RRANCE ST

INWOOD DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
5

6

C
E

D
A

R
 S

T

BENBRO
O

K DR

W KOLSTAD ST

COUNTY ROAD 2211

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 431

COUNTY ROAD 421

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

3

COUNTY ROAD 4665

LARRY ST

L
O

N
G

 L
N

COUNTY ROAD 147

COUNTY ROAD 152

PALM DR

COUNTY ROAD 150

D
R

E
X

E
L

 S
T

M
E

M
O

R
Y

C
O

T
TA

G
E

 A
V

E

S
 M

IC
H

E
A

U
X

 A
V

E

COUNTY ROAD 408

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 417

HILLTOP DR

W COOK ST

COUNTY ROAD 4253

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 404

T
E

X
A

S
 A

V
E

W CORONACA ST

T
E

X
A

S

COUNTY ROAD 2233

M
C

N
EI

L 
ST

L
IN

K
 S

T

GAY AVE

V
IR

G
IN

IA
 A

V
E

C
A

LH
O

U
N

 S
T

FAWN DR

W
E

S
L

E
Y

 D
R

N
IX

O
N

 S
T

E REAGAN ST

MOODY

EILENSTEIN ST

SANDY LN

L
E

L
IA

 S
T S

 V
A

R
IA

H

FIFTH ST

COUNTY ROAD 4251

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N
 D

R

W BURKITT ST

AV
EN

U
E 

B
 S

T

F
A

N
N

IN
 S

T

L
O

R
I L

N

O
LD ELKHART

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
2

COUNTY ROAD 2235

C
A

R
R

O
L

L
 D

R

L
IS

A
 L

N

TURNER DR

B
R

O
O

K
V

IE
W

 L
N

HOLMES ST

T
R

IM
B

L
E

 S
T

JOLLY ST

F
A

Y
 W

A
Y

 D
R

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2140

JUNIPER DR

RICHLAND DR

COUNTY ROAD 2150

COUNTY ROAD 146

COUNTY ROAD 372

W SOUTH ST

W
A

LL
 S

T

O
H

IO
 S

T

B
O

Y
D

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
1

ANGLE ST

COUNTY ROAD 4259

HAYS ST

LORETTA RD

COUNTY ROAD 1515

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

7

N
 F

O
R

T
 S

T

T
IM

B
E

R
L

IN
E

 T
R

L

B
R

O
N

C
O

SWANSON DR

C
A

D
D

O
 D

R

CRAWFORD

KENNY DR

B
E

N
T

W
O

O
D

 D
R

S
H

A
M

R
O

C
K

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2139

C
H

A
N

C
E

L
L

O
R

 S
T

HIGHLAND DR

N
A

N
N

IE
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
1

COUNTY ROAD 4252

RICKY DR

RAGLAND ST

BROOKHOLLOW DR

SIERRA DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 6
04

9

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
54

N
 JO

H
N

 S
T

COUNTY ROAD 155

BULLARD DR

RIDER RANCH RD

BROOKLYN AVE

CC SOUTH

COUNTY ROAD 4152

C
C

 E

B
L

U
E

 L
A

K
E

 R
D

SALT WORKS RD

CLAY ST

STEPHANIE DR

CAPLIN

M
IT

Z
IE

 L
N

FA
R

R
IS

 L
N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
5

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 428

B
R

IS
T

O
L

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

32

L
U

D
O

L
P

H
 S

T

COUNTY ROAD 4250

S
 M

A
G

N
O

L
IA

 S
T

M
IS

S
O

U
R

I S
T

LIN
E ST

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 433

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
25

4

N
A

V
A

JO

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3

COUNTY ROAD 4257

M L CARY ST

MEADOW BROOK DR

D
A

IS
Y

 L
N

MAVERICK DR

P
A

R
K

C
R

E
S

T
 D

R

S
E

M
IN

O
L

E
 S

T

W
O

O
D

R
ID

G
E

 S
T

UPPER LAKE R
D

M
O

N
IC

A
 L

N

A
N

D
E

R
S

O
N

 D
R

W
ORD DR

TA
T

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
7

PIC
KENS D

R

M
A

R
IO

N
 S

T

B
U

T
T

E
R

M
IL

K
 D

R

GILLESPIE

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
48LONGHORN DR

NECHES ST

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

24

COUNTY ROAD 3732

P
E

C
A

N
 S

T

SH
ER

ID
A

N
 D

R

B
E

N
B

R
O

O
K

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
2

RAVINE DR

LINCOLN ST

COUNTY ROAD 9280

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3
1

C
O

M
A

N
C

H
E

R
E

D
W

O
O

D
 D

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

4

B
E

R
K

L
E

Y
 D

R

PERRY TAP

M
IL

L
E

R
 S

T

W POINT TAP RD

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 426

COUNTY ROAD 1400

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4271

COUNTY ROAD 2142

COUNTY ROAD 4274

R
E

D
L

A
N

D
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
8

W
O

O
D

W
A

Y
 D

R

WILLOWBROOK WAY

GILBERT ST

SHADOW WOOD DR

COUNTY ROAD 4033

L
IL

A
C

 L
N

H
A

W
 S

T

N
 V

A
R

IA
H

 S
T

W GOOCH ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
0

NORTH ST

L
A

K
E

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2104

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 369

COUNTY ROAD 4657

HAPPY OAKS RD

ALPINE ST

B
E

R
M

U
D

A
 LN

SUNSET RD

COUNTY ROAD 3723

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

70
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
6

9
4

S
E

L
D

O
N

 S
T

ALABAMA ST

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

 B
LV

D

A
C

A
D

E
M

Y

K
E

N
T

 A
V

E

LY
N

C
H

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
5

LOAN OAK DR

COUNTY ROAD 3850

E DAVIS ST

Q
U

A
L

 R
ID

G
E

 R
D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

5

MAPLE ST

B
LA

C
K

JA
C

K
 D

R

BRAKENRIDGE ST

W
A

LT
O

N
 S

T

T
H

R
E

L
L

 S
T

HOMESTEAD DR

S
T

O
N

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 1420

W
 R

EAGAN S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 380

P
A

L
O

M
IN

O

W BRAZOS ST

EIGHTH ST

COUNTY ROAD 416

BELLVIEW DR

W NECHES ST

P
IN

E
R

ID
G

E
 S

T

E POPLAR ST

A
B

B
O

TT C
T

BEN MILAM

FIELD RD

OAKLAND ST

N JACKSON

COUNTY ROAD 2202

COUNTY ROAD 370

COUNTY ROAD 3204

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
10

1

RENNER

COUNTY ROAD 140

A
N

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 421

COUNTY ROAD 429

COUNTY ROAD 359

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY ROAD 378

TEJAS

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

2
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

14
4

COUNTY ROAD 427

V
E

N
T

U
R

E
 V

IE
W

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
3

0

N QUEEN ST

COUNTY ROAD 151

COUNTY ROAD 427

COUNTY R
OAD 3

59

COUNTY ROAD 422

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
1

0
1

O
LD

 E
LK

H
A

R
T

COUNTY ROAD 2140

COUNTY ROAD 403

W
 P

O
IN

T
 TA

P
 R

D

E LACY

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 1

42
0

N JACKSO
N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0

COUNTY ROAD 2202

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

0

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5
2

N
 Q

U
E

E
N

 S
T

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

10
1

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

R
A

N
G

E
 R

D

COUNTY ROAD 150

COUNTY ROAD 370

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

6"

8"

2"

3"

4"

1"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6" 6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

4"

6"

6"

3"

6"

2"
2"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

2"

6"

4"

6"

6" 4"

6"

6"

6"

1"

8"

8"

6"1"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"
6"

6"

2"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

2"

6"

3"

6"

1"

6"

6"

6"
1"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

8"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

8"

4"

8"

6"

8"

6"

2"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

4"

8"

6"

4"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

4"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

8"

2"

8"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

2"

6"

8"

6"

2"

8"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"
2"

1"

4"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

2"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

4"

4"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"
6"

2"

6"

6"

8"
6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

Old Salt Works Lake

Circle R Lake Number 1

Calhoun Lake Number 1

Lower City Lake

Lake Mary

Wolf Creek Lake

Upper City Lake

Circle R Lake Number 2

Pat Morris Lake

Blue Lake

Grover C Walker Lake

Swift Lake

Davey Lake

Town Creek

Basset Cr eek

M
an

so
n

Cre
ek

Chalybeate
C

reek

Keec
hie

Cree
k

W
il

lo
w

Sl
ou

gh

W
el

ls
C

re
ek

Wol f Cree
k

Stills Creek

Wells Creek Northwest

Fivemile Bra nch

Gum
Creek

Snake Creek

Sixmile Creek

Sa
dd

le
r

C
re

ek

Wells
Cree

k Trib
ut

ar
y

So
ut

h

Mack
C

re
ek

Wolf Creek

Sad
dler

C
reek

Basse
t Creek

Well

s Creek
N

orthw
est

Well
s Creek

Gum Creek

G
um

C
reek

Stills Creek

0 2,100 4,200

SCALE IN FEET

Created By Freese and Nichols, Inc.
Job No.:  PLT22291
Location: H:\W_WW_PLANNING\01_DELIVERABLES\11_DRAFT_REPORT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT.aprx\(Figure_C-2)-Ex_W_System_PHD_MaxVel
Updated: Wednesday, February 28, 2024 8:22 AM
User Name: 02499

LEGEND

Pressure Reducing Valve

Ground Storage Tank

Elevated Storage Tank

Pump Station

Water Treatment Plant

8" and Smaller Water Line

10" and Larger Water Line

Road

Stream

Lake

Parcel

City Limit

Pressure Plane

Lower

Upper

Central

South

DRAFT FIGURE C-2

CITY OF PALESTINE
EXISTING WATER SYSTEM
PEAK HOUR CONDITIONS

MAXIMUM VELOCITY

VELOCITY
Lines 12" and Larger

Less than 5 ft/s

Greater than 5 ft/s

Lines Smaller than 12"

Less than 7 ft/s

Greater than 7 ft/s

Exceeds velocity planning criteria - Values are in feet per second
(10.0)

12"



1.00 MG Willow Creek
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 725'

South Sycamore Pump Station
(3) - 0.86 MGD Pumps

(1) - 1.00 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 664'

North Jackson Pump Station
(2) - 0.36 MGD Pumps

(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.75 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 644'

0.15 MG North Jackson
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 766'

Water Treatment Plant
Firm Capacity: 8.92 MGD

(1) - 3.67 MGD Pump
(1) - 5.25 MGD Pump
(1) - 6.26 MGD Pump

(2) - 1.00 MG Clearwell Ground Storage Tanks(5.37) (5.38)

(5.2)

(13.62)

(8.99)

(4
0.

65
)

(7
.2

4)
(7

.6
6)

(7.23)

(2
1.

98
)

(15)

(12.65)

(8
.5

1)

(4
5.

73
)

(1
2.

23
)

(3
7.

28
)

12"

12"

12"
12"

12" 12"

6"

8"

10"

8"

6"

6"
8"

8"

6"

8"

8"

8"

6"

6"

12
"

14"

27
"

20"

18
"

16"

10"

10"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

16"

12"

14"

12"

10"

12"

10"

10
"

12
"

10"

12"

12
"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

14"

12"

12"

12"

12"

10"

12"

10"

10
"

16"

16"

10"

10"

12"

10"

10
"

10"

14
"

10"

10"

12"

10
"

10
"

10"

10
"

12"

12"

12"

18
"

10"

10"

12"

12"

10"

16"

10"

10"

12"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

12"

12"

10"

12
"

14"

12"

12
"

12"

10"

14"

12"

12"

14"

12"
12"

12"

12
"

12
"

10"

10"

12"

12"

10"

10"

16
"

10"

12"

27"

10"

12"

12"

14
"

10"

12"

10"

14"

10"

10"

27"

27
"

16"

12"

10"

10"

10"

12"

12"

12"

12"

16
"

16"

O
L

D
 E

L
K

H
A

R
T

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

67

B
A

S
S

E
T

T

S
 JA

C
K

S
O

N

COUNTY ROAD 153

E LACY

S
 R

O
Y

A
L

L
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

COUNTY ROAD 2212

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

25

COUNTY ROAD 386

E BRAZOS ST

A
R

M
O

R
Y

 R
D

R
O

Y
A

L

E NECHES ST

COUNTY ROAD 422

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
20

6

W CAROLINA ST

LAMAR ST

OAK

H
O

O
D

 S
T

COUNTY ROAD 2907

COUNTY R
OAD 4034

MOODY ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 151

N QUEEN ST

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 385

E ANGELINA ST

W LACY

M
A

Y
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2232

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4659

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 420

RANGE RD

W GREEN ST

COUNTY ROAD 419

S DO
RRANCE ST

INWOOD DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
5

6

C
E

D
A

R
 S

T

BENBRO
O

K DR

W KOLSTAD ST

COUNTY ROAD 2211

E
S

P
L

A
N

A
D

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 431

COUNTY ROAD 421

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

3

COUNTY ROAD 4665

LARRY ST

L
O

N
G

 L
N

COUNTY ROAD 147

COUNTY ROAD 152

PALM DR

COUNTY ROAD 150

D
R

E
X

E
L

 S
T

M
E

M
O

R
Y

C
O

T
TA

G
E

 A
V

E

S
 M

IC
H

E
A

U
X

 A
V

E

COUNTY ROAD 408

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 417

HILLTOP DR

W COOK ST

COUNTY ROAD 4253

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 404

T
E

X
A

S
 A

V
E

W CORONACA ST

T
E

X
A

S

COUNTY ROAD 2233

M
C

N
EI

L 
ST

L
IN

K
 S

T

GAY AVE

V
IR

G
IN

IA
 A

V
E

C
A

LH
O

U
N

 S
T

FAWN DR

W
E

S
L

E
Y

 D
R

N
IX

O
N

 S
T

E REAGAN ST

MOODY

EILENSTEIN ST

SANDY LN

L
E

L
IA

 S
T S

 V
A

R
IA

H

FIFTH ST

COUNTY ROAD 4251

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N
 D

R

W BURKITT ST

AV
EN

U
E 

B
 S

T

F
A

N
N

IN
 S

T

L
O

R
I L

N

O
LD ELKHART

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
2

COUNTY ROAD 2235

C
A

R
R

O
L

L
 D

R

L
IS

A
 L

N

TURNER DR

B
R

O
O

K
V

IE
W

 L
N

HOLMES ST

T
R

IM
B

L
E

 S
T

JOLLY ST

FAY WAY DR

SWIFT ST

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2140

JUNIPER DR

RICHLAND DR

COUNTY ROAD 2150

COUNTY ROAD 146

COUNTY ROAD 372

W SOUTH ST

W
A

LL
 S

T

O
H

IO
 S

T

B
O

Y
D

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
1

ANGLE ST

COUNTY ROAD 4259

LORETTA RD

COUNTY ROAD 1515

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

7

N
 F

O
R

T
 S

T

T
IM

B
E

R
L

IN
E

 T
R

L

B
R

O
N

C
O

SWANSON DR

C
A

D
D

O
 D

R

CRAWFORD

KENNY DR

B
E

N
T

W
O

O
D

 D
R

S
H

A
M

R
O

C
K

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2139

C
H

A
N

C
E

L
L

O
R

 S
T

HIGHLAND DR

N
A

N
N

IE
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
1

COUNTY ROAD 4252

RAGLAND ST

BROOKHOLLOW DR

SIERRA DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 6
04

9

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
54

SUG
AR L

N

COUNTY ROAD 155

BULLARD DR

RIDER RANCH RD

BROOKLYN AVE

CC SOUTH

COUNTY ROAD 4152

C
C

 E

B
L

U
E

 L
A

K
E

 R
D

JACINTO

SALT WORKS RD

CLAY ST

B
L

A
N

T
O

N
 R

D

L
A

K
E

V
IE

W
 A

V
E

STEPHANIE DR

CAPLIN

M
IT

Z
IE

 L
N

FA
R

R
IS

 L
N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
5

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 428

B
R

IS
T

O
L

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

32

L
U

D
O

L
P

H
 S

T

COUNTY ROAD 4250

H
A

M
ILT

O
N

 R
D

S
 M

A
G

N
O

L
IA

 S
T

M
IS

S
O

U
R

I S
T

LIN
E ST

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 433

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
25

4

N
A

V
A

JO

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3

COUNTY ROAD 4257

M L CARY ST

MEADOW BROOK DR

D
A

IS
Y

 L
N

MAVERICK DR

P
A

R
K

C
R

E
S

T
 D

R

S
E

M
IN

O
L

E
 S

T

W
O

O
D

R
ID

G
E

 S
T

UPPER LAKE R
D

M
O

N
IC

A
 L

N

A
N

D
E

R
S

O
N

 D
R

W
ORD DR

TA
T

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
7

PIC
KENS D

R

M
A

R
IO

N
 S

T

B
U

T
T

E
R

M
IL

K
 D

R

GILLESPIE

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
48LONGHORN DR

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

24

COUNTY ROAD 3732

P
E

C
A

N
 S

T

SH
ER

ID
A

N
 D

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
2

RAVINE DR

LINCOLN ST

COUNTY ROAD 9280

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3
1

C
O

M
A

N
C

H
E

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

4

PERRY TAP

M
IL

L
E

R
 S

T

W POINT TAP RD

H
O

W
A

R
D

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 426

COUNTY ROAD 1400

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4271

COUNTY ROAD 2142

COUNTY ROAD 4274

R
E

D
L

A
N

D
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
8

W
O

O
D

W
A

Y
 D

R

WILLOWBROOK WAY

W GIRAUD ST

SHADOW WOOD DR

COUNTY ROAD 4033

L
IL

A
C

 L
N

H
A

W
 S

T

W GOOCH ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
0

L
A

K
E

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2104

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 369

COUNTY ROAD 4657

HAPPY OAKS RD

W PINE ST

B
E

R
M

U
D

A
 LN

SUNSET RD

COUNTY ROAD 3723

E CORONACA ST

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

70
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
6

9
4

S
E

L
D

O
N

 S
T

ALABAMA ST

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

 B
LV

D

A
C

A
D

E
M

Y

K
E

N
T

 A
V

E

LY
N

C
H

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
5

LOAN OAK DR

WOODGATE DR

COUNTY ROAD 3850

G
L

E
N

W
O

O
D

 D
R

E DAVIS ST

Q
U

A
L

 R
ID

G
E

 R
D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

5

B
LA

C
K

JA
C

K
 D

R

W
A

LT
O

N
 S

T

T
H

R
E

L
L

 S
T

HOMESTEAD DR

S
T

O
N

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 1420

W
 R

EAGAN S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 380

P
A

L
O

M
IN

O

W BRAZOS ST

COUNTY ROAD 416

BELLVIEW DR

W NECHES ST

L
A

K
E

S
ID

E
 D

R

P
IN

E
R

ID
G

E
 S

T

A
B

B
O

TT C
T

BEN MILAM

FIELD RD

OAKLAND ST

N JACKSON

COUNTY ROAD 2202

PILLAR ST

COUNTY ROAD 370

COUNTY ROAD 3204

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
10

1

RENNER

COUNTY ROAD 140

A
N

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 421

COUNTY ROAD 429

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
59

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY ROAD 378

TEJAS

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

2
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

14
4

COUNTY ROAD 427

V
E

N
T

U
R

E
 V

IE
W

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
3

0

N QUEEN ST

COUNTY ROAD 2202

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

0

R
A

N
G

E
 R

D

N JACKSO
N

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

10
1

E LACY

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0

O
LD

 E
LK

H
A

R
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5
2

E REAGAN ST

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY ROAD 150

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 1

42
0

W
 P

O
IN

T
 TA

P
 R

D

COUNTY ROAD 370

S
 R

O
Y

A
L

L
 S

T

N
 Q

U
E

E
N

 S
T

COUNTY ROAD 359

T
E

X
A

S
 A

V
E

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

COUNTY ROAD 422

COUNTY ROAD 2140

COUNTY ROAD 151

COUNTY ROAD 427

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
1

0
1

6"

8"

2"

3"

4"

1"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"
6"

4"

6"

8"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

8"

8"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

2"

2"

1"

6"

6"

1"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

4"

6"

2"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

1"

6"

6"

6"

6"
6"

4"

6"

1"

8"

8"

2"

2"

8"

8"

6"

8"

6"

8"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

1"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

2"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

3"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

1"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

2"

8"

6"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"
8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"
8"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

1"

8"

6"

2"

4"

8"

1"

8"

6"

6"

6"

2"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

8"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

Old Salt Works Lake

Circle R Lake Number 1

Calhoun Lake Number 1

Lower City Lake

Lake Mary

Wolf Creek Lake

Upper City Lake

Circle R Lake Number 2

Pat Morris Lake

Blue Lake

Grover C Walker Lake

Swift Lake

Davey Lake

Town Creek

Basset Cr eek

M
an

so
n

Cre
ek

Chalybeate
C

reek

Keec
hie

Cree
k

W
il

lo
w

Sl
ou

gh

W
el

ls
C

re
ek

Wol f Cree
k

Stills Creek

Wells Creek Northwest

Fivemile Bra nch

Gum
Creek

Snake Creek

Sixmile Creek

Sa
dd

le
r

C
re

ek

Wells
Cree

k Trib
ut

ar
y

So
ut

h

Mack
C

re
ek

Well
s Creek

G
um

C
reek

Basse
t Creek

Stills Creek

Gum Creek

Well

s Creek
N

orthw
est

Sad
dler

C
reek

Wolf Creek

0 2,100 4,200

SCALE IN FEET

Created By Freese and Nichols, Inc.
Job No.:  PLT22291
Location: H:\W_WW_PLANNING\01_DELIVERABLES\11_DRAFT_REPORT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT.aprx\(Figure_C-3)-Ex_W_System_PHD_MaxHL
Updated: Wednesday, February 28, 2024 8:24 AM
User Name: 02499

LEGEND

Pressure Reducing Valve

Ground Storage Tank

Elevated Storage Tank

Pump Station

Water Treatment Plant

8" and Smaller Water Line

10" and Larger Water Line

Road

Stream

Lake

Parcel

City Limit

Pressure Plane

Lower

Upper

Central

South

DRAFT FIGURE C-3

CITY OF PALESTINE
EXISTING WATER SYSTEM
PEAK HOUR CONDITIONS

MAXIMUM HEADLOSS

HEADLOSS
Lines 12" and Larger

Less than 5 ft/1,000 ft

Greater than 5 ft/1,000 ft

Lines Smaller than 12"

Less than 7 ft/1,000 ft

Greater than 7 ft/1,000 ft

Exceeds headloss planning criteria - Values are in feet per 1,000 feet
(10.0)

12"



1.00 MG Willow Creek
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 725'

South Sycamore Pump Station
(3) - 0.86 MGD Pumps

(1) - 1.00 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 664'

North Jackson Pump Station
(2) - 0.36 MGD Pumps

(1) - 0.50 MG Ground Storage Tank
(1) - 0.75 MG Ground Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 644'

0.15 MG North Jackson
Elevated Storage Tank

Overflow Elev.: 766'

Water Treatment Plant
Firm Capacity: 8.92 MGD

(1) - 3.67 MGD Pump
(1) - 5.25 MGD Pump
(1) - 6.26 MGD Pump

(2) - 1.00 MG Clearwell Ground Storage Tanks

12
"

14"

27
"

20"

18
"

16"

10"

14"

10"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

10
"

10"

12"

12"

10
"

10"
12"

10"

14
"

12"

10
"

10"

10
"

14"

12"

12"

10"

10"

12
"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"
12"

16"

12
"

10"

10
"

27
"

10"

10"

12
"

10"

12"

10
"

10"

12"

10"

12"

27
"

12"

10"

12"

10"

16"

12"

12
"

12"

10"

27"

10"

14
"

14"

10"

12"

16
"

10" 10"

18
"

12"

10"

16"

12"

12"

10"

12"

12"

12
"

16"

27"

20
"

12"

12"

12"

12"

14"

12
"

12"

12"

12"

10"

10"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"

16"

12"

10
"

10
"

12"

10"

12"

10"

12"

12"

12"

14"

12"

12"

10"

10"

10"

16"

12"

10"

12"

10"

O
L

D
 E

L
K

H
A

R
T

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

67

B
A

S
S

E
T

T

S
 JA

C
K

S
O

N

COUNTY ROAD 153

E LACY

S
 R

O
Y

A
L

L
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

COUNTY ROAD 2212

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

25

COUNTY ROAD 386

E BRAZOS ST

A
R

M
O

R
Y

 R
D

R
O

Y
A

L

E NECHES ST

COUNTY ROAD 422

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
20

6

W CAROLINA ST

LAMAR ST

OAK

COUNTY ROAD 2907

COUNTY R
OAD 4034

MOODY ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 151

N QUEEN ST

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 385

E ANGELINA ST

W LACY

S
Y

C
A

M
O

R
E

T
E

N
N

E
S

S
E

E
 A

V
E

M
A

Y
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2232

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4659

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 420

RANGE RD

W GREEN ST

COUNTY ROAD 419

S DO
RRANCE ST

INWOOD DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
5

6

C
E

D
A

R
 S

T

BENBRO
O

K DR

W KOLSTAD ST

COUNTY ROAD 2211

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 431

COUNTY ROAD 421

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

3

COUNTY ROAD 4665

LARRY ST

L
O

N
G

 L
N

COUNTY ROAD 147

COUNTY ROAD 152

PALM DR

COUNTY ROAD 150

D
R

E
X

E
L

 S
T

M
E

M
O

R
Y

C
O

T
TA

G
E

 A
V

E

S
 M

IC
H

E
A

U
X

 A
V

E

COUNTY ROAD 408

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 417

HILLTOP DR

W COOK ST

COUNTY ROAD 4253

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 404

T
E

X
A

S
 A

V
E

W CORONACA ST

T
E

X
A

S

COUNTY ROAD 2233

M
C

N
EI

L 
ST

L
IN

K
 S

T

GAY AVE

V
IR

G
IN

IA
 A

V
E

C
A

LH
O

U
N

 S
T

FAWN DR

W
E

S
L

E
Y

 D
R

N
IX

O
N

 S
T

E REAGAN ST

MOODY

EILENSTEIN ST

SANDY LN

L
E

L
IA

 S
T S

 V
A

R
IA

H

FIFTH ST

COUNTY ROAD 4251

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N
 D

R

W BURKITT ST

AV
EN

U
E 

B
 S

T

F
A

N
N

IN
 S

T

L
O

R
I L

N

O
LD ELKHART

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
2

COUNTY ROAD 2235

C
A

R
R

O
L

L
 D

R

L
IS

A
 L

N

TURNER DR

B
R

O
O

K
V

IE
W

 L
N

HOLMES ST

T
R

IM
B

L
E

 S
T

JOLLY ST

FAY WAY DR

SWIFT ST

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2140

JU
N

IP
E

R
 D

R

RICHLAND DR

COUNTY ROAD 2150

COUNTY ROAD 146

COUNTY ROAD 372

W SOUTH ST

W
A

LL
 S

T

O
H

IO
 S

T

B
O

Y
D

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

2
1

ANGLE ST

COUNTY ROAD 4259

LORETTA RD

COUNTY ROAD 1515

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

7

N
 F

O
R

T
 S

T

T
IM

B
E

R
L

IN
E

 T
R

L

B
R

O
N

C
O

SWANSON DR

C
A

D
D

O
 D

R

CRAWFORD

KENNY DR

B
E

N
T

W
O

O
D

 D
R

S
H

A
M

R
O

C
K

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2139

C
H

A
N

C
E

L
L

O
R

 S
T

HIGHLAND DR

N
A

N
N

IE
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
1

COUNTY ROAD 4252

RAGLAND ST

BROOKHOLLOW DR

SIERRA DR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 6
04

9

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
54

SUG
AR L

N

N
 JO

H
N

 S
T

COUNTY ROAD 155

BULLARD DR

RIDER RANCH RD

BROOKLYN AVE

CC SOUTH

COUNTY ROAD 4152

C
C

 E

B
L

U
E

 L
A

K
E

 R
D

SALT WORKS RD

CLAY ST

L
A

K
E

V
IE

W
 A

V
E

STEPHANIE DR

CAPLIN

M
IT

Z
IE

 L
N

FA
R

R
IS

 L
N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
5

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 428

B
R

IS
T

O
L

 R
D

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

32

L
U

D
O

L
P

H
 S

T

COUNTY ROAD 4250

H
A

M
ILT

O
N

 R
D

S
 M

A
G

N
O

L
IA

 S
T

M
IS

S
O

U
R

I S
T

LIN
E ST

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 433

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
25

4

N
A

V
A

JO

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3

COUNTY ROAD 4257

M L CARY ST

MEADOW BROOK DR

D
A

IS
Y

 L
N

MAVERICK DR

P
A

R
K

C
R

E
S

T
 D

R

S
E

M
IN

O
L

E
 S

T

W
O

O
D

R
ID

G
E

 S
T

UPPER LAKE R
D

M
O

N
IC

A
 L

N

A
N

D
E

R
S

O
N

 D
R

W
ORD DR

TA
T

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
7

PIC
KENS D

R

M
A

R
IO

N
 S

T

B
U

T
T

E
R

M
IL

K
 D

R

GILLESPIE

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
48LONGHORN DR

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4

24

COUNTY ROAD 3732

P
E

C
A

N
 S

T

SH
ER

ID
A

N
 D

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
2

RAVINE DR

LINCOLN ST

COUNTY ROAD 9280

SEVENTH ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

3
1

C
O

M
A

N
C

H
E

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
8

4

PERRY TAP

M
IL

L
E

R
 S

T

W POINT TAP RD

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 426

COUNTY ROAD 1400

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 4271

COUNTY ROAD 2142

COUNTY ROAD 4274

R
E

D
L

A
N

D
 L

N

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
2

0
8

W
O

O
D

W
A

Y
 D

R

WILLOWBROOK WAY

W GIRAUD ST

GILBERT ST

SHADOW WOOD DR

COUNTY ROAD 4033

CATALPA ST

L
IL

A
C

 L
N

H
A

W
 S

T

N
 V

A
R

IA
H

 S
T

W GOOCH ST

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
4

3
0

NORTH ST

L
A

K
E

 D
R

COUNTY ROAD 2104

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 369

COUNTY ROAD 4657

HAPPY OAKS RD

ALPINE ST

B
E

R
M

U
D

A
 LN

SUNSET RD

COUNTY ROAD 3723

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 3

70
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
6

9
4

S
E

L
D

O
N

 S
T

ALABAMA ST

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

 B
LV

D

A
C

A
D

E
M

Y

K
E

N
T

 A
V

E

LY
N

C
H

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0
5

LOAN OAK DR

WOODGATE DR

COUNTY ROAD 3850

G
L

E
N

W
O

O
D

 D
R

E DAVIS ST

Q
U

A
L

 R
ID

G
E

 R
D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

5

MAPLE ST

W
A

LT
O

N
 S

T

T
H

R
E

L
L

 S
T

HOMESTEAD DR

S
T

O
N

E
 S

T

C
O

U
N

TY R
O

A
D

 1420

W
 R

EAGAN S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 380

P
A

L
O

M
IN

O

W BRAZOS ST

COUNTY ROAD 416

BELLVIEW DR

W NECHES ST

L
A

K
E

S
ID

E
 D

R

P
IN

E
R

ID
G

E
 S

T

E POPLAR ST

A
B

B
O

TT C
T

BEN MILAM

FIELD RD

OAKLAND ST

N JACKSON

COUNTY ROAD 2202

COUNTY ROAD 370

COUNTY ROAD 3204

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
10

1

RENNER

COUNTY ROAD 140

A
N

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 421

COUNTY ROAD 429

COUNTY ROAD 359

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY ROAD 378

TEJAS

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

2
1

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

14
4

COUNTY ROAD 427

V
E

N
T

U
R

E
 V

IE
W

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
3

0

S
 R

O
Y

A
L

L
 S

T

COUNTY ROAD 403

COUNTY R
OAD 3

59

W
 P

O
IN

T
 TA

P
 R

D

N JACKSO
N

R
A

N
G

E
 R

D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

9

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 1

42
0

N
 Q

U
E

E
N

 S
T

COUNTY ROAD 2140

COUNTY ROAD 422

COUNTY ROAD 150

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 2
1

0
1

N QUEEN ST

G
A

R
D

N
E

R

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 3
7

0

O
LD

 E
LK

H
A

R
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 1
4

0

E LACY

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
O

A
D

 4
1

5
2

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

O
A

D
 2

10
1

COUNTY ROAD 151

COUNTY ROAD 2202

COUNTY ROAD 427

E REAGAN ST

COUNTY ROAD 370

6"

8"

2"

3"

4"

1"

6"

6"

2"

8"

6"

6"

8"
6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

1"

2"

2"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

4"

4"

6"

8"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

8"

2"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

2"

2"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

1"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

8"

8"

6"

1"

1"

8"

8"

6"
6"

8"
6"

8"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

8"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

3"

6"

6"

2"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

1"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

8"

6"

6"
2"

6"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"
6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

8"

6"

2"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

4"

6"

6"

6"

6"

4"

8"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

8"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

2"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"
6"

6"
6"

8"

8"

6"

8"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

8"

6"
6"

6"

8"

2"

6"

2"

6"

6"

8"

Old Salt Works Lake

Circle R Lake Number 1

Calhoun Lake Number 1

Lower City Lake

Lake Mary

Wolf Creek Lake

Upper City Lake

Circle R Lake Number 2

Pat Morris Lake

Blue Lake

Grover C Walker Lake

Swift Lake

Davey Lake

Town Creek

Bas
set Creek

M
an

so
n

Cre
ek

Chalybeate
C

reek

Keec
hie

Cree
k

W
il

lo
w

Sl
ou

gh

W
el

ls
C

re
ek

Wol f Cree
k

Stills Creek

Wells Creek Northwest

Fivemile Bra nch

Gum
Creek

Snake Creek

Sixmile Creek

Sa
dd

le
r

C
re

ek

Wells
Cree

k Trib
ut

ar
y

So
ut

h

Mack
C

re
ek

Sad
dler

C
reek

G
um

C
reek

Basse
t Creek

Stills Creek

Gum Creek

Wolf Creek

Well
s Creek

Well

s Creek
N

orthw
est

0 2,100 4,200

SCALE IN FEET

Created By Freese and Nichols, Inc.
Job No.:  PLT22291
Location: H:\W_WW_PLANNING\01_DELIVERABLES\11_DRAFT_REPORT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT\DRAFT_REPORT_PRO_PROJECT.aprx\(Figure_C-4)-Ex_W_System_MDD_AvailFF
Updated: Wednesday, February 28, 2024 8:25 AM
User Name: 02499

LEGEND

Pressure Reducing Valve

Ground Storage Tank

Elevated Storage Tank

Pump Station

Water Treatment Plant

8" and Smaller Water Line

10" and Larger Water Line

Road

Stream

Lake

Parcel

City Limit

Pressure Plane

Lower

Upper

Central

South

DRAFT FIGURE C-4

CITY OF PALESTINE
EXISTING WATER SYSTEM

MAXIMUM DAY CONDITIONS
AVAILABLE FIRE FLOW

AVAILABLE FIRE FLOW

Less than 500 gpm

500 - 1,000 gpm

1,000 - 1,500 gpm

1,500 - 3,000 gpm

Greater than 3,000 gpm



DRAFT 2023 Water Master Plan Update 

City of Palestine 

 

 

APPENDIX D 

ESTIMATED WATER CIP OPINION OF PROBABLE 

CONSTRUCTION COSTS 

 

 



1 Existing Deficiency

ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 8,900 LF 320$             2,848,000$                  

2 120 LF 160$             19,200$                        

3 9,020 LF 100$             902,000$                     

3,769,200$                  

30% 1,130,800$                  

4,900,000$                  

20% 980,000$                     

5,880,000$                  

5,880,000$                  

SUBTOTAL:

Estimated Project Total:
Comments: The Engineer has no control over the cost and labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of 

determining prices or over competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on 

the information known to the Engineer at this time and represent only the Engineer's judgement as a design professional 

familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs.

SUBTOTAL:
CONTINGENCY

SUBTOTAL:
ENG/SURVEY

Concrete Pavement Repair

Opinion of Probable Construction Cost
DESCRIPTION

16" WL & Appurtenances

8" WL & Appurtenances

Project Description: Vicinity Map

This improvement consists of the construction of a 16-inch water 

line replacing the existing 10/12-inch water line from Head Street 

to Texas Avenue. This improvement also includes the construction 

of a 8-inch water line replacing the existing 6-inch water line along 

W Lacy Street from N Queen Street to N Rainey Street. 

Project Drivers:

This improvement will increase the transmission capacity in the 

central area of the City to the South and Lower Pressure Planes. 

This improvement will also increase looping and redundancy within 

the system. 

Construction Project Number:

Project Name: 16-inch Downtown Water Line Replacement

Project Driver:

DRAFT Capital Improvement Cost Estimate March 2024

City of Palestine



DRAFT Capital Improvement Cost Estimate March 2024

City of Palestine

2 Existing Deficiency

ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 3,000 LF 320$             960,000$                     

2 3,200 LF 240$             768,000$                     

3 4,200 LF 100$             420,000$                     

4 58,000 SF 6$                  348,000$                     

2,496,000$                  

30% 748,800$                     

3,244,800$                  

20% 649,000$                     

3,893,800$                  

3,893,800$                  

SUBTOTAL:
Estimated Project Total:

Comments: The Engineer has no control over the cost and labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of 

determining prices or over competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on 

the information known to the Engineer at this time and represent only the Engineer's judgement as a design professional 

familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs.

SUBTOTAL:
CONTINGENCY

SUBTOTAL:
ENG/SURVEY

Concrete Pavement Repair

ROW/Easement

Opinion of Probable Construction Cost
DESCRIPTION

16" WL & Appurtenances

12" WL & Appurtenances

Project Name:

Martin Luther King Jr Boulevard 16-inch Water Line Replacement and Variah Street 

12-inch Extension

Project Description: Vicinity Map

This improvement consists of the construction of 16-inch water line 

replacing the existing 12-inch water line along Martin Luther King Jr 

Boulevard from Texas Avenue to Robinson Street. This project also 

includes a 12-inch water line replacing the existing 10-inch water 

line along Variah Street and will extend south to connect with the 

existing 8-inch water line at W Palestine Avenue and W Oak Street.  

Project Drivers:

This improvement will increase the transmission capacity in the 

central area of the City to the South and Lower Pressure Planes. 

This improvement will also increase looping and redundancy within 

the system. 

Project Driver:Construction Project Number:



DRAFT Capital Improvement Cost Estimate March 2024

City of Palestine

3 Existing Deficiency

ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 5,800 LF 240$             1,392,000$                  

2 1,000 LF 200$             200,000$                     

3 6,800 LF 100$             680,000$                     

2,272,000$                  

30% 681,600$                     

2,953,600$                  

20% 590,800$                     

3,544,400$                  

3,544,400$                  

SUBTOTAL:
Estimated Project Total:

Comments: The Engineer has no control over the cost and labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of 

determining prices or over competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on 

the information known to the Engineer at this time and represent only the Engineer's judgement as a design professional 

familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs.

SUBTOTAL:
CONTINGENCY

SUBTOTAL:
ENG/SURVEY

Concrete Pavement Repair

Opinion of Probable Construction Cost
DESCRIPTION

12" WL & Appurtenances

10" WL & Appurtenances

Project Name:

W Oak Street 12-inch Water Line Replacement and 10-inch 7th Street Water Line 

Extension

Project Description: Vicinity Map

This improvement consists of the construction of a 12-inch water 

line replacing the existing 6/10-inch water line along W Palestine 

Avenue and W Oak Streett between Court Drive and W Point Tap 

Road. This improvement also includes the replacement of the 

existing 8/6-inch water line at Westwood Road and 7th Street with 

a 10-inch water line along 7th Street from Westwood Road to the 

proposed 12-inch water line along W Oak Street.

Project Drivers:

This improvement will increase the transmission capacity in the 

central area of the City to the South and Lower Pressure Planes. 

This improvement will also increase looping and redundancy within 

the system. 

Construction Project Number: Project Driver:



DRAFT Capital Improvement Cost Estimate March 2024

City of Palestine

4 Existing Deficiency

ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 5,500 LF 240$             1,320,000$                  

2 5,000 LF 100$             500,000$                     

1,820,000$                  

30% 546,000$                     

2,366,000$                  

20% 473,200$                     

2,839,200$                  

2,839,200$                  

SUBTOTAL:

Estimated Project Total:
Comments: The Engineer has no control over the cost and labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of 

determining prices or over competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on 

the information known to the Engineer at this time and represent only the Engineer's judgement as a design professional 

familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs.

SUBTOTAL:
CONTINGENCY

SUBTOTAL:
ENG/SURVEY

Opinion of Probable Construction Cost
DESCRIPTION

12" WL & Appurtenances

Concrete Pavement Repair

Project Name: Central and Lower Pressure Plane 12-inch Water Line Replacement 

Project Description: Vicinity Map

This improvement consists of the construction of a 12-inch water 

line replacing the existing 8-inch water line along W Oak Street 

between Point Tap Road and Tile Factory Road. 

Project Drivers:

This improvement will increase the transmission capacity in the 

central area of the City to the South and Lower Pressure Planes. 

This improvement will also increase looping and redundancy within 

the system. 

Project Driver:Construction Project Number:



DRAFT Capital Improvement Cost Estimate March 2024

City of Palestine

5 Existing Deficiency

ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 3,100 LF 400$             1,240,000$                  

2 1,000 LF 100$             100,000$                     

1,340,000$                  

30% 402,000$                     

1,742,000$                  

20% 348,400$                     

2,090,400$                  

2,090,400$                  

SUBTOTAL:
Estimated Project Total:

Comments: The Engineer has no control over the cost and labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of 

determining prices or over competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on 

the information known to the Engineer at this time and represent only the Engineer's judgement as a design professional 

familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs.

SUBTOTAL:
CONTINGENCY

SUBTOTAL:
ENG/SURVEY

Opinion of Probable Construction Cost
DESCRIPTION

20" WL & Appurtenances

Concrete Pavement Repair

Project Name: Loop 256 20-inch Water Line Replacement

Project Description: Vicinity Map

This improvement consists of the construction of a 20-inch water 

line replacing the existing 12-inch water line along N Loop 256 

between E Palestine Avenue and State HW 156.

Project Drivers:

This improvement will increase the transmission capacity to the 

North Jackson Pump Station and increase looping and redundancy 

within the system.

Project Driver:Construction Project Number:



DRAFT Capital Improvement Cost Estimate March 2024

City of Palestine

6 Existing Deficiency

ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 8,000 LF 320$             2,560,000$                  

2 2,000 LF 100$             200,000$                     

2,760,000$                  

30% 828,000$                     

3,588,000$                  

20% 717,600$                     

4,305,600$                  

4,305,600$                  

SUBTOTAL:
Estimated Project Total:

Comments: The Engineer has no control over the cost and labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of 

determining prices or over competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on 

the information known to the Engineer at this time and represent only the Engineer's judgement as a design professional 

familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs.

SUBTOTAL:
CONTINGENCY

SUBTOTAL:
ENG/SURVEY

Opinion of Probable Construction Cost
DESCRIPTION

16" WL & Appurtenances

Concrete Pavement Repair

Project Name: Loop 256 16-inch Water Line Replacement

Project Description: Vicinity Map

This improvement consists of the construction of a 16-inch water 

line replacing the existing 12-inch water line along N Loop 256 

between State HW 156 and the North Jackson Pump Station.

Project Drivers:

This improvement will increase the transmission capacity to the 

North Jackson Pump Station and increase looping and redundancy 

within the system.

Project Driver:Construction Project Number:



DRAFT Capital Improvement Cost Estimate March 2024

City of Palestine

7 Existing Deficiency

ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 4,500 LF 320$             1,440,000$                  

2 150 LF 600$             90,000$                        

3 3,900 LF 100$             390,000$                     

1,920,000$                  

30% 576,000$                     

2,496,000$                  

20% 499,200$                     

2,995,200$                  

2,995,200$                  

SUBTOTAL:

Estimated Project Total:
Comments: The Engineer has no control over the cost and labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of 

determining prices or over competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on 

the information known to the Engineer at this time and represent only the Engineer's judgement as a design professional 

familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs.

SUBTOTAL:
CONTINGENCY

SUBTOTAL:
ENG/SURVEY

Concrete Pavement Repair

Opinion of Probable Construction Cost
DESCRIPTION

16" WL & Appurtenances

30" Boring and Casing

Project Name: S Sycamore Street 16-inch Water Line Replacement

Project Description: Vicinity Map

This improvement consists of the construction of a 16-inch water 

line replacing the existing 12-inch water line along S Sycamore 

Street between W Huffsmith Street and the South Sycamore Pump 

Station. 

Project Drivers:

This improvement will increase the transmission capacity to the 

South Sycamore Pump Station and increase looping and 

redundancy within the system.

Project Driver:Construction Project Number:



8 Future Growth 

ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 1 LS 2,250,000$  2,250,000$                  

2 1 LS 5,700,000$  5,700,000$                  

7,950,000$                  

30% 2,385,000$                  

10,335,000$                

20% 2,067,000$                  

12,402,000$                

12,402,000$                

DRAFT Capital Improvement Cost Estimate March 2024

City of Palestine

Project Description: Vicinity Map

This improvement consists of the construction of a 1.0 MGD 

clearwell at the Water Treatment Plant. This improvement also 

includes replacing the existing 3.67 MGD pump at the Water 

Treatment Plant High Service Pump Station with a 4.75 MGD pump 

to increase the firm capacity to 10.0 MGD.

Project Drivers:

This improvement will increase the pumping and storage capacity 

at the Water Treatment Plant to serve the future growth in the 

Central, Upper, and South Pressure Planes. 

Construction Project Number: Project Driver:

Project Name: Water Treatment Plant High Service Pump Station Expansion

Opinion of Probable Construction Cost
DESCRIPTION

1.0 MG Clearwell

4.75 MGD Pump

SUBTOTAL:

Estimated Project Total:
Comments: The Engineer has no control over the cost and labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of 

determining prices or over competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on 

the information known to the Engineer at this time and represent only the Engineer's judgement as a design professional 

familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs.

SUBTOTAL:
CONTINGENCY

SUBTOTAL:
ENG/SURVEY



DRAFT Capital Improvement Cost Estimate March 2024

City of Palestine

9 Future Growth 

ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 4,000 LF 240$             960,000$                     

2 3,900 LF 100$             390,000$                     

3 33,000 SF 6$                  198,000$                     

1,548,000$                  

30% 464,400$                     

2,012,400$                  

20% 402,500$                     

2,414,900$                  

2,414,900$                  

Construction Project Number: Project Driver:

Project Name: State HW 155 12-inch Water Line Replacement and Extension

Project Description: Vicinity Map
This improvement consists of the construction of a 12-inch water 

line replacing the existing 6-inch water line along State HW 155 

between Kickapoo Street and E Palestine Avenue. This 

improvement also includes the construction of a 12-inch water line 

connecting the proposed 20-inch water line at State HW 155 and 

Brushy Creek Road to the proposed 12-inch water line at State HW 

155 and Kickapoo Street.

Project Drivers:

This improvement will provide additional transmission capacity 

through the central part of the City to serve future growth in the 

Central and Upper Pressure Planes. This improvement will also 

improve looping and redundancy within the system. 

ROW/Easement

Opinion of Probable Construction Cost
DESCRIPTION

12" WL & Appurtenances

Concrete Pavement Repair

SUBTOTAL:
Estimated Project Total:

Comments: The Engineer has no control over the cost and labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of 

determining prices or over competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on 

the information known to the Engineer at this time and represent only the Engineer's judgement as a design professional 

familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs.

SUBTOTAL:
CONTINGENCY

SUBTOTAL:
ENG/SURVEY



DRAFT Capital Improvement Cost Estimate March 2024

City of Palestine

10 Future Growth 

ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 3,500 LF 240$             840,000$                     

2 3,500 LF 100$             350,000$                     

1,190,000$                  

30% 357,000$                     

1,547,000$                  

20% 309,400$                     

1,856,400$                  

1,856,400$                  

Construction Project Number: Project Driver:

Project Name: E Palestine Avenue 12-inch Water Line Replacement

Project Description: Vicinity Map

This improvement consists of the construction of a 12-inch water 

line replacing the existing 6-inch water line along E Palestine 

Avenue between N Mallard Street and N Jackson Street.

Project Drivers:

This improvement will provide additional transmission capacity 

through the central part of the City to serve future growth in the 

Central and Upper Pressure Planes. This improvement will also 

improve looping and redundancy within the system. 

Opinion of Probable Construction Cost
DESCRIPTION

12" WL & Appurtenances

Concrete Pavement Repair

SUBTOTAL:

Estimated Project Total:
Comments: The Engineer has no control over the cost and labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of 

determining prices or over competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on 

the information known to the Engineer at this time and represent only the Engineer's judgement as a design professional 

familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs.

SUBTOTAL:
CONTINGENCY

SUBTOTAL:
ENG/SURVEY



DRAFT Capital Improvement Cost Estimate March 2024

City of Palestine

11 Future Growth 

ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 2,400 LF 320$             768,000$                     

2 2,800 LF 240$             672,000$                     

3 5,000 LF 100$             500,000$                     

1,940,000$                  

30% 582,000$                     

2,522,000$                  

20% 504,400$                     

3,026,400$                  

3,026,400$                  

Construction Project Number: Project Driver:

Project Name: Crockett Road 12/16-inch Water Line Replacement 

Project Description: Vicinity Map

This improvement consists of the construction of a 16-inch water 

line replacing the existing 12-inch water line along E Huffsmith 

Street between S Sycamore Street and Crockett Road. This 

improvement also consists of the construction of a 12-inch water 

line replacing the existing 8-inch water line along Crockett Road 

between E Huffsmith Street and Crestline Drive.

Project Drivers:

This improvement will provide additional transmission capacity to 

service future developments in the southeast part of the system. 

Concrete Pavement Repair

Opinion of Probable Construction Cost
DESCRIPTION

16" WL & Appurtenances

12" WL & Appurtenances

SUBTOTAL:

Estimated Project Total:
Comments: The Engineer has no control over the cost and labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of 

determining prices or over competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on 

the information known to the Engineer at this time and represent only the Engineer's judgement as a design professional 

familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs.

SUBTOTAL:
CONTINGENCY

SUBTOTAL:
ENG/SURVEY



DRAFT Capital Improvement Cost Estimate March 2024

City of Palestine

12 Future Growth 

ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 23,000 LF 240$             5,520,000$                  

2 18,500 LF 100$             1,850,000$                  

3 460,000 SF 6$                  2,760,000$                  

10,130,000$                

30% 3,039,000$                  

13,169,000$                

20% 2,633,800$                  

15,802,800$                

15,802,800$                

Construction Project Number: Project Driver:

Project Name: 12-inch South Loop Water Line

Project Description: Vicinity Map

This improvement consists of the construction of a 12-inch water 

line looping from the existing 12-inch water line along S Sycamore 

Street near the Willow Creek EST west along Anderson County 

Road 2140, and north along Anderson County Road 2101 looping 

back to the existing 12-inch along Willow Creek Parkway.

Project Drivers:

This improvement will provide water service to potential future 

development in the South Pressure Plane. This project will also 

provide increased transmission capacity, looping, and fire flow 

capacity. 

ROW/Easement

Opinion of Probable Construction Cost
DESCRIPTION

12" WL & Appurtenances

Concrete Pavement Repair

SUBTOTAL:

Estimated Project Total:
Comments: The Engineer has no control over the cost and labor, materials, equipment, or over the Contractor's methods of 

determining prices or over competitive bidding or market conditions. Opinions of probable costs provided herein are based on 

the information known to the Engineer at this time and represent only the Engineer's judgement as a design professional 

familiar with the construction industry. The Engineer cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

construction costs will not vary from its opinions of probable costs.

SUBTOTAL:
CONTINGENCY

SUBTOTAL:
ENG/SURVEY



 

 

 
 

C i t y  o f  P a l e s t i n e  
D R A F T  W a t e r  M a s t e r  P l a n  U p d a t e  
M a r c h  2 0 2 4   

 

FREESE AND NICHOLS, INC. 
801 Cherry Street 
Suite 2800 
Fort Worth, TX 76102 
817-735-7300 
  
  
www.freese.com 



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Kimberly Beckman, Public Works Admin
Agenda Item: Discuss expansion of possible Palestine Municipal Airport 
Date Submitted: 04/17/2024

SUMMARY:
Discuss expansion of possible Palestine Municipal Airport hangars and taxiways. We have four
individuals expressing interest in building new hangars. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
No required action. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
KSA 
Utilities Map 
Drawing 









Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Teresa Herrera, City Manager
Agenda Item: Boards, commissions and committees
Date Submitted:

SUMMARY:
From the City Charter:
Sec. 6.6. - Boards, commissions and committees.

The mayor, with advice of the city council, shall submit all appointments of members of boards,
commissions, or committees of the City of Palestine, whether the same are created by this charter,
ordinance, or state law, and such appointments shall be subject to confirmation of the city council.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff will receive guidance from Council.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Andrew Sibai, Finance Director
Agenda Item: Presentation of the Certificate of Achievement for the Fiscal Year 2022 Annual

Comprehensive Financial Report
Date Submitted: 04/17/2024

SUMMARY:
This is to present an award to the City of Palestine for Excellence in Financial Reporting for Fiscal Year
2022. The City has received the award for the last five consecutive years.

Thank you to the Finance Department for your hard work!

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
No action needed

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Certificate of Award 
Press Release 



Government Finance Officers Association

Certificate of 
Achievement
for Excellence

in Financial 
Reporting

Presented to

City of Palestine
Texas

For its Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report

For the Fiscal Year Ended

September 30, 2022

Executive Director/CEO



FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

12/6/2023 For more information contact: 
Michele Mark Levine, Director/TSC
Phone: (312) 977-9700
Fax: (312) 977-4806
Email: mlevine@gfoa.org

(Chicago, Illinois)—Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) has 
awarded the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to City of Palestine for its annual 
comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022. The report has been judged by an 
impartial panel to meet the high standards of the program, which includes demonstrating a constructive "spirit 
of full disclosure" to clearly communicate its financial story and motivate potential users and user groups to read 
the report. 

The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in the area of governmental accounting and 
financial reporting, and its attainment represents a significant accomplishment by a government and its 
management.

Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) advances excellence in government finance by providing best 
practices, professional development, resources, and practical research for more than 21,000 members and the 
communities they serve.



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Mark Harcrow, Chief of Police
Agenda Item: Police Department Reports
Date Submitted: 04/17/2024

SUMMARY:
Monthly reports for March 2024 and the 2023 Racial Profiling Report. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Report only. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
2023 Racial Profiling Report 
CID Stats March 2024 
PPD Stats March 2024 
PLACE Stats March 2024 
2023 Racial Profiling Charts 



YEAR analysis filing_status submission_date REGION ZIP_CODE

2023 TCOLE Full 02/12/2024 001203 5 75801

DEPARTME
NT_NAME

DEPARTME
NT_NUMBE
R

COUNTY_N
AME

CHIEF_AD
MIN_NAME

PALESTINE 
POLICE 
DEPT.

ANDERSO
N 

MARK A. 
HARCROW 
JR



total_stops sex_female sex_male

5461 2091 2 7 575 1176 331 3370 12 18 1049

sex_female
_native

sex_female
_asian

sex_female
_black

sex_female
_white

sex_female
_hispanic

sex_male_n
ative

sex_male_a
sian

sex_male_bl
ack



race_native race_asian race_black race_white

1575 716 14 25 1624 2751 1047 512 4949 198 1

sex_male_w
hite

sex_male_hi
spanic

race_hispan
ic

race_known
_yes

race_known
_no

reason_viol
ation_of_la
w

reason_viol
ation_of_la
w_native



1 69 38 89 76 0 0 30 33 13 4305

reason_viol
ation_of_la
w_asian

reason_viol
ation_of_la
w_black

reason_viol
ation_of_la
w_white

reason_viol
ation_of_la
w_hispanic

reason_pre
_existing_k
nowledge

reason_pre
_existing_k
nowledge_
native

reason_pre
_existing_k
nowledge_
asian

reason_pre
_existing_k
nowledge_
black

reason_pre
_existing_k
nowledge_
white

reason_pre
_existing_k
nowledge_
hispanic

reason_mo
ving_traffic
_violation



12 22 1213 2227 831 882 1 2 312 402 165

reason_mo
ving_traffic
_violation_n
ative

reason_mo
ving_traffic
_violation_a
sian

reason_mo
ving_traffic
_violation_b
lack

reason_mo
ving_traffic
_violation_
white

reason_mo
ving_traffic
_violation_h
ispanic

reason_vehi
cle_traffic_v
iolation

reason_vehi
cle_traffic_v
iolation_nat
ive

reason_vehi
cle_traffic_v
iolation_asi
an

reason_vehi
cle_traffic_v
iolation_bla
ck

reason_vehi
cle_traffic_v
iolation_wh
ite

reason_vehi
cle_traffic_v
iolation_his
panic



4554 424 10 417 56 394 0 0 146 183 65

location_cit
y_street

location_us
_highway

location_co
unty_road

location_st
ate_highwa
y

location_pri
vate_prope
rty_other

search_con
ducted_yes

search_con
ducted_yes
_native

search_con
ducted_yes
_asian

search_con
ducted_yes
_black

search_con
ducted_yes
_white

search_con
ducted_yes
_hispanic



5067 14 25 1478 2568 982 130 0 0 35 73

search_con
ducted_no

search_con
ducted_no_
native

search_con
ducted_no_
asian

search_con
ducted_no_
black

search_con
ducted_no_
white

search_con
ducted_no_
hispanic

search_reas
on_consent

search_reas
on_consent
_native

search_reas
on_consent
_asian

search_reas
on_consent
_black

search_reas
on_consent
_white



22 19 0 0 12 5 2 214 0 0 88

search_reas
on_consent
_hispanic

search_reas
on_contrab
and

search_reas
on_contrab
and_native

search_reas
on_contrab
and_asian

search_reas
on_contrab
and_black

search_reas
on_contrab
and_white

search_reas
on_contrab
and_hispani
c

search_reas
on_probabl
e

search_reas
on_probabl
e_native

search_reas
on_probabl
e_asian

search_reas
on_probabl
e_black



91 35 15 0 0 3 6 6 16 0 0

search_reas
on_probabl
e_white

search_reas
on_probabl
e_hispanic

search_reas
on_inventor
y

search_reas
on_inventor
y_native

search_reas
on_inventor
y_asian

search_reas
on_inventor
y_black

search_reas
on_inventor
y_white

search_reas
on_inventor
y_hispanic

search_reas
on_incident
_to_arrest

search_reas
on_incident
_to_arrest_
native

search_reas
on_incident
_to_arrest_a
sian



8 8 0 264 0 0 0 0 0 0 107

search_reas
on_incident
_to_arrest_
black

search_reas
on_incident
_to_arrest_
white

search_reas
on_incident
_to_arrest_
hispanic

contraband
_discovered
_yes

contraband
_discovered
_yes_native

contraband
_discovered
_yes_native
_arrested_y
es

contraband
_discovered
_yes_native
_arrested_n
o

contraband
_discovered
_yes_asian

contraband
_discovered
_yes_asian_
arrested_ye
s

contraband
_discovered
_yes_asian_
arrested_no

contraband
_discovered
_yes_black



0 0 125 0 0 32 0 0 130 0 0

contraband
_discovered
_yes_black_
arrested_ye
s

contraband
_discovered
_yes_black_
arrested_no

contraband
_discovered
_yes_white

contraband
_discovered
_yes_white_
arrested_ye
s

contraband
_discovered
_yes_white_
arrested_no

contraband
_discovered
_yes_hispan
ic

contraband
_discovered
_yes_hispan
ic_arrested_
yes

contraband
_discovered
_yes_hispan
ic_arrested_
no

contraband
_discovered
_no

contraband
_discovered
_no_native

contraband
_discovered
_no_asian



39 58 33 207 0 0 83 99 25 0 0

contraband
_discovered
_no_black

contraband
_discovered
_no_white

contraband
_discovered
_no_hispani
c

contraband
_drugs 
parapherna
ilia

contraband
_drugs 
parapherna
ilia_native

contraband
_drugs 
parapherna
ilia_asian

contraband
_drugs 
parapherna
ilia_black

contraband
_drugs 
parapherna
ilia_white

contraband
_drugs 
parapherna
ilia_hispani
c

contraband
_currency

contraband
_currency_n
ative



0 0 0 0 13 0 0 4 6 3 31

contraband
_currency_a
sian

contraband
_currency_b
lack

contraband
_currency_
white

contraband
_currency_h
ispanic

contraband
_weapons

contraband
_weapons_
native

contraband
_weapons_
asian

contraband
_weapons_
black

contraband
_weapons_
white

contraband
_weapons_
hispanic

contraband
_alchohol



0 0 14 13 4 5 0 0 1 3 1

contraband
_alchohol_n
ative

contraband
_alchohol_a
sian

contraband
_alchohol_b
lack

contraband
_alchohol_
white

contraband
_alchohol_h
ispanic

contraband
_stolen 
property

contraband
_stolen 
property_n
ative

contraband
_stolen 
property_as
ian

contraband
_stolen 
property_bl
ack

contraband
_stolen 
property_w
hite

contraband
_stolen 
property_hi
spanic



31 0 0 13 17 1 2 0 0 1 1

contraband
_other

contraband
_other_nati
ve

contraband
_other_asia
n

contraband
_other_blac
k

contraband
_other_whit
e

contraband
_other_hisp
anic

result_verb
al

result_verb
al_native

result_verb
al_asian

result_verb
al_black

result_verb
al_white



0 3636 6 20 1024 1946 640 1697 8 5 550

result_verb
al_hispanic

result_writt
en

result_writt
en_native

result_writt
en_asian

result_writt
en_black

result_writt
en_white

result_writt
en_hispanic

result_citati
on

result_citati
on_native

result_citati
on_asian

result_citati
on_black



750 384 52 0 0 21 26 5 74 0 0

result_citati
on_white

result_citati
on_hispanic

result_writt
en_arrest

result_writt
en_arrest_n
ative

result_writt
en_arrest_a
sian

result_writt
en_arrest_b
lack

result_writt
en_arrest_w
hite

result_writt
en_arrest_h
ispanic

result_citati
on_arrest

result_citati
on_arrest_n
ative

result_citati
on_arrest_a
sian



28 28 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 51 0

result_citati
on_arrest_b
lack

result_citati
on_arrest_w
hite

result_citati
on_arrest_h
ispanic

result_arres
t

result_arres
t_native

result_arres
t_asian

result_arres
t_black

result_arres
t_white

result_arres
t_hispanic

arrest_pena
l_code

arrest_pena
l_code_nati
ve



0 14 25 12 34 0 0 13 15 6 0

arrest_pena
l_code_asia
n

arrest_pena
l_code_blac
k

arrest_pena
l_code_whit
e

arrest_pena
l_code_hisp
anic

arrest_traffi
c

arrest_traffi
c_native

arrest_traffi
c_asian

arrest_traffi
c_black

arrest_traffi
c_white

arrest_traffi
c_hispanic

arrest_city_
ordinance



0 0 0 0 0 41 0 0 22 14 5

arrest_city_
ordinance_
native

arrest_city_
ordinance_
asian

arrest_city_
ordinance_
black

arrest_city_
ordinance_
white

arrest_city_
ordinance_
hispanic

arrest_warr
ant

arrest_warr
ant_native

arrest_warr
ant_asian

arrest_warr
ant_black

arrest_warr
ant_white

arrest_warr
ant_hispani
c



24 0 0 11 10 5 3 5437 14 25 1613

physical_for
ce_yes

physical_for
ce_yes_nati
ve

physical_for
ce_yes_asia
n

physical_for
ce_yes_blac
k

physical_for
ce_yes_whit
e

arrest_warr
ant_hispani
c

physical_for
ce_yes_hisp
anic

physical_for
ce_no

physical_for
ce_no_nativ
e

physical_for
ce_no_asia
n

physical_for
ce_no_blac
k



complaints

1044 2741 0 0 0 0 0 0

physical_for
ce_no_whit
e

physical_for
ce_no_hisp
anic

complaints
_disciplinar
y_yes

complaints
_disciplinar
y_no

physical_for
ce_yes_bod
ily_injury_s
uspect

physical_for
ce_yes_bod
ily_injury_of
ficer

physical_for
ce_yes_bod
ily_injury_b
oth



Page 1 of 1

CID Council Report Printed on April 1, 2024

Offense Disposition Disposition Date

Cleared Exceptionally - Victim Refused to Cooperate
FRAUD Cleared Exceptionally - 03/21/24

BURGLARY OF BUILDING Cleared Exceptionally - 03/14/24

THEFT Cleared Exceptionally - 03/28/24

ASSAULT Cleared Exceptionally - 03/26/24

TERRORISTIC THREAT Cleared Exceptionally - 03/06/24

ASSAULT Cleared Exceptionally - 03/06/24

SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY Cleared Exceptionally - 03/20/24

ASSAULT Cleared Exceptionally - 03/21/24

ASSAULT Cleared Exceptionally - 03/22/24

Cleared Exceptionally - Victim Refused to Cooperate Total: 9

Closed
AGENCY ASSIST Closed 03/26/24

DECEASED PERSON Closed 03/06/24

SCAM Closed 03/13/24

AGENCY ASSIST Closed 03/26/24

Closed Total: 4

DA Ready
ASSAULT DA Ready 03/14/24

THEFT DA Ready 03/28/24

SEX OFFENSE DA Ready 03/28/24

SEX OFFENSE DA Ready 03/13/24

INJURY TO A CHILD/ELDERLY/DISABLED DA Ready 03/13/24

DA Ready Total: 5

Filed with Municipal Court
TRAFFIC STOP Filed with Municipal 03/06/24

Filed with Municipal Court Total: 1

Total Records: 19



 

 

 

 
 

 

Palestine Police Department 

504 N Queen St 

Palestine, TX 75801 
      (903) 729-2254 

 

                                                     MONTH                               YYEEAARR TTOO DDAATTEE 
 

Reported Offenses March 2024 March 2023 % Diff March 2024 March 2023 % Diff 

 133 118 11% 371 361 3% 

Arrests  

 
March 2024 

 
March 2023 

 
% Diff 

 
March 2024 

 
March 2023 

 
% Diff 

 103 92 11% 274 253 8% 

Calls for Service 
 

March 2024 

 
March 2023 

 
% Diff 

 
March 2024 

 
March 2023 

 
% Diff 

 1919 1706 11% 4875 4737 3% 

Traffic  
 

March 2024 

 
March 2023 

 
% Diff 

 
March 2024 

 
March 2023 

 
% Diff 

Crash Reports 41 32 22% 99 101 2% 

Citations 306 249 19% 306 249 14% 

Warnings 487 318 35% 1338 1099 4% 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

133
103

1919

41

306

487

118
92

1706

32

249 318

Month Comparison

2024 2023

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

5000

5500

6000

371
274

4875

99 306 487

361
253

4737

101 249 318

Year Comparison

2024 2023

Palestine Police Department 
Monthly Activity Report 

 



 

 
Palestine Police Department 

P.L.A.C.E. Team Activity Report 
504 North Queen Street 
Palestine, Texas 75801 

 

 

March 2024   
 

Code Violations           
Maintenance of Property   7 

Trash / Rubbish    9 

Tall Weeds and Grass   43 

Vehicles / Trailers    46 

Other Violation     29 

Animal Control    6 

Illegal Dump Sites    4 

Estimated Total Weight    1275 

 

Violation Status 
Compliant upon Contact   82 

Non-Compliance    112 

 Citations    0 

 Municipal Court   4 

 

Known Expenditures 
Properties Cleaned     0  

Property Liens     0 

Community Service Persons    9 

Total Accumulated Hours    72 

 

Litter Abatement 

Total # Dump Sites   14 

Estimated Total Weight    2230 lbs 

           

Animal Control 

Total Calls for Month   211 

Bites / Quarantine    4 

Emergency Calls – OT   2 

Citations     3 

Warnings    7 



PPD Racial Profiling Report Overview 
2023 

 

Traffic Stops-Race 

White Black Hispanic Native Asian

Traffic Stops-Gender

Male Female

 



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: PEDC Monthly Report March/April 2024
Date Submitted: 04/18/2024

SUMMARY:
March/April 2024 Economic Development Monthly Report

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
No action required.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
City Council Report Mar-Apr 2024 
ETEX PEDC Broadband Revenue Share Report Q1 2024 



 

   

 
 

Economic Development Activities- March/April 2024 

 

New Business/Investment 
 

➢ Meetings held with multiple downtown building 
owners to discuss proposals to PEDC’s 
Downtown Grant program. 

➢ Organized and participated in a meeting with 
senior city staff and contractors responsible for 
Verdant Specialty Solutions’ wastewater project. 

➢ Met with new prospects considering business 
operations located in the downtown district on 
3/28/24. 

➢ Attended a meeting of the East Texas Technology 
& Innovation Coalition at the Tyler ISD Career & 
Technology Center on 3/22/24. 

 

Marketing 

➢ Participated in a radio interview on 3/20/24 in conjunction 
with Trinity Valley Community College to promote an 
upcoming Industry Workforce Summit. 

➢ Met with local business owner and Tourism Marketing 
Manager Cassandra Boyd to discuss new advertising 
opportunities in the city of Palestine. 

 
 
Administration 

➢ Conducted annual personnel performance reviews for 
PEDC staff. 

➢ Conducted additional drafting & revisions for: 

o TVCC Performance Agreement 

o Private Utility Easements for Texas 
Futura/Lonestar Oil Tech 

o TSRA Interlocal Agreement 

➢ Finalizing incentive proposal for prospect #1061. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

1 Food Processing 
 

14 

 



 

Economic Climate 

➢ Retail Sector 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Net Payment     Net Payment

Current Year 2023/2024 Prior Year 2022/2023

Apr $637,759.62 $575,971.66

Fiscal YTD $4,801,822.48 $4,752,152.43

Apr $315,976.72 $325,879.38

Fiscal YTD $2,437,737.98 $2,669,885.26

Apr $415,519.78 $610,851.57

Fiscal YTD $5,087,522.64 $4,881,500.35

Apr $653,008.34 $677,998.16

Fiscal YTD $5,186,012.40 $4,964,142.72

Apr $401,294.26 $368,359.75

Fiscal YTD $2,749,215.41 $2,908,228.22

Apr $682,218.21 $776,258.63

Fiscal YTD $5,600,112.43 $5,691,155.76

Apr $659,655.09 $667,236.47

Fiscal YTD $4,910,163.93 $5,013,376.82

Apr $696,197.75 $655,184.17

Fiscal YTD $5,121,323.50 $5,096,601.90 0.5%

Collection:

Anderson County

Palestine

Period

Henderson

1.0%

-47.0%
Athens

* Source: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts

Jacksonville

Kilgore
-1.6%

Mount Pleasant

-9.5%

Sulphur Springs
5.9%

* Note: All Net Payments represent collections conducted approx. 2 months prior

Palestine, Anderson County & Index Cities
Fiscal Year Comparisons

-1.1%

-2.1%

4.0%

-3.8%

4.3%

8.2%

-5.8%

-13.8%

Net Change

-3.1%

9.7%



 

 
 

➢ Workforce Data 

Unemployment Rates in Anderson & Index Counties – February 2024: 

Anderson County – 4.0% 

Henderson County – 4.3% 

Cherokee County – 5.2% 

Gregg County – 5.0% 

State of Texas – 4.4% 

Rusk County – 4.8% 

Titus County – 4.6% 

Hopkins County – 3.7% 

 

 

Source: Texas Labor Market Information; Local Area Unemployment Statistics 

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

5.5

6

Unemployment Data 
February 2024

Anderson County State of Texas Henderson County Rusk County

Cherokee County Titus County Gregg County Hopkins County



 
 

ETEX/PEDC Broadband Initiative Revenue Share Report  

As of Q1 2024 

Initial investment payback period: 5 years 

Approximate investment payback period based on current revenues: 3.50 years 

 

 

 

  

Q3 2021 50,000.00$              Q3 2021 15,231.69$                  

Q4 2021 37,500.00$              Q4 2021 53,430.10$                  

Q1 2022 37,500.00$              Q1 2022 73,903.73$                  

Q2 2022 37,500.00$              Q2 2022 77,752.30$                  

Q3 2022 37,500.00$              Q3 2022 86,882.90$                  

Q4 2022 37,500.00$              Q4 2022 89,572.58$                  

Q1 2023 37,500.00$              Q1 2023 91,437.60$                  

Q2 2023 37,500.00$              Q2 2023 96,188.53$                  

Q3 2023 37,500.00$              Q3 2023 99,380.94$                  

Q4 2023 95,000.00$              Q4 2023 98,429.54$                  

Q1 2024 95,000.00$              Q1 2024 100,036.55$                

PEDC Revenue Budget ETEX Quarterly Revenue Share



 
 

As a result of the revenue share agreement, PEDC receives revenue from clients serviced with the funded 

infrastructure located in the cities of Jacksonville and Palestine. The following are quarterly breakdowns 

of revenue share received by city. 

2021 

Q3 2021 

City July August September Location Totals 

JACKSONVILLE  $        161.42   $          89.98   $        242.94   $            494.34  

PALESTINE  $                 -     $     7,449.04   $     7,120.48   $      14,569.52  

 

Q4 2021 

City October November December Location Totals 

JACKSONVILLE  $        391.92   $                 -     $        519.89   $            911.81  

PALESTINE  $   18,160.22   $   16,922.67   $   17,436.28   $      52,519.17  

 

2022 

Q1 2022 

City January February March Location Totals 

JACKSONVILLE  $     1,119.36   $     1,571.28   $     1,098.20   $        3,788.84  

PALESTINE  $   23,074.41   $   21,242.20   $   25,398.28   $      69,714.89  

 

Q2 2022 

City April May June Location Totals 

JACKSONVILLE  $     1,340.40   $     1,225.68   $     1,225.18   $        3,791.25  

PALESTINE  $   24,058.96   $   24,418.52   $   25,483.58   $      73,961.05  

 

Q3 2022 

City July August September Location Totals 

JACKSONVILLE  $     1,370.81   $     1,324.15   $     1,324.15   $        4,019.11  

PALESTINE  $   26,410.62   $   28,280.68   $   28,172.50   $      82,863.80  

 

Q4 2022 

City October November December Location Totals 

JACKSONVILLE  $     1,324.15   $     1,324.15   $     1,324.15   $        3,972.45  

PALESTINE  $   28,387.26   $   28,354.90   $   28,857.97   $      85,600.13  

 



 
2023 

Q1 2023 

City January February March Location Totals 

JACKSONVILLE  $     1,324.15   $     1,361.65   $     1,324.15   $        4,009.95  

PALESTINE  $   28,879.02   $   29,209.09   $   29,339.54   $      87,427.65  

 

Q2 2023 

City April May June Location Share 

JACKSONVILLE  $     1,324.15   $     1,324.15   $     1,324.15   $        3,972.45  

PALESTINE  $   31,921.26   $   29,644.57   $   30,650.26   $      92,216.08  

 

Q3 2023 

City July Aug Sep Location Share 

JACKSONVILLE  $     1,324.15   $     1,324.15   $     1,324.15   $        3,972.45  

PALESTINE  $   31,705.69   $   30,906.12   $   32,796.69   $      95,408.50  

 

Q4 2023 

City October November December Location Share 

JACKSONVILLE  $     1,255.85   $     1,255.85   $     1,253.35   $        3,765.05  

PALESTINE  $   31,677.83   $   31,282.92   $   31,703.74   $      94,664.49  

 

2024 

Q1 2024 

City January February March Location Share 

JACKSONVILLE  $     1,205.85   $     1,205.85   $     1,205.85   $        3,617.55  

PALESTINE  $   31,776.19   $   32,352.14   $   32,290.66   $      96,418.99  

 



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: Consider approval of minutes of the Work Session and Regular Agenda of April 8, 2024
Date Submitted: 04/18/2024

SUMMARY:
Consider approval of minutes of the Work Session and Regular Agenda of April 8, 2024.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval of minutes. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: A resolution for the Texas Community Development Block Grant No. CDV23-0354 and

reaffirming adopted local Fair Housing and Civil Rights Policies
Date Submitted: 04/18/2024

SUMMARY:
Consider approval of a resolution for the Texas Community Development Block Grant No. CDV23-0354
and reaffirming adopted local Fair Housing and Civil Rights Policies, including the Citizen Participation
Plan, the Excessive Force Policy, the Fair Housing Policy and Public Service Announcement, the Fair
Housing Month Proclamation, the Section 504 Policy and Section 504 Self-Evaluation Form, the Code of
Conduct Policy, and the Violence Against Women Act. This also includes reaffirming the City’s
commitment to comply with the Section 3 Economic Opportunity, Limited English Proficiency, the activity
to affirmatively Further Fair Housing choice, and the Buy America, Build America (BABA) requirement.

These policies were adopted by City Council on February 12, 2024, in connection with Texas
Community Development Block Grant No. CDM22-0147 for Main Street.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval as presented. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Resolution 



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 
REGARDING CIVIL RIGHTS 

 
THE CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS 

WHEREAS, the City of Palestine, Texas, (here referred to as “City of Palestine”) has been 
awarded TxCDBG funding through a TxCDBG CDV23-0354 grant from the Texas 
Department of Agriculture (hereinafter referred to as “TDA”); and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palestine, in accordance with Section 109 of the Title I of the Housing 
and Community Development Act. (24 CFR 6); the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 
(42 U.S.C. 6101-6107); and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 
U.S.C. 794) and for construction contracts greater than $10,000, must take actions 
to ensure that no person or group is denied benefits such as employment, training, 
housing, and contracts generated by the CDBG activity, on the basis of race, color, 
religion, sex, national origin, age, or disability; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palestine, in consideration for the receipt and acceptance of federal 
funding, agrees to comply with all federal rules and regulations including those 
rules and regulations governing citizen participation and civil rights protections; 
and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palestine, in accordance with Section 3 of the Housing and Urban 
Development Act of 1968, as amended, and 24 CFR Part 75,  is required, to the 
greatest extent feasible, to provide training and employment opportunities to lower 
income residents and contract opportunities to businesses in the Section 3 Service 
Area; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palestine, in accordance with Section 104(1) of the Housing and 
Community Development Act, as amended, and State’s certification requirements 
at 24 CFR 91.325(b)(6), must adopt an excessive force policy that prohibits the use 
of excessive force against non-violent civil rights demonstrations; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palestine, in accordance with Executive Order 13166, must take 
reasonable steps to ensure meaningful access to services in federally assisted 
programs and activities by persons with limited English proficiency (LEP) and 
must have an LEP plan in place specific to the locality and beneficiaries for each 
TxCDBG project; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palestine, in accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 
1973, does not discriminate on the basis of disability and agrees to ensure that 
qualified individuals with disabilities have access to programs and activities that 
receive federal funds; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palestine, in accordance with Section 808(e)(5) of the Fair Housing Act 
(42 USC 3608(e)(5)) that requires HUD programs and activities be administered in 
a manner affirmatively to further the policies of the Fair Housing Act, agrees to 
conduct at least one activity during the contract period of the TxCDBG contract, to 
affirmatively further fair housing; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palestine, in accordance with the Violence Against Women Act 
Reauthorization of 2022, the Grant Recipient must certify that local policies do not 



interfere with the residents’ Right to Report Crime and Emergencies from One’s 
Home; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palestine, in accordance with with the requirements of the Build 
America, Buy America Act (BABA), 41 USC ch. 8301 note, and all applicable rules 
and notices, as may be amended, if applicable to Grant Recipient's infrastructure 
project acknowledges that any funds obligated under a TDA Agreement are subject 
to BABA requirements unless excepted by a waiver; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palestine, agrees to maintain written standards of conduct covering 
conflicts of interest and governing the actions of its employees engaged in the 
selection, award and administration of contracts. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
PALESTINE, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1 The recitals to this Resolution are hereby incorporated herein and are hereby 
found and declared to be true and correct. 

SECTION 2 The City of Palestine reaffirms the following adopted policies which are 
attached to this resolution and incorporated herein: 

(a) Citizen Participation Plan and Grievance Procedures (Exhibit A);

(b) Excessive Force Policy (Exhibit B);

(c) Fair Housing Policy (Exhibit C);

(d) Section 504 Policy and Grievance Procedures (Exhibit D);

(e) Code of Conduct Policy (Exhibit E); and

(f) Violence Against Women Act Reauthorization of 2022 Policy 
(Exhibit F)

SECTION 2 The City of Palestine also reaffirms its commitment to conduct a 
project-specific analysis and take all appropriate action necessary to 
comply with program requirements for the following: 

(a) Section 3 economic opportunity;

(b) Limited English Proficiency; and

(c) Activity to affirmatively Furth Fair Housing
choice.

(d) Buy America, Build America Act (BABA)

SECTION 3 This resolution shall be effective immediately upon its approval. 



PASSED, APPROVED, and ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Palestine, Texas, at 
a regular meeting held on this the 22nd day of April, 2024. 

______________________________ 
MITCHELL JORDAN 
MAYOR 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

______________________________ ______________________________ 
APRIL JACKSON  REZZIN PULLUM 
CITY SECRETARY  CITY ATTORNEY  



EXHIBITA

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION PLAN

THE C]TY OF PAI,F,STINF]
TEXAS COMML]NITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT PROGRAM

Note to Grant Recipients regarding Limited English Proficiencl: (LEPI requirements

in accordance with f-ederal law. ifthere is a significant number ofthe population who are
non-English speaking residents and are affected by the TxCDBG proiect. such citizens
should have 'meaningflul access' to all aspects ol the TxCDBG project. To provide
'meaningful access'. Grant Recipients may need to provide interpreter services at public
hearings or provide non-English written materials that are routinely provided in English.
Examples of such vital documents may include Citizen Parlicipation notices (e.g..

complaint procedures, hearings notices), civil rights notices, and any other published notice
that may allow an eligible person with limited English proficiency to participate in
discu:sing proposed CDBG activit ies.

For more intbrmation, see LEP.gov

COMPLAINT PROCEDURES

These complaint procedures comply with the requirements of the Texas Department ol
Agriculture's Texas Community Development Block Grant (TxCDBG) Progrern and Local
Government Requirements lbund in 24 CFR $570.486 (Code of Federal Regulations). Citizens
can obtain a copy olthese procedures at the City ofPalestine, 504 N. Queen Street Palestine,
Texas 75801 (Mailing Address), 903-731-8400, (Phone) during regular business hours.

Below are the fbrmal complaint and grievance procedures regarding the services provided under
the TxCDBG project.

A person who has a complaint or grievance about any services or activities with respect
to the TxCDBG project, whether it is a proposed. ongoing, or completed TxCDBG
project, may during regular business hours submit such complaint or grievance, in writing
to the City Manager, at 504 N. Queen Street Palestine. Texas 75801 (Mailing Address) or
may call 903-731 -8400 (Phone).

2. A copy of the complaint or grievance shall be transmitted by the City Manager to the
entity that is the subject of the complaint or grievance and to the City Attomey within
five (5) u,orking days after the date of the complaint or grievance was received.

3. the City Manager shall complete an investigation ol the complaint or grievance, if
practicable, and provide a timely written answer to person who made the complaint or
grievance within ten ( 10) days.

4. lfthe investigation cannot be completed within ten (10) working days per 3 above. the
person who made the grievance or complaint shall be notified, in n'riting. within flfteen



( l5) days where practicable after receipt of the original complaint or grievance and shall
detail when the investigation should be completed.

5. If necessary, the grievance and a written copy olthe subsequent investigation shall be

lbrwarded to the TxCDBG for their further review and comment.

6. If appropriate, provide copies olgrievance procedures and responses to grievances in
both English and Spanish, or other appropriate Ianguage.

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE

When requested. the City shall provide technical assistance to groups that are representative of
persons of low- and moderate-income in developing proposals for the use ofTxCDBG funds.
The City, based upon the specific needs ofthe community's residents at the time of the request,
shall determine the level and type ofassistance.

PUBLIC HEARING PROVISIONS

For each public hearing scheduled and conducted by the City, the fbllowing public hearing
provisions shall be obser-ved:

Public notice ofall hearings must be published at least seventy-two (72) hours prior to
the scheduled hearing. The public notice must be published in a local newspaper. Each
public notice must include the date, time" location, and topics to be considered at the
public hearing. A published newspaper arlicle can also be used to meet this requirement
so long as it meets all content and timing requirements. Notices should also be
prominently posted in public buildings and distributed to local Public Housing
Authorities and other interested community groups.

2. When a significant number olnon-English speaking residents are a pafi of the potential
seruice area of the TxCDBG project. r,ital documents such as notices should be published
in the predominant language olthese non-English speaking citizens.

3. Each public hearing shall be held at a time and location convenient to potential or actual
beneficiaries and will include accommodation lor persons with disabilities. Persons with
disabilities must be able to attend the hearings and the City must make amangements lor
individuals who require auxiliary aids or services ilcontacted at least two days prior to
the hearing.

4. A public hearing held prior to the submission ola TxCDBG application must be held
alier 5:00 PM on a weekday or at a convenient time on a Saturday or Sunday.

5. When a signilicant number ofnon-English speaking residents can be reasonably expected
to pafiicipate in a public hearing, an interpreter should be present to accommodate the
needs olthe non-English speaking residents.

The City shall comply with the fbllowing citizen parlicipation requirements lor the preparation
and submission ofan application lor a TxCDBG project:



I . At a minimum. the City shall hold at least one ( I ) public hearing to prior to submitting
the application to the Texas Department of Agriculture.

2. The City shall retain documentation ofthe hearing notice(s). a listing olpersons attending
the hearing(s), minutes ofthe hearing(s), and any other records conceming the proposed
use oflunds for three (3) years fiom closeout ofthe grant to the state. Such records shall
be made available to the public in accordance with Chapter 552, Texas Covemment
Code.

3. The public hearing shall include a discussion with citizens as outlined in the applicable
TxCDBG application manual to include. but is not limited to, the development of housing
and community development needs. the amount of tunding available. all eligibte
activities under the TxCDBG program. and the use olpast TxCDBG contract funds. if
applicable. Citizens. with particular emphasis on persons ol low- and moderate-income
who are residents ofslum and blight areas, shall be encouraged to submit their views and
proposals regarding community development and housing needs. Citizens shall be made
aware of the location where they may submit their views and proposals should they be
unable to attend the public hearing.

4. When a significant number of non-English speaking residents can be reasonably expected
to participate in a public hearing. an interpreter should be present to accommodate the
needs of the non-English speaking residents.

The City must comply with the following citizen participation requirements in the event that the
City receives funds from the TxCDBG program:

The City shall also hold a public hearing conceming any substantial change. as

determined by TxCDBG. proposed to be made in the use of TxCDBG funds f'rom one
eligible activity to another again using the preceding notice requirements.

3. When a significant number ofnon-English speaking residents can be reasonably expected
to participate in a public hearing. ibr either a public hearing concerning substantial
change to the TxCDBG project or for the closeout ofthe TxCDBG project, publish notice
in both English and Spanish. or other appropriate language and provide an interpreter at
the hearing to accommodate the needs ofthe non-English speaking residents.

4. The City shall retain documentation olthe TxCDBG project. including hearing notice(s).
a listing ofpersons attending the hearing(s). minutes of the hearing(s), and any other
records conceming the actual use offunds 1br a period ofthree (3) years tiom closeout of
the grant to the state. Such records shall be made available to the public in accordance
with Chapter 552. Texas Government Clode.

'- (€ r/..-
Mit"titt Jordan. tfiayor Date

2. Upon completion of the TxCDBG project. the City shall hold a public hearing and review
its program perfbrmance including the actual use ofthe TxCDBG funds.

,q- Lf- 2ot4



PLAN DE PARTICIPACI<iN cI Un,q.DANA

LA CIUDAD de Palestine
PROGRAMA DE TEXAS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT PROGRAM

De acuerdo con la ley federal hay un ntmero significativo de poblaci6n que son residentes y que
no hablan inglds y son af'ectados por el proyecto TxCIDBG. estos ciudadanos deben tener "acceso
significativo" a todos los aspectos del proyecto TxCDBG. Para proporcionar "acceso
signilicativo". receptores de la subvenci6n pueden ser utilizados para proporcionar servicios de

interpretaci6n en las audiencias ptlblicas o proporcionar materiales no escritos en ingl6s que se

proporcionan de manera rutinaria en inglds. Para obtener mds inlbrmacitin. consulte LEP.gov.

PROCEDIMIENTOS DE QUEJA

Estos procedimientos de queja cumplen con los requisitos del Departamento de Programa de

Agricultura de Texas Community Development Block Grant (TxCDBG) y los requisitos del
gobiemo local de Texas se encuentran en 24 CFR $570.486 (C6digo de Regulaciones Federales)
Los ciudadanos pueden obtener una copia de estos procedimientos en la Ciudad de Palestine.
(Direcci6n postal). 504 N. Queen Street Palestine. Texas 75801 . 903-73 I -8400 ( tel6fono ) en

horario de oficina.

A continuaci6n se presentan los procedimientos fbrmales de quejas y quejas relativas a los
serv'icios prestados en el marco del proyecto TxCIDBG.

Una persona que tiene una queja o reclamaci6n sobre cualquiera de los servicios o

actividades en relaci6n con el proyecto TxCDBG. o si se trata de una propuesta.
en curso o determinado proyecto TxCDBG. pueden durante las horas regulares
presentar dicha queja o reclamo. por escrito a la Administrador de la ciudad. a 504
N. Queen Street Palestine. Texas 75801 (Direcci6n postal) o puede llamar a 903-
73,l-8400 (Tel6fbno).

2. Una copia de la queja o reclamacitln se transmitir6 por el Administrador de la
ciudad a la entidad que es encargada de la queja o reclamaci6n y al Abogado de la
Ciudad dentro de los cinco (5) dias h6biles siguientes a la f'echa de la queja o dia
que [a reclamaci6n tue recibida.

3. El Administrador de la ciudad deber6 cumplir una investigaci6n de la queja o
reclamaci6n. si es posible. y Dara una respuesta oportuna por escrito a la persona
que hizo la denuncia o queja dentro de los diez (10) dias.

4. Si la investigaci6n no puede ser completada dentro de los diez (10) dias hribiles
anteriormente, la persona que hizo la queja o denuncia serti notificada. por escrito,
dentro de los quince ( l5) dias cuando sea posible despu6s de la entrega de la
queja original o quejas y detallar6 cuando se debera completar la investigaci6n.

Nola u lo.s receplore.\ de subt'enc'i6n cn rcluciin u rcqui.silrt.s de Dontinio Limitudo tlcl lnglls.



5. Si es necesario. la queja y una copia escrita de la investigacitin posterior se
remitirrin a Ia TxCDBG para su posterior revisitin y comentarios.

6. Se proporcionarii copias de los procedimientos de queja y las respuestas a las
quejas, tanto en Ingl6s y Espaffol. u otro lenguaje apropiado.

ASISTENC'IA I'ECNICA

Cuando lo solicite. la Ciudad proporcionarA asistencia t6cnica a los grupos que son
representantes de las personas de ba.jos y moderados ingresos en el desarrollo de propuestas para
el uso de los lbndos TxCDBG. La Ciudad/Condado. en base a las necesidades especificas de los
residentes de la comunidad en el momento de [a solicitud. debeni determinar el nivel y tipo de
asistencia.

DISPOSICIONES AUDIENCIA PUBLICA

Para cada audiencia ptblica programada y llevada a cabo por la Ciudad/Condado, se observar6n
las disposiciones siguientes de audiencias priblicas:

Aviso priblico de todas las audiencias deberri publicarse al menos setenta y dos
(72) horas antes de la audiencia programada. El aviso priblico deberii publicarse
en un peri6dico local. Cada aviso priblico debe incluir la fecha. hora, lugar y
temas a considerar en la audiencia ptblica. Un articulo periodfstico publicado
tambi6n puede utilizarse para cumplir con este requisito. siempre y cuando
cumpla con todos los requisitos de contenido y temporizaci6n. Los avisos
tambi6n deben ser un lugar prominente en los editlcios ptblicos y se distribuyen a
las autoridades locales de vivienda pfblica y otros grupos interesados de la
comunidad.

2. Cuando se tenga un ntimero signiticativo de residentes que no hablan inglds seriin
una parte de la zona de servicio potencial del proyecto TxCDBG. documentos
vitales como las comunicaciones deben ser publicados en el idioma predominante
de estos ciudadanos que no hablan inglds.

3. Cada audiencia ptblica se llevarii a cabo en un momento y lugar conveniente para
los benetlciarios potenciales o reales e incluini alojamiento para personas con
discapacidad. Las personas con discapacidad deben poder asistir a las audiencias
y la Ciudad debe hacer los arreglos para las personas que requieren ayudas o
servicios auxiliares en caso de necesitarlo por lo menos dos dias antes de la
audiencia serii ptblica.

4. Una audiencia ptblica celebrada antes de la presentaci6n de una solicitud
TxCDBG debe hacerse despuds de las 5:00 pm en un dia de semana o en un
momento conveniente en siibado o domingo.

5. Cuando un ntmero significativo de residentes que no hablan inglds se registra
para participar en una audiencia priblica. un int6rprete debe estar presente para dar
cabida a las necesidades de los residentes que no hablan ingl6s.



La cliudad deberii cumplir con los siguientes requisitos de participaci6n ciudadana para la
elaboraci6n y presentaci6n de una solicitud para un proyecto I'xCDBG:

l. Como minimo. la Ciudad deberri tener por lo menos un (l) audiencia pirblica
antes de presentar la solicitud al Departamento de Agricultura de Texas.

2. La Ciudad conservard la documentaci6n de la convocatoria(s) audiencia. un
listado de las personas que asistieron a la audiencia(s) . acta de la vista(s), y
cualquier otra documentaci6n relativa a la propuesta de utilizar los tbndos para
tres (3) afros a partir de ta liquidaci6n de la subvenci6n para el E,stado . Dichos
registros se pondriin a disposici6n del priblico. de conformidad con el Capitulo
552, Ctrdigo de Gobierno de Texas.

3. La audiencia pfblica deberd incluir una discusi6n con los ciudadanos como se

indica en el manual correspondiente de aplicaci6n TxCDBG. pero no se limita a.

el desarrollo de las necesidades de vivienda y desarrollo comunitario, la cantidad
de fbndos disponibles, todas las actividades elegibles bajo el programa TxCDBG
y el uso de fbndos tltimos contratos TxCDBG, en su caso. Los ciudadanos, con
especial dnfasis en las personas de bajos y moderados ingresos que son residentes
de las zonas de tugurios y tiz6n. se fbmentar6 a presentar sus opiniones y
propuesms sobre el desarrollo de la comunidad y las necesidades de vivienda. Los
ciudadanos deben ser conscientes de [a ubicacitin en la que podr6n presentar sus

puntos de vista y propuestas en caso de que no pueda asistir a la audiencia
prlblica.

4. Cuando un ntmero signilicativo de residentes que no hablan ingles se registra
para participar en una audiencia priblica, un int6rprete debe estar presente para dar
cabida a las necesidades de los residentes que no hablan inglds.

La Ciudad debe cumplir con los siguientes requisitos de participaci6n ciudadana en e[ caso de
que la Ciudad recibe fbndos del programa TxCDBG:

La Ciudad celebrarii una audiencia priblica sobre cualquier cambio sustancial.
segfn lo determinado por TxCDBG. se propuso que se hard con el uso de lbndos
TxCDBG de una actividad elegible a otro utilizando de nuevo los requisitos de

notificaci6n

2. Una vez flnalizado el proyecto TxCDBG, la Ciudad celebrarii una audiencia
piblica y revisar6 el desempefro del programa incluyendo el uso real de los
tbndos TxCDBG.

3. Cuando un ntmero signilicativo de residentes que no hablan inglds se puede
registra para participar en una audiencia ptblica. ya sea para una audiencia
priblica sobre el cambio sustancial del proyecto TxCDBG o para la liquidaci6n del
proyecto TxCDBG. publicar6 un aviso en Ingl6s y Espaflol u otro idioma
apropiado y se proporcionara un intdrprete en la audiencia para dar cabida a las
necesidades de los residentes.

4. La Ciudad conservar6 la documentaci6n del proyecto TxCDBG, incluyendo aviso
de audiencia(s). un listado de las personas que asistieron a la audiencia(s). acta de



la vista(s). y cualquier otro registro concemiente al uso real de los tbndos por un
perfodo de a tres (3) aflos a partir de la liquidaci6n del proyecto al estado.

Dichos registros se pondr6n a disposici6n del priblico, de conformidad con el Capitulo
552. C6digo de Gobiemo de

72zzzr%-- J-6-Aoe+
fficiudad Fecha



EXHIBIT B

Excessive Force Policv

In accordance with 24 CFR 91.325(bX6). the City of Palestine hereby adopts and will enforce the
lbllowing policy with respect to the use of excessive fbrce:

lt is the policy ol the City of Palestine to prohibit the use of excessive tbrce by the law
enlbrcement agencies within its jurisdiction against any individual engaged in non-violent
civil rights demonstrationsl

2. [t is also the policy olCity ol Palestine to enlbrce applicable State and local laws against
physically barring entrance to or exit trom a lacitity or location that is the subject ofsuch
non-violent civil rights demonstrations within its j urisdiction.

3. 'fhe City ofPalestine will introduce and pass a resolution adopting this policy.

As ollicers and representatives of City ofPalestine, we the undersigned have read and fully agree

to this plan and become a party to the full implementation of this program.

Mitchcll Jordan Mavor
Name 'l'itle

a-6-aoa4
ignature Date



EXHIBIT C

Fair Housing Policy

In accordance with Fair Housing Act, the City of Palestine hereby adopts the lbllowing policy with
respect to the Aflirmatively Furthering Fair Housing:

1. The City of Palestine agrees to aftirmatively further fair housing choice ibr all seven
protected classes (race. color. religion, sex. disability. familial status. and national origin).

2. The City of Palestine agrees to plan at least one activity during the contract term to
aftirmatively lurther fair housing.

3. The City of Palestine will introduce and pass a resolution adopting this policy.

As otllcers and representatives of the City of Palestine. we the undersigned have read and fully
agree to this plan and become a parfy to the full implementation of this program.

MaJo,
Signature Title

0-ta-aoa[
Date



EXHIBIT D

Section 50.1 Policy Against Discrimination based on Handicap and Grievance procedures

In accordance with 24 CFR Section 8. Nondiscrimination based on Handicap in fbderally assisted
programs and activities ofthe Depa(ment ofHousing and Urban Development. Section 504 ol'the
Rehabilitation Act of l97ii. as amended (29 U.S.C. 794). and Section 109 of the Housing and
Community Development Actof 1974. as amended (42 U.S.C. 5309). the City of Palestine hereby
adopts the fbllowing policy and grievance procedures:

l. Discriminationprohibited No otherwise qualified individual with handicaps in the United
States shall" solely by reason of his or her handicap. be excluded from the participation in. be
denied the beneflts of. or be subjected to discrinrination under any program or activity receiving
F'cderal financial assistance fiom the Depaftment o1'Housing and Urban Development (HUD).

2. The City ofPalestine does not discriminate on the basis olhandicap in admission or access
to, or treatment or employment in, its f'ederally assisted programs and activities.

3. The City of Palestine's recruitment materials or publications shall include a statement of
this policy in l. above.

4. The Clity of Palestine shall take continuing steps to notily participants. beneficranes.
applicants and employees. including those with impaired vision or hearing. and unions or
prol'essional organizations holding collective bargaining or professional agreements with the
recipients that it does not discriminate on the basis ofhandicap in violation of24 CFR Patl 8.

5. For hearing and visually impaired individuals eligible to be served or likely to be affected
by the TxCDBG program. The City of Palestine shall ensure that they are provided with the
infbrmation necessary to understand and parlicipate in the TxCDBG program.

6. Grievances and Complaints

a. Any person who believes she or he has been subiected to discrimination on the basis of
disability may lile a grievance under this procedure. It is against the law fbr The City
ol Palestine to retaliate against anyone who files a grievance or cooperates in the
investigation of a grievance.

b. Complaints should be addressed to the following individual who has been designated
to coordinate Section 504 compliance elTorts.

Teresa Herrera
504 N. Queen Street
Palestine. Texas 75 801
(e03) 731-8416

c. A complaint should be filed in writing or verbally, contain the name and address ofthe
person filing it. and briefly describe the alleged violation of the regulations.

d. A complaint should be filed within thirty (30) working days after the complainant
becomes aware olthe alleged violation.



An invesligation. as may be appropriate. shall follow the filing of a complaint. The
investigation will be conducted by [name and/or title of Civil Rights Oflicerl.
lnlbrmal but thorough investigations will atTord all interested people and their
representatives. ilany. an opportunity to submit evidence relevant to a complaint.

1-. A rvritten determination as to the validity ofthe complaint and description ofresolution.
if any. shall be issued by I name and/or title of Civil Rights Officerl, and a copy
fbrwarded to the complainant with llfieen (15) workine days after the tiling olthe
complaint where practicable.

g. The Section 504 coordinator shall maintain the flles and records olthe City of Palestine
relating to the complaint's files.

h. The complainant can request a reconsideration oflhe case in instances where he or she
is dissatisfied with the determination/resolution as described in 1'. above. The request
for reconsideration should be made to the City of Palestine within ten workins days
after the receipt of the written determination/resolution.

The right oi a person to a prompt and equitable resolution of the complaint tiled
hereunder shall not be impaired by the person's pursuit ofother remedies such as the
liling of a Section 504 complaint with the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development. Utilization of this grievance procedure is not a prerequisite to the pursuit
of other remedies.

j. These procedures shall be construed to protecl the substantive rights of interested
persons. to meet appropriate due process standards and assure that the City ofPalestine
complies with Section 504 and HUD regulations.

Mitchell .lordan Mavor
Name 'l itle

e

9- t,f- goe4
lgnature Datc



For procurement ofgoods and services, no employee, offrcer, or agent ofthe City of Palestine
shall participate in the seleclion. award. or administration of a contract supported by TxCDBG

funds if he or she has a real or apparent conflict of interest. Such a contlict could arise ifthe
employee. officer or agent: any member olhis/her immediate family; his/her partner; or an
organization which employs or is aboul to employ any ofthe parties indicated herein, has a

financial or olher interest in or a tangible personal benefit tiom a llrm considered lbr a contract

Contractors that develop or drati specitications, requirements. statements olwork. or invitations
lor bids or requests fbr proposals must be excluded fiom competing lor such procurements.

The conflict ol interest restrictions and procuremenl requirements identified herein shall apply to
a benefitting business, utility provider, or other third party entity that is receiving assistance,

These procedures are intended to serve as guidelines for the procurement ofsupplies, equipment, construction
services and professional services for the Texas Community Development Block Grant (TxCDBG) Program. The

regulations related to conflict of interest and nepotism may be found at the Texas Government Code Chapter 573,
Texas Local Government Code Chapter 171, Uniform Grant Management Standards by Texas Comptroller, 24 CFR

570.a89(g) & (h), and 2 CFR 200.318.

CODE OF CONDUCT POTICY

E,XHIBIT E

CODE OF CONDUCT POLICY

As a Grant Recipient of a TxCDBG contract. the City olPalestine shall avoid. neutralize or
mitigate actual or potential conllicts of interest so as to prevent an unf'air competitive advantage
or the existence olcontlicting roles that might impair the perfbrmance of the TxCDBG contracl

or impact the integrity ofthe procurement process.

No officer. employee. or agent ofthe City of Palestine shall solicit or accept gratuities. favors or
anything olmonetary value from contractors or firms. potential contractors or ilrms, or pa(ies to
sub-agreements. except where the financial interest is not substanlial or the gift is an unsolicited

item of nominal intrinsic value.

For all other cases, no employee, agent, consultant. offlcer. or elected or appointed oflicial ofthe
state. or ofa unit ofgeneral local govemment. or ofany designated public agencies. or

subrecipients which are receiving TxCDBG funds, that has any CDBG function/responsibility, or
is in a position to participate in a decision-making process or gain inside information, may obtain

a llnancial interest or benefit from the TxCDBG activity.



EXHIBIT F

Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) Certification

Grant Recipient: City ol' Palestine

As Civil Rights Officer, I certift that the Grant Recipient is in compliance with the Violence
Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2022.

The Grant Recipient has reviewed its ordinances, local regulations. and policies (collectively
ref'erred to as "policies") adopted by the local govemment and currently in effect. with the
lbllowing results:

No policies were identilied that contain any financial or regulatory penalty imposed on
property owners or residents as a result ofany use ofemergency services.

a

Policy Purposc of Policy Financial or regulatory
Penalty (or potential

penalt-v)

The Grant Recipient commits to re-evaluating and addressing any policies identified above as

lbllor.r's:

The Grant Recipient understands that any policies identifred above must be re-evaluated and
addressed within the grant agreement period.

t A summary of eflbrts to evaluate altemative policies that do not impede the Right to
Report Crime and Emergencies from One's Home and a timeline for action on one or
more alternatives must be submitted prior to the release of grant tunds fbr construction.

e The timeline for implementation olaltemative policies is subject to TDA review and

approval: granl funds *'ill be placed on hold if the Grant Recipient fails to comply with
the requirements of this VAWA certiflcation.

-Tugtu Herrerot J- t0- 00e+
Name of Civil Rights Officer Date Policy Revien' Completed

g- tA- eo
Signature of CiviI Rights Oflcer Date of Certification



directly or indirectly. under a TxCDBG contract or award. or that is required to complete some or
all work under the TxCDBG contract in order to meel the National Program Obiective.

Any person or entity including any benefitting business, utility provider, or other third party
entity that is receiving assistance. directly or indirectly. under a TxCDBG contract or award, or

that is required to complete some or all work under the TxCDBG contract in order to meet a
National Program Objective, that might potentially receive benefits from TxCDBG awards may

not pa(icipate in the selection. award, or administration ofa contract supported by CDBG
funding.

Any alleged violations ofthese standards ofconduct shall be refened to the Clity ofPalestrne
Attorney. Where violations appear to have occurred. the offending employee. officer or agent
shall be subject to disciplinary action. including but not limited to dismissal or transfen where

violations or infractions appear to be substantial in nature. the matter may be referred to the
appropriate ofhcials lor criminal investigation and possible prosecution.

Passed and approved this 22nd day of January, 2024.

Mitchell Jordan. Mayor
City of Palestine, Texas



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: Adoption of Financial Policies for Federal Grant Contracts
Date Submitted: 04/18/2024

SUMMARY:
Consider approval of a resolution adopting the Financial Policies and Procedures for Federal Grant
Contracts as needed for applying for a GLO Resilient Communities Program (RDP) grant. These
financial policies and procedures are for use in implementing and administrating Federal Grants received
by the City of Palestine. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval as presented.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Resolution 



 

 

RESOLUTION NO. R- -24 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS, ADOPTING FINANCIAL 

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FOR FEDERAL GRANT CONTRACTS; PROVIDING 

FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION; AND PROVIDING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE.  

WHEREAS,  the City of Palestine needs to adopt formal policies and procedures for the 

application and receipt of grant funds; and 

WHEREAS,  the Financial Policies and Procedures for Federal Grant Contracts will establish 

the framework for operating practices and procedures to execute grant programs 

and projects; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council deems it is in the public’s best interest to continue to be eligible 

for grants through program compliance and to formally approve and adopt the 

Financial Policies and Procedures for Federal Grant Contracts. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF PALESTINE, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1. The foregoing recitals are incorporated into this Resolution by reference as 

findings of fact as if expressly set forth herein. 

SECTION 2. The Financial Policies and Procedures for Federal Grant Contracts of the 

City of Palestine is attached hereto as “Exhibit A” and is hereby adopted as 

the formal policy of the City. 

SECTION 3. Should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 

Resolution be declared unconstitutional or invalid for any purpose, the 

remainder of this Resolution shall not be affected thereby. 

SECTION 4. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage and 

publication. 

SECTION 5. It is found and determined that the meeting at which this Resolution was 

passed was open to the public as required by law. 

 PASSED, APPROVED, and ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Palestine, 

Texas, on this the 22nd day of April 2024. 

       ______________________________ 

       MITCHELL JORDAN 

       MAYOR 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

APRIL JACKSON     REZZIN PULLUM 

CITY SECRETARY     CITY ATTORNEY 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

CITY OF PALESTINE 

Financial Policies and Procedures for Federal Grant Contracts 

Designation of City depository. 

  

The Prosperity Bank is hereby appointed the depository of the funds of the City on the terms and 

conditions set forth in the bank depository agreement which is on file in the City office. 

The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute, on behalf of the City, such bank depository 

agreement and to execute such other instruments as shall be necessary in order for the bank to 

receive and handle funds for the City in accordance with the contract. 

Receipt of funds. 

Upon receipt of funds from the Comptroller via warrant, Finance Director shall stamp “For 

Deposit only” and deposit into the appropriate grant account at the designated depository.  

Disbursement of funds.  

Checks, vouchers or warrants for the withdrawal of such sums of money as authorized by 

applicable statutes or ordinance from the City depository shall contain two signatures as 

designated by resolution and authorized signatory forms.  

Accounting control of purchases and invoices related to grants.  

Upon receipt invoices shall be submitted to the Finance Director for approval, to include 

verification of work/quantities completed and review to ensure no duplication of work exists. 

Once approved, invoices will be provided to the grant administrator for the project for processing 

and submittal to appropriate agency (if applicable) and City’s Finance Director for issuance of 

checks consistent with existing financial policies. The Finance Director will then mail to the 

appropriate vendor in accordance with the terms of the contract and in accordance with program 

requirements. 

All purchases made shall be pursuant to written authorization from the head of the office, 

department or agency whose appropriation will be charged, and no contract or order shall be 

issued to any seller unless and until the Finance Director certifies that there is to the credit of 

such office, department or agency a sufficient unencumbered appropriation balance to pay for the 

supplies, materials, equipment or contractual services for which the contract or order is to be 

issued. 

Advance Payment Requirements and Procedures. 

This section of the financial management system of the City of Palestine, a non-Federal entity 

other than a state, is intended to provide written procedures to implement the requirements of 2 

CRF 200.305, including establishing payment methods to minimize the time elapsing between 

the transfer of funds from the United State Treasury or any pass-through entity and the 



 

 

 

disbursement by the City whether the payment is made by electronic funds or transfer, or 

issuance or redemption of checks, warrants, or payment by other means, to meet Federal 

standards for fund control and accountability. 

Advance payments received by the City shall be limited to the minimum amounts needed and 

shall be timed to be in accordance with the actual, immediate cash requirements of the City in 

carrying out the purpose of the approved program or project, with the timing and amount of 

advance payments to be as close as is administratively feasible to the actual disbursements by the 

City for direct program or project costs and the proportionate share of any allowable indirect 

costs. 

1) The City shall make timely payment to contractors in accordance with the contract provisions. 

2) Whenever possible, advance payments shall be consolidated to cover anticipated cash needs 

for all Federal awards made by the Federal awarding agency to the City. 

3) Advance payment mechanisms including Treasury check and electronic funds transfer shall 

comply with applicable guidance in 2 CFR Part 208. 

4) The City may submit requests for advance payments and reimbursements monthly when 

electronic fund transfers are not used, and more often when electronic transfers are used, in 

accordance with the Electronic Fund Transfer Act (15 U.S.C. 1693-1693r). 

5) When the reimbursement method is used, the City shall make payment within 30 calendar 

days after receipt of the billing, unless the Federal awarding agency or pass-through entity 

reasonably believes the request to be improper. 

6) When the cash method on a working capital advance basis is used, and advance cash payments 

are made to the City to cover its estimated disbursement needs for an initial period generally 

geared to the City’s disbursing cycle, thereafter the City may receive from the Federal awarding 

agency or pass-through entity reimbursement for the City’s actual cash disbursements. 

7) Use of resources before requesting case advance payments – To the extent available, the City 

shall disburse funds available from program income (including repayments to a revolving fund), 

rebates, refunds, contract settlements, audit recovered, and interest earned on such funds before 

requesting additional cash payments. 

8)  The City shall at all times, including during the period of performance: 

 a) Comply with the project objectives, Federal statutes, regulation, or the terms and 

conditions of the Federal award; 

 b) Not be delinquent in a debt to the United States as defined in OMB Guidance A-129, 

“Policies for Federal Credit Programs and Non-Tax Receivables,” and; 

 c) Comply with Federal award conditions. 

9) In regard to the use of banks and other institutions as depositories of advance payments under 

Federal awards, the City shall at all times be able to account for the receipt, obligation, and 



 

 

 

expenditure of funds, and advance payments of Federal funds shall be deposited and maintained 

in insured accounts whenever possible. 

10) The City shall maintain advance payments of Federal awards in interest-bearing accounts, 

unless the following apply: 

 a) The City receives less than $120,000 in Federal awards per year; 

 b) The best reasonably available interest-bearing account would not be expected to earn 

interest in excess of $500 per year on Federal cash balances; 

 c) The depository would require an average or minimum balance so high that it would not 

be feasible within the expected Federal and non-Federal cash resources; or 

 d) A foreign government of banking system prohibits or precludes interest bearing 

accounts. 

11) Interest earned up to $500 per year may be retained by the City for administrative expense 

but any additional interest earned on Federal advance payments deposited in interest-bearing 

accounts shall be remitted annually to the awarding agency through an electronic medium using 

either ACH network or as otherwise prescribed by awarding agency. 

 

___________________________     _______________________ 

Mitchell Jordan – Mayor      Date 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________ 

April Jackson - City Secretary 

 



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: Adoption of Procurement Policies and Procedures for Federal Grant Contracts
Date Submitted: 04/18/2024

SUMMARY:
Consider approval of a resolution adopting the Procurement Policies and Procedures for Federal Grant
Contracts as needed for applying for a GLO Resilient Communities Program (RCP) grant. These
procurement policies and procedures are for use in implementing and administrating Federal Grants
received by the City of Palestine. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval as presented. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Resolution 



 

 

RESOLUTION NO. R- -24 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS, ADOPTING PROCUREMENT 

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FOR FEDERAL GRANT CONTRACTS; PROVIDING 

FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION; AND PROVIDING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE.  

WHEREAS,  the City of Palestine needs to adopt formal policies and procedures for the 

application and receipt of grant funds; and 

WHEREAS,  the Procurement Policies and Procedures for Federal Grant Contracts will establish 

the framework for operating practices and procedures to execute grant programs 

and projects; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council deems it is in the public’s best interest to continue to be eligible 

for grants through program compliance and to formally approve and adopt the 

Procurement Policies and Procedures for Federal Grant Contracts. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF PALESTINE, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1. The foregoing recitals are incorporated into this Resolution by reference as 

findings of fact as if expressly set forth herein. 

SECTION 2. The Procurement Policies and Procedures for Federal Grant Contracts of 

the City of Palestine is attached hereto as “Exhibit A” and is hereby adopted 

as the formal policy of the City. 

SECTION 3. Should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 

Resolution be declared unconstitutional or invalid for any purpose, the 

remainder of this Resolution shall not be affected thereby. 

SECTION 4. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage and 

publication. 

SECTION 5. It is found and determined that the meeting at which this Resolution was 

passed was open to the public as required by law. 

 PASSED, APPROVED, and ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Palestine, 

Texas, on this the 22nd day of April 2024. 

       ______________________________ 

       MITCHELL JORDAN 

       MAYOR 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

APRIL JACKSON     REZZIN PULLUM 

CITY SECRETARY     CITY ATTORNEY 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

CITY OF PALESTINE 

Procurement Policies and Procedures for Federal Grant Contracts 

Policies 

1. Those closely involved in the establishment of the written selection criteria and selection 

shall have no potential conflicts of interest with any of the individuals, firms, or agencies 

under review (e.g., family relationships, close friendships, business dealings).  Any 

person who might potentially receive benefits from grant-assisted activities may not 

participate in the decision-making process.  Nepotism and conflict of interest regulations 

can be found in the Texas Government Code Chapter 573, Texas Local Government Code 

Chapter 171, and 2 CFR 200.318(c)(1). 

2. All procurement transactions will be conducted in a manner providing full and open 

competition. 

a. No unreasonable requirements are placed on firms in order for them to qualify. 

b. No unnecessary experience or excessive bonding required. 

c. Noncompetitive pricing practices between firms or between affiliated companies 

is disallowed. 

d. Noncompetitive contracts are disallowed except for when there is an approved 

exception 

e. No organizational conflicts of interest 

f. If a “brand name” product is specified, an equal or like product is acceptable. 

g. A vendor that intends to respond to the Request for Proposals, Request for 

Qualifications and/or Invitation for Bid may not participate in the development or 

drafting of specifications, requirements, statements of work, or invitations for bids 

or requests for proposals, including, but not limited to, the development of the 

scoring criteria, the final selection of firms to be contacted, or the scoring of 

proposals. 

3. All procurement transactions shall incorporate a clear and accurate description of the 

technical requirements for the material, product, or service to be procured. 

4. All procurement transactions shall identify all requirements which the offerors must 

fulfill and all other factors to be used in evaluating bids or proposals 

5. If the City of Palestine uses a prequalified list when acquiring goods or services, the City 

of Palestine will ensure the list is updated regularly, provides enough qualified sources to 

ensure maximum open and free competition.  

6. All procurement transactions must conform to applicable local, state, and federal laws 

and regulations. 



 

 

 

7. Small and minority businesses, women's business enterprises, and labor surplus area 

firms are encouraged to participate. If the awarded vendor is a prime contractor and may 

use subcontractors, the following affirmative steps are required of the prime contractor: 

a. Placing qualified small and minority businesses and women's business enterprises 

on solicitation lists; 

b. Assuring that small and minority businesses, and women's business enterprises 

are solicited whenever they are potential sources; 

c. Dividing total requirements, when economically feasible, into smaller tasks or 

quantities to permit maximum participation by small and minority businesses, and 

women's business enterprises; 

d. Establishing delivery schedules, where the requirement permits, which encourage 

participation by small and minority businesses, and women's business enterprises; 

e. Using the services and assistance, as appropriate, of such organizations as the 

Small Business Administration and the Minority Business Development Agency 

of the Department of Commerce. 

Procedures 

Procurement Cycle Steps 

Need Defined— The City of Palestine user department submits request and specifications. Purchaser 

reviews request and specifications for unnecessary or duplicative items in accordance with 2 CFR 200.318 

(d). 

 

Procurement Method Selected—Based on type and estimated cost of good/service as well as purchasing 

authority, purchaser determines the procurement method that will result in a best value acquisition for the 

City of Palestine.  

 

Contract Cost and Price - A cost or price analysis must be conducted in connection with every 

procurement action more than the federal Simplified Acquisition Threshold including contract 

modifications (2 CFR 200.323).  

 

The simplified acquisition threshold for federal procurement actions is currently set by the Federal 

Acquisition Regulation at 48 CFR Subpart 2.1 (Definitions) and in accordance with 41 U.S.C. 1908 as 

$150,000, but this threshold is periodically adjusted for inflation. 2 C.F.R. §200.88 

 



 

 

 

The method and degree of analysis is dependent on the facts surrounding the particular procurement 

situation, but as a starting point, an independent estimate must be made before receiving bids or proposals. 

2 C.F.R. § 200.323(a). 

 

Cost analysis is the evaluation of the separate elements (e.g., labor, materials, etc.) that make up a 

contractor's total cost proposal or price (for both new contracts and modifications) to determine if they are 

allowable, directly related to the requirement and ultimately, reasonable. 

 

Price analysis is essentially price comparison. It is the evaluation of a proposed price (i.e., lump sum) 

without analyzing any of the separate cost elements of which it is composed. 

 

 

Solicitation— The City of Palestine creates the appropriate solicitation document, with terms and 

conditions and evaluation criteria clearly defined, and notifies vendor sources for an informal or formal bid 

process.  

 

Receipt of Bids and Responses to Solicitation—Vendors submit their response to the solicitation.  

 

Evaluation and Awards— The City of Palestine reviews the responses from vendors, determines 

compliance with the solicitation and makes an award recommendation based on the pre-defined best value 

criteria.  

 

Negotiation of Profit - Federal Guidelines require negotiations of profit as a separate element of the price 

for each contract and modification in which there is no price competition and, in all cases, where cost 

analysis must be performed.  2 C.F.R. §  200.323(b) 

 

The City of Palestine will use one of the following five methods of procurement described at 2 

CFR Section 200.320: (1) procurement by micro-purchases, (2) procurement by small purchase 

procedures, (3) procurement by sealed bids, (4) procurement by competitive proposals, or (5) 

procurement by noncompetitive proposals. 

1. Simplified Acquisition Procedures for Purchases Below Micro-Purchase Threshold 

For purposes of this section, the micro-purchase threshold is $3,000. 

 



 

 

 

Procurement by micro-purchase is the acquisition of supplies or services, the aggregate dollar 

amount of which does not exceed the micro-purchase threshold (§200.67 Micro-purchase). To 

the extent practicable, the City of Palestine must distribute micro-purchases equitably among 

qualified suppliers. Micro-purchases may be awarded without soliciting competitive quotations if 

the non-Federal entity considers the price to be reasonable. 

2. Small Purchase  

Small purchase procedures are those relatively simple and informal procurement methods for 

securing services, supplies, or other property that cost less than the lesser of the Federal 

Simplified Acquisition Threshold or the $50,000 threshold defined in state law (Local 

Government Code §262.003 for counties and §252.021 for municipalities. If small purchase 

procedures are used, price or rate quotations must be obtained from an adequate number of 

qualified sources.  

For service contracts that are under the small purchase threshold and do not fall under 

professional services as defined in Section 2254.002(2) of Local Government Code, the City of 

Palestine may receive quotes and award the contract to any reasonable and responsible bidder.  

The local governing body has the final authority to award contracts. 

3. Construction and Materials Contracts 

In order for sealed bidding to be feasible, the following conditions should be present: 

a. A complete, adequate, and realistic specification or purchase description is 

available; 

b. Two or more responsible bidders are willing and able to compete effectively for 

the business; and 

c. The procurement lends itself to a firm fixed price contract and the selection of the 

successful bidder can be made principally on the basis of price. 

If sealed bids are used, the following requirements apply: 

a. Bids must be solicited from an adequate number of known suppliers, providing 

them sufficient response time prior to the date set for opening the bids, for local, 

and tribal governments, the invitation for bids must be publicly advertised; 

b. The invitation for bids, which will include any specifications and pertinent 

attachments, must define the items or services in order for the bidder to properly 

respond; 

c. All bids will be opened at the time and place prescribed in the invitation for bids, 

and for local and tribal governments, the bids must be opened publicly; 

d. A firm fixed price contract award will be made in writing to the lowest responsive 

and responsible bidder. Where specified in bidding documents, factors such as 

discounts, transportation cost, and life cycle costs must be considered in 

determining which bid is lowest. Payment discounts will only be used to 



 

 

 

determine the low bid when prior experience indicates that such discounts are 

usually taken advantage of; and 

e. Any or all bids may be rejected if there is a sound documented reason. 

4. Professional Services Contracts 

This method is generally used when conditions are not appropriate for the use of sealed bids. If 

this method is used, the following requirements apply: 

a. Requests for proposals must be publicized and identify all evaluation factors and 

their relative importance. Any response to publicized requests for proposals must 

be considered to the maximum extent practical; 

b. Proposals must be solicited from an adequate number of qualified sources; 

c. The City of Palestine must have a written method for conducting technical 

evaluations of the proposals received and for selecting recipients; 

d. Contracts must be awarded to the responsible firm whose proposal is most 

advantageous to the program, with price and other factors considered; and 

e. The City of Palestine may use competitive proposal procedures for qualifications-

based procurement of architectural/engineering (A/E) professional services 

whereby competitors' qualifications are evaluated and the most qualified 

competitor is selected, subject to negotiation of fair and reasonable compensation. 

The method, where price is not used as a selection factor, can only be used in 

procurement of A/E professional services. It cannot be used to purchase other 

types of services though A/E firms are a potential source to perform the proposed 

effort. 

5. Noncompetitive Proposals 

This method may be used only when one or more of the following circumstances apply: 

a. The item is available only from a single source; 

b. The public exigency or emergency for the requirement will not permit a delay 

resulting from competitive solicitation; 

c. The Federal awarding agency or pass-through entity expressly authorizes 

noncompetitive proposals in response to a written request; or 

d. After solicitation of a number of sources, competition is determined inadequate. 

These Policies and Procedures are implemented through the City of Palestine’s administrative 

team and their titles are listed below: 

City Manager, Finance Director, and City Secretary 

 

[Signatures on the following page.] 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=a56842fe7ffc1adf97444068765fa6be&term_occur=1&term_src=Title:2:Subtitle:A:Chapter:II:Part:200:Subpart:D:Subjgrp:31:200.320
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=bd068de301925928a02adc6fab1b1d02&term_occur=1&term_src=Title:2:Subtitle:A:Chapter:II:Part:200:Subpart:D:Subjgrp:31:200.320


 

 

 

___________________________     _______________________ 

Mitchell Jordan – Mayor      Date 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________ 

April Jackson - City Secretary 

 

 

 

 



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Teresa Herrera, City Manager
Agenda Item: Farmers Market
Date Submitted:

SUMMARY:
At its February 12th meeting, the Council unanimously approved the renewal of the contract with Roger
and April Shaner for the management of the farmers' market. The contract is set to extend for a period of
five years, demonstrating the Council's confidence in their ability to effectively oversee this vital
community asset.

As per the decision, a draft agreement outlining the terms and conditions of the renewed contract has
been prepared for final approval. Please find the attached draft agreement for your review and
consideration.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval. The city attorney has drafted the agreement, ensuring that it aligns with all
legal requirements and safeguards the interests of both parties involved.

Furthermore, the agreement has undergone a comprehensive review process, with Roger and April
Shaner providing valuable insights and feedback to ensure its accuracy and completeness.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Draft Farmers Market Agreement 



CITY OF PALESTINE FARMERS’ MARKET AGREEMENT  

 

This LICENSE AGREEMENT (“License Agreement” or “Agreement”), dated this 12th day of 

February, 2024, is made and entered into by and between the CITY OF PALESTINE, a home 

rule municipal corporation, hereinafter referred to as “Licensor”, and April and Roger Shaner, 

hereinafter referred to as “Licensee”.  

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, the Licensor owns a certain parcel of real property that is located at 813 West 

Spring Street, Palestine, TX 75801 in Palestine, Anderson County, Texas, and 

more particularly shown in Exhibit “A”, attached hereto and incorporated herein 

by this reference (“Premises”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the residents of Palestine have expressed a desire and need for a local farmers’ 

market to take place on the Premises; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Licensee has experience in managing farmers’ markets; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Licensor deems it advantageous to grant Licensee certain rights, privileges, 

and uses herein as necessary to conduct its business as hereinafter set forth; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council previously approved a contract with Licensee for the operation 

and management of the Farmer’s Market on or about February 2021 (“2021 

Farmers’ Market Contract”), which proved to benefit the residents of the City of 

Palestine; and  

 

WHEREAS, subject to the terms of this Agreement, Licensee will operate a farmers’ market on 

the Premises; and  

 

WHEREAS, Licensor finds it in the best interests of to enter into this Agreement with 

Licensee.   

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, and agreements 

contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which is hereby acknowledged, Licensor and Licensee (hereinafter “Parties”) hereby agree as 

follows:  

 

ARTICLE I 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1.01 LICENSE: 

 

Licensor hereby issues to Licensee an Exclusive License to enter upon and use the Premises for 

and during the term of this License, and any extension or renewal thereof, solely and exclusively 

for the following purposes or activities: a farmers’ market, allowing Licensee and its employees, 

agents, contractors, invitees, and anyone entering the Premises under this Agreement (including 

but not limited to members of the general public) (herein referred to collectively as “Licensee’s 

Designees”) to operate a farmers’ market, which would include but is not limited to the 



 

City of Palestine        April 11, 2024 

Famers’ Market Agreement  Page 2 of 10 

following: all aspects of the Market’s management, including vendor selection, vendor space 

assignment, setup and breakdown supervision, marketing and promotion, coordination, security, 

invoice preparation, revenue collection, and other duties as required by Market functions and 

operations. These services shall be performed in accordance with the requirements in RFP 

#2020-030 and Contractor’s Response, attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit B.  

 

1.02 LICENSED AREA:  

 

The Licensor does hereby license the Premises, located at 813 West Spring Street, Palestine, TX 

75801, and Licensee hereby accepts the license on the said Premises from Licensor.  This shall 

include the open space and shaded area between Pavilion and Mill Street. Licensee hereby 

declares itself fully familiar with the physical condition of the licensed premises and declares 

that said premises were in good condition when possession of same was accepted. Premises are 

licensed unto Licensee in “AS IS” condition.   Licensee has inspected the premises and accepts 

the same in “AS IS” condition.  

 

Should the restroom facilities at the Farmer’s Market cease to work or need to be repaired, the 

City shall provide alternate means for use of the restroom. 

 

1.03 TERM:  

 

This License shall commence February 12, 2024 and shall continue until February 16, 2029. 

 

1.04 TERMINATION: 

 

The City of Palestine reserves the right to terminate the Agreement immediately with written 

notice to the Licensee in the event the Licensee: 

A. Fails to meet delivery schedules. 

B. Defaults in the payment of any fees. 

C. Otherwise fails to perform in accordance with this contract. 

D. Becomes insolvent and/or files for protection from bankruptcy law. 

 

The Agreement may be terminated without penalty, for any reason or none whatsoever, by either 

Party by providing thirty (30) day’s written notice to the other Party. 

 

1.05 DATE AND HOURS OF OPERATION:  

 

Licensee promises to adhere to and agrees to the following dates and hours of operation for the 

use of the Premises:  

 

[Insert Schedule]  

 

1.06 RENTAL OBLIGATION:  

 

Licensor agrees to provide the use of the Premises only on the dates and times scheduled under 

this Agreement for a cost of four hundred dollars ($400.00) per month. Licensee shall submit the 



 

City of Palestine        April 11, 2024 

Famers’ Market Agreement  Page 3 of 10 

payment to the Licensor by the 5th day of each month. Payments shall be made either by check 

mailed to the Licensor at the Licensor’s address as listed below or paid in person at City Hall.  

 

The income from the Farmers’ Market will belong to the Licensee. Unless pre-approved by the 

Licensor, all out-of-pocket expenses for management services will be the responsibility of the 

Licensee. All costs other than utilities and general facility maintenance will be the responsibility 

of the Licensee. The Licensee shall promptly notify the Licensor by phone, email, or regular mail 

of any general facility maintenance issues with the Premises. 

 

Licensee shall obtain, complete, and maintain all permits and supporting documentation to 

satisfy all permitting requirements of Anderson County, the State of Texas, and the City of 

Palestine. Licensee shall abide by all Federal, State, and local laws, rules, and regulations, and all 

City of Palestine policies and directions. Licensee shall present an annual report to the City of 

Palestine Council at the end of each market year (to be defined by Licensee).     

 

1.07 USE CONFLICT:  

 

The premises are to be occupied solely for the purpose of operating a Farmers’ Market and 

related events that are authorized by the Licensee consistent with this License and the rules, 

regulations, and laws of the City of Palestine and the State of Texas .  

 

1.08 ON-SITE MANAGER: 

 

Licensee shall ensure that an on-site manager is present at the Premises during each and every 

farmers’ market date from the commencement of set up until all vendors/vehicles have vacated 

the Premises. Licensee shall utilize best industry practices and/or best management practices, 

which may require additional services not explicitly enumerated. 

 

1.09 PARKING:  

 

Parking within the licensed premises shall be supervised by Licensee.  

  

1.10 SIGNS:  

 

Licensee agrees to provide, at Licensee’s sole cost and expense, any and all temporary signs.  

 

1.11 SECURITY:  

 

Licensee agrees, where reasonably necessary and at their own discretion, to provide at 

Licensee’s sole cost and expense any number of licensed peace officers and security personnel 

deemed by Licensor to be reasonably necessary for the protection of persons and property on the 

premises.   

 

 

 

 

1.12 CLEAN UP, GARBAGE STORAGE, AND DISPOSAL:  



 

City of Palestine        April 11, 2024 

Famers’ Market Agreement  Page 4 of 10 

 

Licensor agrees to provide a sufficient number of containers on the premises for trash collection.  

Licensee shall ensure that farmers’ market participants (i) maintain the space(s) assigned to them 

in a clean and sanitary condition; and (ii) remove all equipment, fruits, vegetables, trimmings, 

wrappings, containers, and trash immediately upon vacation of such spaces.  In the event that any 

farmers’ market participant does not adhere to the above guidelines, Licensee shall, at Licensee’s 

expense, arrange for cleanup of the area to the satisfaction of Licensor.  Licensee agrees to store 

all accumulated trash/garbage in a neat and clean manner as an essential element of its 

responsibilities for upkeep of the premises. This includes any loose garbage that may have flown 

out during or after the event.   

 

ARTICLE II 

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE 

 

2.01 INDEMNIFICATION:  

 

 TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, LICENSEE AGREES TO 

DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS THE CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS, 

TOGETHER WITH ITS RESPECTIVE OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, FORMER AND 

PRESENT ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICIALS, LEGAL REPRESENTATIVES, 

AGENTS, SERVANTS, EMPLOYEES (IN BOTH THEIR PUBLIC AND PRIVATE 

CAPACITIES), VOLUNTEERS, SUCCESSORS, AND ASSIGNS (HEREINAFTER 

COLLECTIVELY PALESTINE), OF, FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, 

LOSSES, DAMAGES, DEFENSE COSTS, OR LIABILITY OF ANY KIND OR NATURE 

(COLLECTIVELY REFERRED TO HEREINAFTER AS “CLAIMS”) ASSERTED BY 

ANY PERSON OR ENTITY AGAINST PALESTINE WHETHER ARISING OUT OF, 

TOUCHING UPON OR IN ANY WAY RELATING TO LICENSEE’S  (OR LINCESEE’S 

CONTRACTORS’ OR SUBCONTRACTORS’, IF ANY) (I) ACTS, ERRORS, OR 

OMISSIONS, (II) PERFORMANCE OR FAILURE TO PERFORM, (III) GOODS OR 

SERVICES PROVIDED, (IV) WORK PERFORMED BY, OR ON BEHALF OF 

LICENSEE, OR (V) USE OF THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THIS LICENSE APPLIES, 

RELATIVE TO THIS AGREEMENT, EXCEPT ANY SUCH CLAIMS, DAMAGES, 

CAUSES OF ACTION, COSTS AND EXPENSES ARISING OUT OF THE SOLE 

NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL ACT OF PALESTINE, ITS EMPLOYEES, AGENTS OR 

REPRESENTATIVES.  

 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the above paragraph, Licensee further agrees to assume all 

risk, and to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Licensor from and against any and all claims, 

demands, defense costs, liability, expense, or damages of any kind or nature arising out of or in 

connection with damage to or loss of any property belonging to Licensee or Licensee’s 

employees, exhibitors, contractors, representatives, patrons, guests, or invitees.  

 

The obligations set forth in this indemnification provision (i) shall be in effect without regard to 

whether or not Licensor, Licensee or any other person maintains, or fails to maintain, insurance 

coverage, or a self-insurance program, for any such Claims; and (ii) shall survive the termination 

of this Agreement.   

 



 

City of Palestine        April 11, 2024 

Famers’ Market Agreement  Page 5 of 10 

2.02 INSURANCE:  

 

Without limiting Licensor’s right to indemnification, it is agreed that Licensee shall secure prior 

to commencing any activities under this Agreement, and maintain during the term of this 

Agreement, insurance coverage as follows:  

 

Commercial General Liability Insurance in an amount not less than One Million Dollars 

($1,000,000) per occurrence, combined single limit, written on an occurrence form, and an 

annual aggregate not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000). The general liability should 

also include hired and non-owned vehicles.  Licensor shall be furnished a copy of proof of 

insurance prior to the execution of this Agreement. Workers’ Compensation insurance shall be at 

statutory limits. 
 

The City of Palestine shall be named as an additional insured with respect to General Liability.  

A waiver of subrogation in favor of the City of Palestine shall be contained in all liability 

policies.  All insurance policies shall be endorsed to require the insurer to immediately notify the 

City of Palestine of any material change in the insurance coverage.  All insurance policies shall 

be endorsed to the effect that the City of Palestine will receive at least sixty (60) days notice 

prior to cancellation or non-renewal of the insurance. 

 

 

ARTICLE III 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 

3.01 APPLICABLE LAW: 

  

This agreement shall be construed under and in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, 

and performed in Anderson County, Texas.  

 

3.02  BINDING AGREEMENT:  

 

This agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their 

respective employees, agents, servants, legal representatives, successors, and assigns unless 

otherwise prohibited.  

 

3.03 COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL LAWS:  

 

Further, Licensee will keep and maintain the licensed premises in a clean and healthy condition 

and comply with the laws, ordinances, orders, rules, and regulations (State, Federal, Municipal, 

and other agencies or bodies having any jurisdiction hereof) with reference to use, conditions, or 

occupancy of the licensed premises.  

 

3.04 NO SUBLICENSE, ASSIGNMENT OR JOINT VENTURE:  

 

Licensee is not permitted to sublicense the premises or assign said license without written 

permission given by the Licensor. This agreement is not intended to and shall not be construed to 

create any joint enterprise between or among the Parties. Licensee is an independent contractor 



 

City of Palestine        April 11, 2024 

Famers’ Market Agreement  Page 6 of 10 

and all persons employed to furnish services hereunder shall not be considered employees of the 

Licensor. 

 

For events coordinated by the Licensee, the Licensee shall not require written permission from 

the Licensor so long as Licensee and its employees, agents, contractors, and invitees assume all 

obligations of this License and agree to provide reasonable accommodations for use of the 

facility consistent with this License and the rules, regulations, and laws of the City of Palestine 

and the State of Texas. 

 

3.05 HOLDING OVER:  

 

In the event Licensee does not vacate all or part of the premises at the end of each business day, 

Licensee shall be obligated to pay Licensor for the cost of removal of any and all materials.   

 

3.06 JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY:  

 

If more than one Licensee is named herein, the obligations of each Licensee herein shall be joint 

and severable.  The singular includes the plural, and the plural includes the singular. 

 

3.07 WAIVER: 

 

Either Party’s failure to insist at any time on the strict performance of any covenant or 

agreement, or such Party’s failure to exercise any option, right, power, or remedy contained in 

this Agreement, shall not be construed as a waiver or a relinquishment thereof for the future.  

The waiver of or failure to seek redress for any violation of any term, covenant, or condition 

contained in this Agreement shall not prevent a subsequent act from being a violation.  A Party 

shall be considered to have waived a provision of this Agreement only if specifically expressed 

in writing and signed by such Party.  No expressed waiver shall affect any matter other than the 

one specified in the waiver and only for the time and in the manner specifically stated.   

 

3.08 NO PARTNERSHIP: 

 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Licensor is not, and under no circumstances 

shall it be considered to be, a partner of Licensee or engaged in a joint venture with Licensee.  

 

3.09 TIME OF ESSENCE:  

 

Time is of the essence in this agreement.  

 

3.10 NO THIRD-PARTY RIGHTS: 

 

The Parties intend not to create rights in, or to grant remedies to, any third Party as a beneficiary 

of this Agreement or any duty, covenant, obligation, or undertaking established herein.  

 



 

City of Palestine        April 11, 2024 

Famers’ Market Agreement  Page 7 of 10 

3.11 NO DISCRIMINATION: 

 

Discrimination or harassment in any form is prohibited. Discrimination or harassment is the 

treatment or consideration of, or making a distinction in favor or against, a person based on the 

group, class, or category to which that person belongs, including but not limited to race, color, 

national origin, age, disability, economic class, sex, gender expression or sexual orientation.  As 

a vendor for the Palestine Farmers Market, the vendor agrees to comply with all local, state, and 

federal laws applicable which includes but is not limited to vendor compliance with Title VII, 

Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, the Texas Labor Code, the Drug Free Workplace Act of 

1988, and the Americans with Disabilities Act, as well as Applicant’s refraining from 

discrimination of persons based on race, color, religion, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth, and 

related medical conditions; sexual orientation), national origin, disability, age, citizenship status, 

genetic information, political affiliation or participation in civil rights activities. Furthermore, 

while the City of Palestine fully supports the exercise of freedom of speech, the City of Palestine 

will not financially support or allow events on City property that incorporate or promote ideas of 

hate or that are intended to vilify, humiliate, or incite hatred against a group or a class of persons 

on the basis of race, religion, skin color, sexual identity, gender identity, ethnicity, disability or 

national origin. Licensees and vendors are expected and required to abide by this policy. 

 

3.12 SEVERABILITY.   

 

If any provision of this Agreement is illegal, invalid, or unenforceable under present or future 

laws, then, and in that event, it is the intention of the Parties that the remainder of this Agreement 

shall not be affected. 

 

3.13 NOTICES: 

 

Notices and communication concerning this Agreement shall be sent to the following addresses 

 

FOR Licensor: 

City of Palestine 

Attn: Teresa Herrera, City Manager 

504 N. Queen Street 

Palestine, TX 75801 

therrera@palestine-tx.org  

(903) 731-8416 

 

FOR LICENSEE: 

April and Roger Shaner  

1009 Woodland Drive 

Palestine, TX 75801  
palestinefamersmarket@gmail.com  

(903) 394-3239  
 

Either Party may, by notice to the other Party, change the address specified above. Service of 

notice or communications shall be complete when received at the designated address.  

 

mailto:therrera@palestine-tx.org
mailto:palestinefamersmarket@gmail.com


 

City of Palestine        April 11, 2024 

Famers’ Market Agreement  Page 8 of 10 

 

EXECUTED ON THIS 12th DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 

 

        

 

 

LESSOR: CITY OF PALESTINE, 

       A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 

BY: 

 

____________________________________ 

       TERESA HERRERA, CITY MANAGER 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

APRIL JACKSON, CITY SECRETARY 

 

        

 

 

 

 

 

 

LESSEE: APRIL & ROGER SHANER  
BY: 

 

____________________________________ 

APRIL SHANER, PALESTINE 

FARMERS’ MARKET 

        



 

City of Palestine        April 11, 2024 

Famers’ Market Agreement  Page 9 of 10 

EXHIBIT “A” 

Farmers’ Market Premises  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
Located at 813 W. Spring Street, Palestine, TX 75801 

 

 



 

City of Palestine        April 11, 2024 

Famers’ Market Agreement  Page 10 of 10 

EXHIBIT “B” 

RFP #2020-030 and Contractor’s Response 



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Chris Mahoney, Accountant
Agenda Item: 25K Checks
Date Submitted: 04/16/2024

SUMMARY:
The current purchasing policy requires City Council approval for expenditures over $25,000. The
following expenditures have been reviewed and approved by Department Head(s) and City Manager: 

Johnson Lab & Supply, INC.-  $84,555.911.
Johnson Lab & Supply, INC.-  $139,239.312.

. 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Review and approve invoices as presented.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
25K Checks 



CIW OF PATESTINE

VENDOR: O100656 JOHNSON LAB & SUPPIY, INC.

DATE INVOICE # PO* DESCRIPTION

4/3/2024 268229-001 24 4a49 DORRANCE WATERLINE REPLACEMENT - PARTS ONIY

4/3/2024 268233 001 METER BOX

3/21/2024 269305-000 6" CLAMPS

3/2't 12024 269486-000 FIRE HYDRANT & PARTS

41312024 269486 001 FIRE HYDRANT DIFFUSERS

4/t/2024 269578-000 WATER STOCK

4/7/2024 269754-000 CTC PVC ADAPTER

4/3/2024 269802-000 F|RE HYDRANT

4/312024 269823-000 11 1/4 BENo

207192

04/7u2024

AMOUNT

71,077.20

70.00

I,070.24

4,206.60

392.70

3,442.6t

56.69

4,104.60

L35.27

CHECK TOTAL 84,55 5.91

City of Palestine

Pffisrr-r'r'rf so4 Queen st

\.!rrz Palestine, TX 75801

General Operating Account

207t92

r13122655

CH ECK f

PAY --Eighty Four Thousand Five Hundred Fifty Five Dollars and 91/100 Cents---

JOHNSON LAB & SUPPLY INC.

415 N TENN ESSEE

PALESTINE, TX 75801

04/LL/2024 s84,sss.91

TO THE

OROER

OF

PROSPERITY BANK
1015 Nonh Church Street

Palestine, Texas 75801



Lab and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344

INVOICE

lnvoice No.

Date

Page

P.O. No.

Terms

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET

ATT: FINANGE DEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 75801

24-4849

Order No./Rel Customer No. SalesRep

PALESTINE, CITY OF

20r E. coRoNAcA
PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship Via Req Date Reference

NET/30 OAYS 264229-001 116680 MIKE OUR TRUCK

PR1806

PR18o4

uFR15o0RZA6

BF'l3777WGNL

3,1500681004S-CP

BA43342WGNL

. o1200BoLs

Ol SOOTTBODY

.0t500BoLs

6 CL I50 C SOO PVC PIPE

4 CL 150 C 900 PVC P|PE

6" 15OO RAPID INSTALL RESTRAIN
GLAND PACK w/ SOEZ

2" CTS X MTR FLANGE BALL VALV

6 X 1 SS SADDLE CORP CTS PJ
6.84-7.64 0D

1 X 3/4 ANGLE STOP CTS X MTR

BLUE OVERLAPPING LID
SOLIO NO READER

JUMAO METER BOX BODY ONLY

BLUE JUMBO LID OVERLAPPING
SOLID NO READER

2 HYMPX 2 FLIP COUPLING
2,10.3,03 OD RANGE

5000

100

240

5OOO FEET

1OO FEET

240 EACH

11.,{6

7.26

54.38

57.300.00

726.00

'r3,051.20

O EACH

O EACH

377.50

296.84

0.00

0.00

O EACH

O EACH

0.00

0.00

O EACH

O EACH

22 00

12 75

0.00

0.00

15

40

21

20000303260 127 00 000

Sub Total:

Total:
71,077.20

171,077.20
-___ -_

PAYMENTAIJT
q qa q q

x l
------ I o 1

9.-U-a

c,4n3/2a241622 AB

Johnson Lab & Supply lnc.
41 5 N. Tennessee St.

Palestine, TX 75801

Phone: 903-729-3111
Fax: 903-729-3355

268229-O01

o4to312024

1of 1

Sold To Ship To:

02t07 r2024

Product No. Description Ordgred Shippod UO ljnit Prica Unlt Discount Extonsion

104 19

806

1 O EACH

Itt

r
l*:
t..

I
l'al o,Tt,,cct

ct

-:t
.,scribe

s

T

Tr./ TINR
-----____=-



Pertiitir.rE
<q'+z

CITY OF PATESTINE
504 North Queen Street
Palestine, TX 75801

PURCHASE ORDER

Date:

Vendor f:

o212712024

0100656

ITEM Ul'IIISDESCfiIPTION GL ACCI T PRICE

1 O DORRANCE WATERLINE REPLACIMENT. PARTS ONLY 610-571-58030 191 WATERLINE 0.00 772,475.93

17 2,87 5.93

0.00

0.00

L72,875.93

q
City Manater

PurchaslngA8ent

1. Otldn.l lnwle with remllt.nc. rlip hGt b. r.nt to: Clty ol Palenine, 504 or$ qu€€n Stret, p.ta.tin€, rX 7s80t.
2. P.yn.nr m.y b€ €rp€cicd wtthh 30 d.yr ot .c.etpt ot to.ds and tnvoice.
3 c.O.O. shipm.nt x,lll .ot b€ ....rt d.
4. Purch:t! Or.ler numbeB tnun .pF.. on .ll rhlppht co.taln.B, pedint sllF .hd lnvolcs. r.rbr. to GoDply wnh the atov. rcquc m.! d.tay paym€.t.
5. All toods .rc to !. 3hlpp.d f.O.l. O.ntnation q.t€$ oth.dtr. .tated.
6 all m.t rl.lt and -M.e. .rG tubi.d ro .PProv.l b.tc.l o th. dai.npdo. o. the le.. ol th. pur.h.{ ord.r or .pp.nd.sei rh...ot subtthurronr .rc not p..mtn.d wirhout

.pprdrl of the 8.queniry Oep.tme6t, M.t..i.t mt .pprov.d wil be r.iumcd .r m .6r to th. Ctty.
7. All toodr .nd .qulpm.nt mu* me.t or .rc.€d rtt E.tery ctty, rt te .nd f.d.r:t rr.nd.rdr .nd r.tut.donr.
8. v.ndor or m.nuf..tuer !€aE n* ot lo3s or d.m.t€ unttt prop€rty r€tchEd .ndlor tntt €d.

10. lh. clty k .lempt f.om .ll t€de..t cr<l* .nd 3t.re r.t - tD, 75{0@6!2

J& 1h,""

,4

Purchasing Department (903)731-8404 Fax (903) 731-8413

ISSUED TO: JoHNsoN LAB & SUPPLY, lNC.

415 N TENNESSEE

PALESTINE, TX 75801

PO Number: 24-4849

Requisition fii 24-4982

SHIP TO: PUBLIC WORKS

KIMBERLY BECKMAN

Palestine, TX 75801

SUBTOTAT:l

Torlr reX:l

sr,rHnul

rorALl



Johnson Lab & Supply
415 N Tennessee St

Palestine. TX 75801

Phone: 903-729-31 1 1

Fax: 903-729-3355

Customer No. SalesRep

lnc. INVOICE
Lab and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344

Sold To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET

ATT: FINANCE DEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 7580,I

268233-001

o41o312024

lof 'l

P.O No

Terms

RFP 202,1-00,1 SECONO ST

Order No /Rel

Ship To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

20r E. coRoNAcA
PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship Via

NET/30 OAYS 268233-001 116680 MIK E OUR TRUCK 02t08t2021

Ooscription Oldorod Shipped UOI{ Unlt Pric€ Unit Discount Exlonsion

8X 1 SS SADDLE CORP CTS PJ
POTAERSEAL SADDLE

1 X 3/4 ANGLE STOP CTS X MTR

#85 C,I, OVAL METER BOX

O EACH 339 9224

23

000

BA,a33,l2WGt{L

85

O EACH

1 EACH

0.00

70.00

Sub Total:

Total:

''l o. oc,

70.00

t 70.00

I

{

g
u.u=q

lnvoice No.:

Date:

Page:

Req. Date Referenc€

Product ilo.

3450088100AS-CP

104.19

70.00

PAYMEI,JT.
po#
Acct
Acct i

Descri

D

FINC

CTY IIN

* jo'

R,.............................-..---

-_____.--_.--"_

I--r
:-]-------*

l-
n
-r

MN3AA24 16 22 AB



and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344

Johnson Lab & Supply lnc.
415 N. Tennessee St.

Palestine, TX 75801

Phone: 903-729-31 1 1

Fax: 903-729-3355

Customer No. SalesRep

INVOICE

lnvoice No.

Date

Page

269305-000

03t21t2024
't of 1

P,O, NO

Terms

JASON UTILITY

Order No /Rel

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET

ATT: FINANCE DEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 7580.I

Ship To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

I52O W. PALESTINE AVE

PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship Vra Req Date Reference

NET/30 OAYS 269305-000 116680 OUR TRUCK 0311412024

Orderod Shipped UO Unlt Price Unit Discounl Extension

26100069012000 6.84-7.24 X 12 SS FC CLAMP
SMITH BLAIR

6 4 EACH 267 56 1 .070 24

Sub Total:

Tota l:

NCD

x teComple

+:lpto.a1l.a449A a
is_

CTY

tl
tl
tl

DIR:

0312112024 16 33 AB

Sold To

MIKE

Product No. Description

1,070.24

$ 1,070.24

PAYNIEI'IT riU i rr C rllZATI O N

(

ParFC#

NR

)es
)

^.cct f:_
,"cct f:_



Lab and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344

Johnson Lab & Supply lnc.
415 N. Tennessee St.

Palestine, TX 7580'l
Phone: 903-729-3111

Fax: 903-729-3355

Customer No. SalesRep

INVOICE

lnvoice No.

Date

Page

269486-000

0312712024

1of 1

Sold To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET

ATT: FINANCE DEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

1520 W. PALESTINE AVE

PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship Via Req. Date Reference

P,O NO

Terms

JASOT UIILITY

Order No./Rel

NET/30 DAYS 269486-000 1't6680 MIKE OUR TRUCK 03122t2024

G14041

ADFTO

4' BRY SILVER HYDRANT W STOR
PALESTINE HYDRANT

2 ,I/2 NST GASKET
FIRE HOSE TIIREAD GASKET

HYDRANT DIFFUSER
DIRECTOR.GIL

4A

1 EACH 4.104.60

40 EACH 255

O EACH 196 35

4.'104 60

102 00

0002

Sub Total:

Total:

4,205.60

$ 4,205.60

'l{
PAYMENT AUTHORIZATION

vlo.6tl,*l]5or x omplete El
(>

ct r{:

(
L{-l-e,{ j

IIBU+011

o3D71202116XO AB

Product No. Desc.iption O.de.ed Shlpped UOM Unit Price Unit Oiscount Extension

278045T 1

,ncctf:
r-----

Acct

Descri
)

D

3NC

:-I'/ MN

f
I



Johnson Lab & Supply
415 N. Tennessee St.

Palestine, TX 75801

Phone: 903-729-31'l 'l

Fax: 903-729-3355

Customer No. SalesRep

lnc. INVOICE

and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344
lnvoice No.

Date

Page

269486-001

04t03t2024
'l of 1

Sold To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET

ATT: FINANCE DEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

1620 W. PALESTINE AVE

PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship Via Req. Date Reference

P.O. No

Terms

JASON UTILITY

Order No./Rel

NET/30 DAYS 26S486-00' 116580 o3t2212021MIK E

Orde.ed Shipped UOM Unit P.ice Unit Oiscount Extansion

AOFTO HYORANT DIFFUSER
DIRECTOR.GIL

2 EACH 196 35

Sub Tolal:

Total:

392.70

$ 392.70

PAYMET.IT A U'I'HOR IZATIONpof

-..---

l,caf.lzle.:5fL5aO5a Complete (
1 o

t\cct f;
\cct #:
)escribe:

D

Y MNR

r

OUR TRUCK

Product No. Description

392 702

ls

: q'Li -rq



P.O. No

Terms

Johnson Lab & Supply lnc.

Lab and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344

Sold To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET

ATT: FINANCE DEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 75801

J.son- Utlllty

Order No./Rel Customer No SalesReP

415 N. Tennessee St.

Palestine, TX 75801

Phone: 903-729-31'l'l
Fax: 903-729-3355

269s78-000

04t01t2024

1of 1

Ship To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

1620 W. PALESTINE AVE

PALESTINE, TX 7580I

Ship Via

INVOICE

lnvoice No.

Date

Page

Req Date Reference

NET/30 DAYS 269578-000 116680 OUR TRUCK 03128t2024MIK E

o1200BoLS

12" RECT. METER BOX ONLY
LESS LIO

BLUE OVERLAPPING LID
SOLID NO REAOER

6" MJ X SWVEL TEE

6' MAXADAPTER SEWER COUPLING
6.27-7.75 0D RANGE

3/4 FLARE X MTR ANGLE STOP

1 X 3/4 CTS COUPLING FOR CTS

3/4 FEMALE X ULTRA TITE FEMALE

30

45

30 EACH

O EACH

18 43

12 72

552 90

000

oiiH66

MAX6

6 3 EACH

10 EACH

289.17

109.65

5 EACH

,I O EACH

10 EACH

70.04

34.0S

23.46

350.20

340.90

234.60

10

5

10

10

Sub Total

Total:

3,442.61

$ 3,442.6r

;tbto. <'1,.(rJ|go Z.tlqa.Ll

Z 0c,

tnhff

0rro12024 16 18 AB

Product No. Description O.dered Shlpped UOM Unit Price Unit Discount Extension

Ol2OOTTBODY

BA23232WNL

C/r/r34GNL

c1,r33UNL

867.51

1,096.50

lro 
o

PAYMENT AUTT JOiTIZATION

lcct #
)escrib

PT

!ti
TY Mi:.I:

ll

-.----

-J



and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344

Sold To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET
ATT: FINANCE DEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 7580,I

Johnson Lab & Supply lnc.
41 5 N. Tennessee St.

Palestine, TX 75801

Phone: 903-729-31 1 1

Fax: 903-729-3355

Customer No SalesRep

lnvoice No.:

Oate:

Page:

INVOIGE

269754-000

o4t01t2024

1of 1

PO No

Terms

UTILITY iI AITIT. PAUL

Order No /Rel

Ship To:

PALESTINE, CITY OF

1520 W. PALESTINE AVE

PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship Via Req Date Reference

NET/30 DAYS 269754-000 1t6680 CUST PU o4101t2024MIKE

Product No

c4744GNL 1 CTS TO 1 PVC PIPE 1 EACH 56 69 56 69

Sub Total:

Total:

PAYtvIENT AIJTHORIZAIoN
Partral Icom plete

56.69

s 56.69

po#

Acct f:
Acct #:
Acct #:
De.l

s

o -.

o4N1t2024161A AB

Description Orde.ed Shipped UOM Unit Price Unlt Olscount Extension

1

q-q.A

-.--.--_-_

)



Johnson Lab & Supply
415 N Tennessee St.

Palestine, TX 75801

Phone: 903-729-31'11

Fax: 903-729-3355

lnc. INVOICE

Lab and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344
lnvoice No.

Date

Page

Req. Date Reference

269802-000

04103t2024

1of 1

P,O NO

Terms

J6on. Utlllty

Order No./Rel

Sold To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET

ATT: FINANCE DEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 7580I

Ship To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

1620 W. PALESTINE AVE

PALESTINE, TX 7580I

NET/30 DAYS 269802-000 1'r6680 MIKE OUR TRUCK 04to312024

4' BRY SILVER HYORANT W STOR
PALESTINE HYORANT

1 EACH 4.104.60 4.104 60

Sub Total:

Total:

4,r04.60

$ 4,104.60

|-

Con qltl5o

;yfirQ

4403|2024 16 22 AB

Customer No SalesReP Ship Via

P,oduct No. Desciiplion Ordqrqd Shipped UOf t nit Price Unit Discount Extension

2780{ST

PAYMENTA
*-----_
-; r:ICR|ZAIONPo#

ct

Describe:

oP..

)

F'I(C D,

]Y MN



Lab and Supply Inc.

1-800-23s-2344

Sold To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET
ATT: FINANCE OEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 75801

Johnson Lab & Supply lnc.
415 N. Tennessee St.

Palestine, TX 75801

Phone: 903-729-3111

Fax: 903-729-3355

Customer No. SalesRep

!NVOICE

lnvoice No.

Date

Page

269823-000

o4t0312024

1of 1

P,O, NO

Terms

UTILITY IAINT. AUSTIN

Order No /Rel

Ship To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

1620 W. PALESTINE AVE

PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship Vra Req. Date Referenc€

NET/30 DAYS 269823-000 116680 CUST PU o11o3t2024

Ord€ied Shipped UOM Unit P,ice Unit Discount Exlension

Dir 805't 1 l EACH 135 27 135 27

Sub Total:

Total:

'135.27

$ 135.27

,'of--
'ctt fl:((do.61l.5Vtl5n

tfl:

al trComp lete
\b

Ll-4 -2q

C

a

tl
tr

-TY MNR:

unu2021 1a 22 AB

MIKE

Product No. Oesc,iption

6 DTSSB M.t 11 1/4 BEND
LESS ACC. PACKS

PAYMENT A'J IHCIIZATION

I:_t



CITY OF PALESTINE

VENDOR: 0100656 JOHNSON IAB & SUPPLY, INC.

DATE INVOICE II PO # DESCRIPTION

3/2712024 26a229-00O 24-4849 DORRANCE WATERLINE REPLACEMENT - PARTS ONLY

312712024 268233.000 24.4850 SECOND ST WATERLINE REPLACEMENT. PARTS ONLY

3/18/2024 268849'000 PARTS FOR LIME EXHAUST

3/2012024 26943s-O0O PARTS FOR tlME EXHAUST

3/21/2024 2594s6-O0O PARTS FOR LIME EXHAUST

3/26/2024 269s40-000 VALVE BOX RISER

CHEC( TOTAI.

207177

04/0312024

AMOUT{T

92,470.02

46,27 4.89

235,10

L27.O4

89.60

42.66

139,239.31

City of Palestine

paflSll-Nf so4 Queen st
\<+::rrl Palestine, TX 75801

General OperatinB Account

TO THE

ORDER

OF

PROSPERITY BANK

1015 North Church Street
Palestine, Texas 75801

CHECK fl 207177

113122655

PAY --One Hundred Thirty Nine Thousand Two Hundred Thirty Nine Dollars and 31/100 Cents--

JOHNSON LAB & SUPPLY, INC.

415 N TENNESSEE

PATESTINE, TX 75801

04l03/2024 s139,239.31



Johnson Lab & Supply lnc.
41 5 N. Tennessee St.

Palestine, TX 7580'l
Phone: 903-729-31 1 'l

Fax: 903-729-3355

tNvotcE
and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344

Sold To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET
ATT: FINANCE DEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 7580,I

24-4819

Order No./Rel Customer No. SalesRep

lnvoice No.

Date

Page

P,O, NO

Terms

Ship To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

201 E. coRoNAcA
PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship Via Req. Date Reference

NET/30 OAYS 268229-000 116680 MIKE OUR TRUCK

Oescription

28 EACH

44 EACH

6 CL 150 C 9OO PVC PIPE

4 CL 150 C 9OO PVC PIPE

O FEET

O FEET

10 EACH

11 46

7.26

3,046.08

0.00

0.00

30,460.80

5000

100

104' BRY SILVER HYDRANT W STOR
PALESTINE HYDRANT

6'MJ X SWIVEL TEE 168.00

786.42

4.704.00

34,602.486" MJ RW GATE VALVE
LESS ACC PACKS

6" 15OO RAPID INSTALL RESTRAIN
GLAND PACK W SOEZ

4" 15OO RAPID INSTALL RESTRAIN
GLAND PACK W SOEZ

6 DISSB MJ 45 BEND
LESS ACC PACKS

4 DI SSB I\4J 45 BEND
LESS ACC PACKS

6 DI SSB I\4J 22 1/2 BEND
LESS ACC, PACKS

6 SW X SOLID HYD ADAPTR
LESS ACC, PACKS

6 MJ CAP
LESS ACC. PACKS

4 MJ CAP
LESS ACC, PACKS

6 I\,IJ CAP W2 TAP DI SSB
LESS ACC, PACKS

2 BLACK SDRg POLY TUBE CTS
100'cotL

28

44

240

'16

2a

UFRl50ORZA6

DMBO645

DMBO445

DMBO622

ssA0613

DMKO6

DMK()4

DTKO6

FC202761tP7

v15702

O EACH 54 38

16 EACH 40 65

28 EACH 74 00

4 EACH 50.00

4 EACH 69.13

13 EACH 156 00

12 EACH 38 26

2 EACH 2175

1 EACH 76 50

1OO FEET 175

l EACH 98 52

l EACH 397.18

0.00

650 40

2.072.00

276 52

2 028.00

459.12

43.50

76.50

175.00

98 52

397.18

4

13

12

100

2

2" THD RW GATE VALVE
"WTH 2-'OPERATING NUT"

BFA43777WGNL

cl777NL

2' ANGLE STOP CTS X MIR FLG

2 FIPT X PJ TO PVC PIPE

1 EACH

1 EACH

407.68

124.35

407.68

124.35

268229-000

03t27 t2024

1of 2

0210712024

Product No. Ordgred Shipped UOtn Unit Price Unit Discount Extension

PR1806

PR1804

2780.4ST

DMH65

v157106

UFRl5OORZA4

PE29C

6,63.7.61 X2' IP SS DS SADDLE
EPOXY COATED SADDLE

200 00

1

1

1

1

1



PALE JTINE, CITY OF INVOICE

BFir3TTTWGNL

55

BA433,l2wGNL

BA434,!rWGIL

o1200TTBOOY

O EACH

20 EACH

377.50

2.U

3450068100AS-CP

PE19C

2" CTS X MTR FLANGE BALL VALV

2 SS INSERT
STAINLESS INSERT

6 X 1 SS SADDLE CORP CTS PJ
6.84-7.6,1OD

1 BLACK SDRg POLY TUBE CIS
'r00'corL

,I SS INSERT
STAINLESS INSERI

1 X 3/4 ANGLE STOP CTS X MTR

1" CTS X MTR NUT ANGLE SIOP

12" RECT, METER BOX ONLY
LESS LID

BLUE OVERLAPPING LID
SOLID NO READER

4 X 12 DI SS8 MJ LONG
SLEEVE LESS ACC, PACKS

6 X 12 MJ SLEEVE
LESS ACC PACKS

6 X 6 MJ TAPPING SLEEVE
6.60-7.00 0D

JUMBO METER BOX BODY ONLY

BLUE JUMBO LID OVERLAPPING
SOLID NO READER

"COPPERHEAD 14 GAUGE
BLUE'

GALLON PIPE LUBE

*70 SHORTY VALVE BOX

2 HYMAX 2 FLIP COUPLING
2.10-3.03 0D RANGE

20

000

50.80

52

41

800

'100

41

2

13

O EACH

O EACH

7.717 U

360 00

185 00

161 20

110 00

1 .202 50

2.378 00

780 00

8OO FEET

1OO EACH

296 84

045

185

806

55 00

92 50

594 50

013

40 O EACH

1 EACH

41 EACH

104.19

137.75

11.68

0.00

137.75

478.88

D1200BOLS

D[ILO4

DMLO6

FASTTOO6AMJ

't4308HS500

20 EACH

2 EACH

13 EACH

4 EACH

DlSOOTTBODY

. DIsOOBOLS

22 00

12 75

000

0.00

02012

w70

20000303260

6000 6000 EACH

10

41

1

IO EACH

41 EACH

O EACH

0.00

52.00

127.00

0.00

2,132.00

0.00

Sub Total:

Total:
92,170.O2

$ 92,/170.02

2
PAYMENT AUTHORIZATION

ft Partial Complete !
0 0

A,J

r,cct f s

s
)

lAcct f:
lAcct f:

)e scribe:

r MT'IR:

a3D7 DO21 16 3a AB

lnvoice No.:
Date:
Page:

268229-000
o3t27 t2024
zot 2

Product No. Description Ordered Shipped UOM Unit Price Unit Oiscount Extension

1

26 EACH

1

1

1

DPT

i:ltic
l-: 4- l -?Ll

POf



PailtbfrrvE.qgy
CITY OF PATESTINE
504 North Queen Street
Palestine, TX 75801

PURCHASE ORDER

PO Number:

Requisition f :

24-4849

24-4982

Date:

Vendor f:
02/2712024

0100656

SHIP TO:

ITEM UNIIs OESCRIPIION GL ACCI } PROI ACCT d PRICE

1 O OORRANCE WATERLINE REPLACEMENT PARTS ONLY 6lo-571-58030 000 172,875.93

172,875.93

TOTAI. TAX: 0.00

0.00

!72,87s.93

PUBLIC WORKS

KIMBERLY BECKMAN

Palestine, TX 75801

*:&)h,* J ,^L

,/ ,-/r,'-
City Manater

Purchasint &ent
1. Orlgl..linwi.. with r€mtttn.€ rlig nuit b€ *nttorCtty ol P.lenine,504 onh Queen srret, Palcatt.., 75801.
2. Payment hay be exp€.ted withln 30 days of re<eipt of toodr and invotce.
3. c.o.D. rhlpment wlllnot be.ccepted.
4. Purchase Order numben mu5t apP€:r on all shippinS @nt.lneB, pa.tlnt nlP3 and ltrvolcer. F.llure to comply wlth the .bove r€quert may d.l.y D.yh.nt,
5 Alltood5... to bc 3hlppcd f.O.B. D.itln.tion ud€s otlEml* siated.
6. All mit.riats a l E.vL.r :rc $bjeci to .pproval b.t d on th€ de*riplion d the t .. of th. purch.i. o.dd or .prEndat.s th.reol. Subrthutlonr .re .ot p.rmitt.d wirhooi

:pprov.l of the R€qu.rtinS lr.prnrent. M.teri.l noi .pproved wlll b€ rEtsm€d ar no (ott to the City.
7. AllSoodr.nd equlpm.nt 6urt he.t o. er..ed all....rery crty, statc.nd led.Et rt..d...k.nd regul.ttonr.
8. v€.do. o. m.nufadur.r b.a6.l!t ol loir or damas. until property re.Glv.d..d/or ln.t.ll.d.
9 s.ller .Gt.owledacs th.l the blYer l. .n .qu.l oppotu.ity .mployer. S.ll.r wlllcomply wlth all equal opportunity las and rc$letionr that .r. .ppll..bl€ ro lr.s a rupplie,

10. Ih. oiy B €r.mpt trclh .llH€.al.r.le.nd itatc r.r - lOr rS{0@632

Purchasing Department (903)731-8404 Fax (903) 73r-8413

ISSUED TO: JOHNSON tAB & SUPPLY, lNC.

415 N TENNESSEE

PALESTINE, TX 75801

191.WATERLINE

SUBTorar:l

,r,r",nol

rorALl



Lab and Supply Inc.

r -800-235-2344

Sold To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET

ATT: FINANCE OEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 75801

Johnson Lab & Supply lnc.
41 5 N. Tennessee St.

Palestine, TX 75801

Phone: 903-729-31'11
Fax: 903-729-3355

Customer No SalesRep

INVOICE

lnvoice No.

Oate

Page

RFP 202,r.004 SECONO ST

Order No./Rel.

Ship To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

201 E. CORONACA

PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship Via Req. Date Reference

NET/30 DAYS 268233-000 r16680 OUR TRUCK 02108t2024MIKE

Product No. Ordersd Shipped UOM Unit P,ica Unit Dlscount Extension

2780-4ST

vl57't06

UFR,I5OOZAS

U F R1 5OO RZA6

Dl200Bols

14308HS500

.MJCSH0806

v157 t08

35 EACH

35 EACH

6 EACH

6 EACH

6 EACH

O EACH

O EACH

2 EACH

24 368 64

1,903 30

92 50

185 38

195 00

4' BRY SILVER HYDRANT W/ STOR
PALESTINE HYDRANT

8 EACH 3 046 08

8 X 6 I\{J SWVEL TEE

8" MJ ANCHOR COUPLING

#85 C I OVAL METER BOX

122.28

1.244.75

733.68

7,468.508" MJ RW GATE VALVE
LESS ACC PACKS

6" MJ RW GATE VALVE
LESS ACC PACKS

8 CIRCLE.LOCK RETAINER
GLAND WACC, FOR CgOO PI

6" 15OO RAPID INSTALL RESIRAIN
GLAND PACK W SOEZ

6

6

6

50 EACH

23 EACH

185

806

013

.f,iJcsA08

3450068't 00as-cP

1O X 8 MJ TAPPING SLEEVE

,I BLACK SDRg POLY TUBE CTS
100'cotL

1 SS INSERT
STAINLESS INSERT

1 X 3/4 ANGLE STOP CTS X MTR

,I' CTS X MTR NUT ANGLE STOP

127.30

339.928 X 1 SS SADDLE CORP CTS PJ
PO\^iERSEAL SADDLE

12' RECT, METER BOX ONLY
LESS LID

BLUE OVERLAPPING LID
SOLID NO READER

1

1000

832.85

0.45

832.85

450.00

1 EACH

lOOO FEET

6

24

23

3

50

BA43342WGNL

BA4344rwcNL

O.'2OOTTBODY

O EACH

1 EACH

23 EACH

104.19

137.75

11.68

0.00

137.75

268.64

23

1

6 X 12 MJ SLEEVE
LESS ACC PACKS

"COPPERHEAO 14 GAUGE
BLUE"

70.00

92.50

0.00

185.00

1500

GALLON PIPE LUBE02012

w70 #70 SHORTY VALVE BOX 12

3 EACH

,I2 EACH

0.00

624.00

268233-000

03t2712024

'l of 2

P.O. No.:

Terms

Description

85

Di,LO6

4.718 52

2.831 15

6 EACH 786 42

80 89

54.38

,FAST.1 I15.EA.MJ

PE19C

763.80

0.00

1

1500 EACH

0.00

52.00



PA.ESTINE, CITY OF INVOICE lnvoice No.
Date
Page

268233-000
03t27 t2024
2ol 2

DMBO645

0l$80845

6 DI SSB MJ 45 BEND
LESS ACC PACKS

8 DISSE MJ 45 BEND
LESS ACC. PACKS

4

2

4 EACH

2 EACH 110 09

296 00

22418

Sub Total:

Total:

46,274.89

$ 46,274.89

Iro o

PAYMEI,IT;,.;
'Lla

3
x

Hu,al'1.6q
,,\cct #:

,^.cct #:

\cct f

Des

i:lN

9-r ?

s

-)

:t]-l-T DIR:

43t27t202416 3A AB

Product No. Oescription Ordered Shipped UOII Unit Prico Unit Discount Ertension

74 00

CTY MNR: f



PertbtmE
<{a:.:igz

J& 1h,,"

CIW OF PALESTINE
504 North Queen Street
Palestine, TX 75801

PO Number:

Requisition #:

,/,

Date:

Vendor S:

o?12712024

0100556

24-4850

24-4983

ISSUED TO: JoHNsoN LAB & SUPPLY, lNc
415 N TENNESSEE

PALESTINE, TX 75801

SHIP TO:

ITEM UNITS DESCAIPNON GI ACCT { PROI ACCI 
'

PRICE

1 O WATERLINE RTPLACEMENT ON SECOND 5T . PARTS ONTY 610 571-58030 l9O.WATERLINE 0.00 56,899.34

s6,899.34

0.00

SHIPPING: 0.00

56,899.34

PUBLIC WORKS

KIMBERLY BECKMAN

Palestine, TX 75801

City ManaSer Finance Direclor

PurchasintASent

I origin.l i.volce wlth rcmlnan(. 3llp hust b. r€nt tor Clty of P.le.th€, 504 orth Queen strcet, P.l6tine, Tx 75801,
2 Paym.nt mry b. .ryecr.d wlthln 30 d.yr of r€c.lpl of toodr .hd lnvolce.
3. c.o,D. shipm.nt will not b. a(..pted.
4. Purchaee Ord.r numbeli mun.pp€.r on.ll shrpplnt .ont.lne6, pa.lins rllpr.nd l.vol.6. Failure to comply wlth the above requen may d€lay p.ym.nt.
5 Alltoodearetobe shlpp€d f.O.8. O€nln.tlon unlesrotheMk. iiated.
6 All m.!.rl.l3 .nd rcdl..s are subl..t to .pprov.l bas.d on ihe .ler.rlptlon on rh. l.ce ol the purchai€ order or .ppend.tB th.reol. SubnkutloB arc not ,.rmltted wllhout

.pprov.lofth. R.questlnt D€p.rtment. M.te.lal not .pp.ov.d wlllbe..tumed at no.oet to th€ CiiY.

7. All toods and equlpm.ni must me.t o, Gx..Gd .ll nccrsary .lty, rt.t€ .nd fed.ral stand.rds and rctll.tions.
8. Vendor or m.nulacrurcr b..E drl of 16r ordam.ge untll p.op..ty .ecelvcd andlor lnstall€d.
9. teller a.lnowl.dt.e th.r the buy.r k rn equaloppotunlty cmployer. S.ll.r wlll .omply wlth .ll .qual opportqdty l.wi and rgul.tloni that.re ipPllc.bl.to lt.s. tuPPller

10. Tte city 15 exempt f.om .ll l€deral .rcl$ .nd n.te t.r - lO, 75-6000632

PurchasinS Department (903) 731-8404 Fax (903) 731-8413

PURCHASE ORDER

,urrorol.,l

,oro. r*J

TOTAI



Johnson Lab & Supply
415 N. Tennessee St.

Palestine. TX 75801

Phone: 903-729-31 1 I
Fax: 903-729-3355

Customer No SalesRep

lnc. INVOICE

Lab and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET

ATT: FINANCE DEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 75801

lnvoice No.

Date

Page

26EE49-000

03t't8t2024

1of 1

Ship To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

201 E. CORONACA

PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship Via Req Date Reference

NET/30 DAYS 268849-000 116680 CUST PU 02t29t2024MIKE

Product No Doscription

cFA401150

Sl,l06

sH56

s306

1 ,I/2 BRASS BALL VALVE
MATCO

6 SDR 35 FEMALEALE ADAPTER

6 SDR 35 THREAOED PLUG

6 SDR35 SW \M/E SXSXS

EACH

EACH

EACH

42.16

28.94

55.94

42.16

28.94

55.94

2 2 EACU 54 03 108 06

Sub Total:

Total:

235.10

$ 23s.10

=xh.gifq- r.41

i:G to -3-'?D'tnr ]a
s

I L

03/1A20241609A9

P.O. No.:

Terms

Sold To

W.T.P JAMES

Order No /Rel

Ordsred Shlppod UOU Unit P,ice Unit Di3count Exten3ion

1

1

1

PAYMENT AUT
PO#

HORIZATION

Corn o lete

' ^.. {'



Johnson Lab & Supply
4 15 N. Tennessee St.

Palestine, TX 75801

Phone: 903-729-311 1

Fax: 903-729-3355

Customer No. SalesRep

lnc.

lnvoice No.

Date

Page

INVO!CE

269435-000

03t20t2024

1of 1

Lab and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344

Sold To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

504 NORTH QUEEN STREET
ATT: FINANCE DEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 75801

Ship To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

I620 W. PALESTINE AVE

PALESTINE, TX 75801

Shrp Via Req. Date Reference

P.O, NO

Terms

W.T.P RYAN

Order No./Rel

NETi3O DAYS CUST PU 03t20t2024MIKE

s306

Sliro5

sr r56

6 SDR35 SW\MlE SXSXS

6 SDR 35 FEMALEALE ADAPTER

6 SDR 35 THREADED PLUG

EACH

EACH

EACH

55.94

42.16

28.94

55.94

12.16

28.94

Sub Total:

Total:

127.O4

s 127 .O4

*-.-.-.h_.

. . .. ...-.,,.,.:uUTi_jC iilZATlC,\l
P-. rtiel [6911p7^r^ IQ-5 -J- )O s
)

tr

0

)

a

-..-*.d.c----...

0324124211625 AS

269435-000 116680

Product No. OEscription Ordered Shippsd UOM Unit Price Unit Oiscount Extension

T

1

1

.-^.--.-..b

.'._--..1.



PALESNNE, CITY OF
5O4 NORTH OUEEN STREET
ATT: FINANCE OEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 75801

PALESTINE, CITY OF

1620 IY. PALESIINE AVE

PALESTINE, TX 75801

P-O. No.:

TermB

W.T.PJA ES

Ord6r No./R€l-

Lab and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344

Johnson Lab & Supply lnc.
4'15 N. Tennessee St.

Pal€stine, TX 75801

Phonei 903-729-3111

Fax: 903-729-3355

Cuslomer No. SalesRep

lnvoic€ No.:

Date:

Page:

269450{00
0312112.024

1of I

INVOICE

Shap To:

Ship Via

i,tET/30 oaYs 269/t56.{t00 116640 CUST PU 01t21t2021[(E

PRt506 6 SOR 35 PVC SWR PIPE I4 FEET 640 89 60

i .rtr_,r^^rI r,...._.. i ..J rii_ilZATlolrt
-------- Parti,l EComnfn:" I

).-..__E-..-

ct #;
o- 0: t ^t 6o/t d'l .,{ooo

4-
tl

Sold To:

R6q.0ate Relelonce

H.rtd Shlpp.d UO{ U.it P.ic. UnI Di.count E{.ntl,oo

SubToLl: t9.40
Tot l: t $.t0

'-F$,



and Supply Inc.

1-800-235-2344

Johnson Lab & Supply lnc.
4'15 N. Tennessee St.

Palestine. TX 7580'1

Phone: 903-729-31 1 1

Fax: 903-729-3355

lnvoice No.

Date

Page

INVO!CE

269540-000

03t26t2024
'l of 1

P,O, NO

Terms

Sold To

PALESTINE, CITY OF
504 NORTH QUEEN STREET
ATT: FINANCE DEPT. ACCOUINTS PAYABLE
PALESTINE, TX 75801

STRE JUSTIN

Order No./Rel Customer No. SalesRep

Ship To

PALESTINE, CITY OF

1520 W. PALESTINE AVE

PALESTINE, TX 7580.I

Ship Via Req. Date Reference

NET/30 DAYS 269540-000 1r6580 CUST PU o3126t2024i,IKE

Orde,Ed Shipped UO Unit Price Unit Oiscount Extsnsion

w2 1 EACH 42 66 42 66

Sub Total;

Total:

PAYMENT AUTHORIZATION
_ partial Complete

Acct #:uto.9rl,5r/tl<a5

42.66

s 42.66

POS

cct #:
Acct #:

(A

Descri

DPT

tLt

lc

L_ J.

T--l.

q a
Y MNR:

0w6n02a 16 a7 aB

Product No. Descriplion

2 VB RISER 1

_--



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Kimberly Beckman, Public Works Admin
Agenda Item: Consider approval of engineering services at the Palestine Municipal Airport 
Date Submitted: 04/17/2024

SUMMARY:
Consider approval of engineering services at the Palestine Municipal Airport. We are interested in
individuals building four private hangars. With the recent flooding at the airport, we request engineering
services to design a detailed plan to include drainage improvements.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval of engineering services at the Palestine Municipal Airport.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Kimberly Beckman, Public Works Admin
Agenda Item: Consider authorizing City Manager to seek sealed bids for sludge removal at the Water

Treatment Plant
Date Submitted: 04/17/2024

SUMMARY:
Consider authorizing the City Manager to seek sealed bids for annual sludge removal at the Water
Treatment Plant. Request permission to remove sludge; sludge lagoons are near or close to exceeding
capacity. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends authorizing the city manager to seek sealed bids for annual sludge removal at the
Water Treatment Plant.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Andrew Sibai, Finance Director
Agenda Item: ETEX phone service 
Date Submitted: 04/17/2024

SUMMARY:
This item is to approve a revised contract with ETEX for phone and fiber service. Currently, the City is
using ETEX for fiber internet and Brightspeed for phone lines. ETEX has been working to take over the
phone lines, and we are ready to make the switch.

ETEX Fiber is a nonprofit organization. In 2021, the Palestine Economic Development Corporation
partnered with ETEX to bring a fiber line to Palestine and partway down Loop 256 to serve major
commercial sectors. The venture has proven to be very lucrative for the PEDC due to a revenue-sharing
agreement from the initial investment and has been very helpful in improving the City's productivity with
improved network security and internet speed.

This contract increases the current monthly charge from ETEX by $700 but decreases monthly phone
line costs from Brightspeed by $3,000.00, so this is a decrease in costs for the City.

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
ETEX revised agreement 



$7,396.90Grand Total

$7,396.90Total Price

0.00%Discount

$7,396.90Subtotal

Pricing shown does not include applicable taxes and surcharges.

May vary depending on location.

$0.00Non Recurring

$7,396.90Monthly Recurring

504 North Queen Street
Palestine, TX 75801
United States

Service To

City of PalestineServiceTo Name

504 North Queen Street
Palestine, TX 75801
United States

Bill To

City of PalestineBill To Name

903.731.8403Contact Phone

asibai@palestine-tx.orgContact Email

Senior Accountant/ITContact Title

Andrew SibaiContact Name

bfrase@etexfiber.netEmail

Brett FrasePrepared By

______________________________________\TAXID_1_text

______________________________________

______________________________________

Authorized Account User(S)
Individual or Business name (Please refer to CPNI PIN Codes and
Authorized Users in Terms & Conditions)

 

CPNI 4 DIGIT PIN CODE:

Tax ID: \TAXID_1_text\

48Term (Months)

3/11/2024Contract Start Date

00003027Quote Number

4/11/2024Expiration Date

3/11/2024Created Date

Product Line Item Description List Price Quantity Total Price

1GB x 1GB Fiber Internet access $1,700.00 1.00 $1,700.00

500Mbps x 500Mbps Transport All FDs, Public Works, PEDC/PD South, Parks dept $400.00 8.00 $3,200.00

500Mbps x 500Mbps Transport Visitor's Center, Waste Water 1&2, Water Plant $400.00 4.00 $1,600.00

Additional Lines Per   $30.00 12.00 $360.00

Business Phone Single   $36.90 1.00 $36.90

PRI   $0.00 1.00 $500.00

PRI 3 total PRIs $0.00 2.00 $0.00

DocuSign Envelope ID: FD943102-E2A7-435B-A708-7DFCBB4801BD



Do-Not-Call Solicitor Notification 
As you are likely aware, the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") and Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") have established a national

Do-Not-Call Registry. As part of the do-not-call initiative, the FCC requires us to notify customers who use our service for making telephone

solicitations (telemarketing calls) regarding the national Do-Not-Call rules and regulations.   If you are a company, individual, or other entity that

makes telemarketing calls, it is very important that you familiarize yourself with the operations of the national Do-Not-Call Registry and the rules

requiring checking of the national Do-Not-Call Registry as part of making telemarketing calls. Unless you fall under one of the exceptions

established in the FCC/FTC rules (such as the exception for telemarketing by charitable organizations or for prior business relationships), you may

not make telemarketing calls to numbers included in the national Do-Not-Call Registry. Before you rely on one of the exceptions, you should

consult the rules. For information about the regulations, you may visit the national Do-Not-Call Registry at www.donotcall.gov. You can find the

FCC and FTC rules governing telemarketing and telephone solicitation, at 47 C.F.R. § 64.1200 and 16 C.F.R. Part 310, respectively.

Contractual Provisions to Mitigate Illegal Robocalls

As an Etex customer, it is forbidden to use Etex's services for unlawful purposes such as originating and/or otherwise transmitting calls that violate

laws that restrict robocalls or other telemarketing calls, including the federal Telephone Consumer Protection Act (“TCPA”) and/or the

Pallone-Thune Telephone Robocall Abuse Criminal Enforcement and Deterrence Act (“TRACED Act”) and/or the rules promulgated pursuant to

  these statutes.  Etex may, at its sole discretion, suspend or terminate your service immediately, among other remedies for violations of the law. 

Act of God Liability Waiver:

The Company (Etex) shall not be liable for any interruption, failure or degradation of service due in whole or part to causes beyond its control,

including, but not limited to: (1) act of God, fires, lightning, flood, or other catastrophes; (2) any law, order, regulation, directive, action or request of

any instrumentality of the United States Government, or any foreign, state or local government, or any foreign, state or local government; (3) any

national emergency, insurrection, riot, war, strike or labor difficulty; (4) any act or omission by any unrelated carrier or other entity affecting the

facilities or equipment over which the Company's services are provided; (5) any negligence by the Customer or defects or failures of the

Customer's equipment; and (6) any negligent acts or omissions of third parties.

Terms & Conditions

This Agreement shall be in effect for an initial term of Number of Months specified above. If Customer terminates this Agreement, or any part

thereof, prior to the end of the current term they shall pay to ETEX an amount equal to the

average monthly amount billed to them for each month remaining in the current term. This Agreement shall be effective as of the Contract Start

Date specified above and shall be in effect for an initial term commencing on the date that services are activated in Customer’s area and

continuing thereafter for the Number of Months specified above.  Etex will notify Customer of the date that services are activated in Customer’s

area.

 

Special Instructions:

   I (Customer) authorize conduit placement and/or passive construction

   I (Customer) am not the building owner

Construction Consent (For Building Owner Only)

DocuSign Envelope ID: FD943102-E2A7-435B-A708-7DFCBB4801BD



 \d2\

Date Signed

 \d1\

Date Signed

 \s2\

Etex Signature

 \s1\

Authorized Signer

CPNI PIN Codes and Authorized Users

The Company (Etex) has established procedures that ensure compliance with the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) regulations

concerning the protection of customer proprietary network information (CPNI). As an Etex customer, you are required to create a secure four-digit

PIN code that is only shared with your named Authorized User(s) above.  This PIN code must be presented by you or your Authorized User(s)

upon request for any account information.  

Please note:  Choosing to name a Business, such as a Call Center, as your Authorized User(s), is risky.  It is your responsibility to ensure that

your PIN Code is secure and protected from unauthorized access and that your Authorized User information is kept up to date.
 

To become more familiar with the TCPA and TRACED Act, please see the following links:

https://www.fcc.gov/sites/default/files/tcpa-rules.pdf

https://www.fcc.gov/TRACEDAct

Internet Speed Conditions: Actual Internet speeds may vary. Internet speed conditions represent maximum speed capabilities and may vary

based on many factors including website traffic, content provider capacity, use of other services, network capacity and maximum bandwidth

restrictions on customer owned equipment.

If you are a company, individual, or other entity that makes telemarketing calls, it is very important that you familiarize yourself with the operations

of the national Do-Not-Call Registry and the rules requiring checking of the national Do-Not-Call Registry as part of making telemarketing calls.

Unless you fall under one of the exceptions established in the FCC/FTC rules (such as the exception for telemarketing by charitable organizations

or for prior business relationships), you may not make telemarketing calls to numbers included in the national Do-Not-Call Registry.  Before you

rely on one of the exceptions, you should consult the rules.  For information about the regulations, you may visit the national Do-Not-Call Registry

at www.donotcall.gov.  You can find the FCC and FTC rules governing telemarketing and telephone solicitation, at 47 C.F.R. § 64.1200 and 16

C.F.R. Part 310, respectively. 

Signatures

DocuSign Envelope ID: FD943102-E2A7-435B-A708-7DFCBB4801BD

https://www.fcc.gov/sites/default/files/tcpa-rules.pdf
https://www.fcc.gov/TRACEDAct


Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Andrew Sibai, Finance Director
Agenda Item: Consider approval of a budget amendment for the Palestine Economic Development

Corporation
Date Submitted: 04/17/2024

SUMMARY:
Attached is an amendment for the Palestine Economic Development Corporation. This amendment was
discussed and approved by the PEDC Board at the April 2024 meeting. It provides additional funding for
downtown businesses that need assistance with facility improvements and pays for a grant to the City of
Palestine approved in the last fiscal year but not completed until this fiscal year.

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff and the PEDC Board recommend approval.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Fiscal Impact
Fiscal Year: 2024
Budgeted Y/N: N
Account #: 215-100-53663
Amount Requested: 40000.00
BUDGETARY IMPACT:
To pay for a grant approved in Fiscal Year 2023 and completed in the current Fiscal Year

 

Fiscal Year: 2024
Budgeted Y/N: N
Account #: 215-100-53664
Amount Requested: 100000.00
BUDGETARY IMPACT:
To provide additional support for building improvements in the downtown area of Palestine

Attachments
Amendment Details 
Budget Amendment 





CITY OF PALESTINE
BUDGET AMENDMENT

DEPARTMENT: PEDC BDH#:        PACKET:

DATE: 4/17/2024 POSTED:

FROM: D= Rev           C=Exp
Account Number Account Title Amount

215-38001 FUND BALANCE (140,000.00)$                 

                  TOTAL FROM AMOUNT (140,000.00)$                 
TO: C = Rev          D = Exp

Account Number Account Title Amount

215-100-53663 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT GRANT 40,000.00$                     

215-100-53664 BUILDING IMPROVEMENT GRANT 100,000.00$                   

 

                  TOTAL TO AMOUNT 140,000.00$                   

REASON:

DEPARTMENT HEAD: DATE: __________________

FINANCE DEPT. DATE: __________________

CITY MANAGER: DATE: __________________

COUNCIL APPROVED    DATE:_________________________________________________

Increasing expense budget for grant approved last year and completed this year and additional 
downtown grant assistance for local business

4/17/2024
V:\Finance\BUDGET-FINANCE\2023-24\Budget Amendments\BUDGET AMENDMENT - PEDC COMM 

DEVELOPMENT & BLDG IMPROVE



 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. O-XX-24 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS, AMENDING 
THE BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR OF OCTOBER 1, 2023 
THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30, 2024, BY APPROPRIATING AND SETTING 
ASIDE THE NECESSARY FUNDS FOR ADDITIONAL EXPENDITURES, 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH EXISTING STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS; 
AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY. 

 
 
WHEREAS, subsequent to the adoption of the annual budget for the City of Palestine for the 

fiscal year beginning October 1, 2023, and ending September 30, 2024, the City 
has sustained unanticipated revenue changes and unanticipated expenditures; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Manager has recommended that such budget be amended to reflect such 

revenues and expenditures in accordance with "Exhibit A" attached hereto and 
made a part hereof; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that the budget should be amended as 

recommended by the City Manager and that such amendment to the budget is 
necessary: 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS: 
 

SECTION 1. The recitals contained in the preamble to the Ordinance are found to be true 
and correct and are hereby adopted. 

 
SECTION 2. The annual budget of the City of Palestine, Texas, for the fiscal year 

beginning October 1, 2023, and ending September 30, 2024, is hereby 
amended by increasing and decreasing the appropriations to the various 
accounts contained therein as provided in Exhibit A attached hereto and 
made a part hereof. 

 
SECTION 3. The amendment, as shown in words and figures in Exhibit “A”, is hereby 

approved in all aspects and adopted as an amendment to the City budget for 
the Fiscal Year October 1, 2023, through September 30, 2024. 

 
SECTION 4. A copy of the amended budget shall be placed in the office of the Anderson 

County Clerk as required by Texas Local Government Code, Section 
102.011. 

 
SECTION 5.  This Ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage. 
 
SECTION 6. In the event any section, paragraph, subdivision, clause, phrase, provision, 

sentence, or part of this Ordinance or the application of the same to any 
person or circumstance shall for any reason be adjudged invalid or held 
unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction it shall not affect, 
impair, or invalidate this Ordinance as a whole or any part or provision 



hereof other than the part declared to be invalid or unconstitutional; and the 
City Council of the City of Palestine, Texas declares that it would have 
passed each and every part of the same notwithstanding the omission of any 
such part of this declared to be invalid or unconstitutional, or whether there 
be one or more parts. 

  
PASSED, APPROVED, and ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Palestine, 

Texas, this the 22nd day of April, 2024. 
 
 
             

       MITCHELL JORDAN 

MAYOR  

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

  

             

APRIL JACKSON     REZZIN PULLUM 

CITY SECRETARY     CITY ATTORNEY 



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: Section 3 Presentation for Grant Number CDV23-0354 - Traylor & Associates 
Date Submitted: 04/18/2024

SUMMARY:
Traylor & Associates Section 3 Presentation - Overview of Texas Community Development Block Grant
(TxCDBG) requirements related to Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968 for
Grant Number CDV23-0354.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
No action is required. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Section 3 Presentation 



Section 3 Presentation to the 
City of Palestine



The City of Palestine recently received the 
following grant award:

• Grant Contract No. CDV23-0354

• Award Amount: $500,000.00

• Project: Sewer Improvements on E. 
Lacey Street.



The grant is funded through the 
Community Development Block Grant, via:

• The U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development

 and

• The Texas Department of Agriculture



Section 3 Concepts

• As a condition of funding, the City of 
Palestine must comply with Section 3 of the 
Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968.

• To the greatest extent feasible, Grant 
Recipients must direct economic 
opportunities generated by CDBG funds to 
low- and very low-income persons. 



Section 3 Concepts

In part, this means ensuring that:

• Section 3 Businesses have the information 
to submit a bid or proposal for the project; 
and

• Section 3 Workers have information about 
any available job opportunities related to 
the project. 

For precise definitions, see TxCDBG Policy 
Issuance 20-01



Section 3 Business

A company may qualify as a Section 3 Business if:

• it is owned by low-income persons;

• it is owned by Section 8-Assisted housing residents; or

• 75% of all labor hours for the business in a 3-month 
period are performed by Section 3 Workers

Register at:

• HUD’s Section 3 website: 
https://portalapps.hud.gov/Sec3BusReg/BRegistry/Regist
erBusiness

https://portalapps.hud.gov/Sec3BusReg/BRegistry/RegisterBusiness
https://portalapps.hud.gov/Sec3BusReg/BRegistry/RegisterBusiness


Section 3 Business

This project is expected to include the following contracting 
opportunities:

• Grant Administration services (previously selected)

• Engineering Services (previously selected)

• Prime Contractor for Sewer Improvements on E. Lacey 
Street.



You may qualify as a Section 3 Worker if:

• Your annual income is below the county threshold 
for your family size: 

• You are a current or recent Youthbuild participant

Register your information and search for opportunities at: 

• WorkInTexas.gov

• easttexasworkforce.org/anderson-county

Section 3 Worker



Targeted Section 3 Worker

Section 3 Workers that reside near the project location 
may also qualify as Targeted Section 3 Workers.

For this project, that service area is defined by this map:



Recordkeeping

The City of Palestine will track all hours worked on the 
project based on the three categories of workers.  

This will require collection of certain income 
information.



For More Information

TxCDBG Policy Issuance 20-01

REVISED Policy Issuance 20-01 Section 3 v1.pdf 
(texasagriculture.gov)

24 CFR Part 75

Electronic Code of Federal Regulations (eCFR)

April Jackson, City Secretary can provide more 
information upon request.

https://www.texasagriculture.gov/Portals/0/Publications/RED/CDBG/2021/REVISED%20Policy%20Issuance%2020-01%20Section%203%20v1.pdf
https://www.texasagriculture.gov/Portals/0/Publications/RED/CDBG/2021/REVISED%20Policy%20Issuance%2020-01%20Section%203%20v1.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/retrieveECFR?n=pt24.1.75


Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Lisa Bowman, Economic Development Admin
Agenda Item: Downtown Grant Performance Agreement between the PEDC and The Historic

Palestine Event Center.
Date Submitted: 04/17/2024

SUMMARY:
Consider and take possible action on a Downtown Grant Agreement between the Palestine Economic
Development Corporation and The Historic Palestine Event Center in an amount not to exceed
$37,125.00.
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends consideration and approval of a Downtown Grant Agreement between the Palestine
Economic Development Corporation and The Historic Palestine Event Center in an amount not to exceed
$37,125.00.
 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Downtown Grant Application - The Historic Palestine Event Center 
Downtown Grant Agreement - The Historic Palestine Event Center 





















ESTIMATE

Services qty unit price amount

commercial installation 1.0 $25,500.00 $25,500.00

Fredrich 5T 20 SEER2 R410A Heat Pump system, closet installation kit, condenser saver kit, crane rental,
un-insulated galvanized spiral ductwork w/saddle taps, rolling elbows, barrel Tee, commercial step down
diffusers, digital WiFi communication thermostat, commercial new construction installation kit, all materials
and labor for a complete installation and put into operation.
Warranty: 10 year parts and 2 year labor.

Ductless mini split system installation 3.0 $3,500.00 $10,500.00

Durastar 24k btu 19 SEER2 R410A 230V Heat Pump system, mini split system installation, condenser saver
kit, commercial new construction installation kit, all materials and labor for a complete installation and put
into operation.
Warranty:10 year parts and 2 year labor.

Electrical service and sub panel 1.0 $5,000.00 $5,000.00

Run electrical service to all equipment and exterior subpanel

Services subtotal: $41,000.00

Quality Cool Air, Inc

205 W Crawford St 
Palestine, TX 75801

 (903) 922-2605
 

CONTACT US

2214 W Reagan St 
Palestine, TX 75801

 (903) 724-0508
 

ESTIMATE #200575

ESTIMATE DATE Mar 14, 2024

SERVICE DATE Feb 26, 2024

TOTAL $41,000.00

Subtotal $41,000.00

Tax (Texas 8.25%) $0.00

Total $41,000.00

Quality Cool Air, Inc TACLA29739C http://www.qualitycoolair.com 1 of 2



ESTIMATE

Services qty unit price amount

Commercial installation 3T single zone ductless mini split 1.0 $8,500.00 $8,500.00

Durastar 36k btu 26.4 SEER2 R410A Sirius mini split heat pump single zone, installation kit, all materials
and labor for a complete installation and put into operation.

Services subtotal: $8,500.00

Quality Cool Air, Inc

205 W Crawford St 
Palestine, TX 75801

 (903) 922-2605
 

CONTACT US

2214 W Reagan St 
Palestine, TX 75801

 (903) 724-0508
 

ESTIMATE #200594

ESTIMATE DATE Mar 18, 2024

TOTAL $8,500.00

Subtotal $8,500.00

Tax (Out of scope 0%) $0.00

Total $8,500.00

Quality Cool Air, Inc TACLA29739C http://www.qualitycoolair.com 1 of 1



DOWNTOWN GRANT PERFORMANCE 

AGREEMENT 

This Downtown Grant Performance Agreement ("GRANT AGREEMENT") is executed 

by and between the Palestine Economic Development Corporation, a Texas Section 4B 

Economic Development Corporation ("PEDC"), whose address is 100 Willow Creek Pkwy. 

Suite A, Palestine, Texas 75801, and Kevin Fuhr, sole proprietor, d/b/a The Historic Palestine 

Event Center ("APPLICANT"), whose current address is 201 W. Crawford St., Palestine, TX 

75801. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the PEDC is an Economic Development Corporation, organized under the Texas 

Development Corporation Act of 1979, Article 5190.6, Section 4B of Vernon's Texas Civil 

Statutes, now Section 501 et seq. of the Texas Local Government Code (the “Act”), and 

authorized by the City of Palestine, Texas (the “City”); 

WHEREAS, the PEDC has adopted, and the City approved, a Downtown Grant Program 

("GRANT PROGRAM"); 

WHEREAS, the APPLICANT submitted its Application dated March 22, 2024 for a 

Downtown Grant ("APPLICATION"); and 

   WHEREAS, the APPLICANT plans to make real property capital investments of          

Forty-Nine Thousand Five Hundred Dollars and No Cents ($49,500.00) for the purpose of 

replacement of an HVAC system at the business property of The Historic Palestine Event Center, 

that being 201 W. Crawford St, Palestine, TX 75801 (“PROJECT”). PEDC has found that the 

proposed improvements of APPLICANT'S property will encourage economic development in the 

City and will add to the ad valorem tax rolls of the City and other local taxing entities, and the 

PEDC and City have approved a cash performance grant to APPLICANT that matches funds 

expended by APPLICANT not to exceed a grant of Thirty-Seven Thousand One Hundred 

Twenty-Five Dollars and No Cents ($37,125.00) ("GRANT"). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of mutual covenants and agreements contained 

herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 

acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

1. APPLICANT’S OBLIGATIONS

1.1. The GRANT PROGRAM, APPLICATION, and APPLICATION GRANT APPROVAL are 

incorporated herein by reference as if specifically set forth herein. 

1.2. APPLICANT accepts such grant subject to PEDC and City approval. 



1.3. APPLICANT recognizes that, pursuant to the terms and provisions of Texas law, this GRANT 

AGREEMENT will not be valid and binding on PEDC until it is approved by the City Council of 

the City of Palestine, Texas. 

1.4. APPLICANT will secure completion of the improvements in compliance within its 

APPLICATION, the GRANT APPLICATION APPROVAL, and the GRANT PROGRAM before 

January 17, 2025. 

1.5. APPLICANT will obtain all permits required by the CITY or otherwise required by other 

government authorities for the improvement project. 

1.6. PEDC, by its designated representative, shall have the right to inspect during the construction 

of the improvements and, following APPLICANT'S notice of completion, to evaluate 

APPLICANT'S compliance with the APPLICATION, the GRANT APPLICATION 

APPROVAL, and the GRANT PROGRAM. 

2. FUNDING

2.1. APPLICANT will be provided with 50% of the total grant award upon execution of this 

GRANT AGREEMENT. 

2.2. APPLICANT shall provide PEDC with written notification of project completion by certified 

mail, return receipt requested, stating that all improvements have been completed in accordance 

with the APPLICATION and GRANT APPLICATION APPROVAL and GRANT PROGRAM, 

and that full payments have been made for all labor and materials with attached payment receipts 

for materials and labor, required permits, inspection reports, and project photographs. 

2.3. Upon PEDC'S receipt of APPLICANT'S notification of completion, an on-site inspection 

may be made by a representative or representatives of PEDC. Such inspection shall not be 

considered in any way as a reflection of PEDC'S approval on the quality, safety, or reliability of 

the improvements, such being the sole responsibility of APPLICANT. 

2.4. Following on-site inspection, PEDC will review the findings and may request additional 

information if needed and then either notify the APPLICANT of compliance or identify items of 

non-compliance. APPLICANT shall correct the items of non-compliance within thirty (30) days 

of notice thereof or this GRANT AGREEMENT shall be immediately cancelled and the 

APPLICANT shall immediately refund of all grant monies received to date, if any. 

2.5. Upon the PEDC board of directors making a finding of completion of the project, as per the 

terms of the APPLICATION, the GRANT APPLICATION APPROVAL and the GRANT 

AGREEMENT, payment of the remaining 50% of the total grant award will be made. 

3. REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTIES

APPLICANT represents and warrants to PEDC that: 



3.1. APPLICANT has the power and authority, corporate or otherwise, to conduct its business 

and to perform all of its obligations under this GRANT AGREEMENT. 

3.2. APPLICANT'S execution, delivery, and performance of this GRANT AGREEMENT has 

been duly authorized by all necessary action, corporate or otherwise, and does not and will not 

violate any provision of any existing law, rule, regulation, contract, or lien by which 

APPLICANT or its property or assets is bound or affected. 

3.3. To the best of APPLICANT'S knowledge neither it, nor any division, branch, subsidiary, or 

related agency of the APPLICANT, is a party to any administrative or legal proceeding that is 

active or threatened against the APPLICANT or APPLICANT'S officers which may result in any 

material adverse change in APPLICANT'S business operations or assets which may be the 

subject of this GRANT AGREEMENT. 

3.4. APPLICANT represents and warrants that they are not engaged in business with Iran, Sudan, 

or a foreign terrorist organization, as prohibited by Section 2252.152 of the Government Code. 

3.5. Information, documentation, and other material in connection with the GRANT 

AGREEMENT may be subject to public disclosure pursuant to Chapter 552 of the Government 

Code (the “Public Information Act”). To the extent, if any, that any provision of the Agreement 

is in conflict with the Public Information Act, such provision shall be void and have no force or 

effect. 

In accordance with Section 2252.907 of the Government Code, APPLICANT is required to 

make any information created or exchanged with the PEDC pursuant to the GRANT 

AGREEMENT, regardless of contrary provisions contained herein, and not otherwise excepted 

from disclosure under the Public Information Act, available in a format that is accessible by the 

public at no additional charge to the PEDC. 

3.6. No Indemnification by the PEDC. APPLICANT and the PEDC expressly acknowledge that 

the PEDC’S authority to indemnify and hold harmless any third party is governed by Article XI, 

Section 7, of the Texas Constitution and any provision that purports to require indemnification 

by the PEDC is invalid. Nothing in this GRANT AGREEMENT requires that the PEDC incur 

debt, assess or collect funds, or create a sinking fund. 

3.7. APPLICANT is aware of the limitations imposed on this GRANT and the use of funds by 

law and acknowledges that the funds herein granted shall be utilized solely for purposes 

authorized under law and by the terms of this GRANT AGREEMENT. In the event that an audit 

determines that the financial incentives granted under this GRANT AGREEMENT were not used 

for proper purposes, APPLICANT agrees to reimburse PEDC for the sums of money spent for 

purposes not authorized by law or this GRANT AGREEMENT, with interest at the rate 

periodically announced by the Wall Street Journal as the prime or base commercial lending rate, 

or if the Wall Street Journal shall ever cease to exist or cease to announce a prime or base lending 

rate, then at the annual rate of interest from time to time announced by Citibank, N.A. (or by any 



other New York money center bank selected by the City) as its prime or base commercial lending 

rate. The payment of interest shall be from the date that the money was spent for purposes not 

authorized by law or this GRANT AGREEMENT.  

3.8. APPLICANT does not and will not knowingly employ an undocumented worker, as that 

term is defined by Tex. Gov't. Code Sec. 2264.001, directly or indirectly through a contractor or 

subcontractor. If, after receiving the funds herein granted, APPLICANT is convicted of a violation 

under 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(t), APPLICANT shall repay the amount of the grant paid by PEDC to 

APPLICANT with interest at the rate periodically announced by the Wall Street Journal as the 

prime or base commercial lending rate, or if the Wall Street Journal shall ever cease to exist or 

cease to announce a prime or base lending rate, then at the annual rate of interest from time to 

time announced by Citibank, N.A. (or by any other New York money center bank selected by the 

City) as its prime or base commercial lending rate. The payment of interest shall be, no later than 

120 days after the date that APPLICANT receives notification of such a violation.  

3.9. APPLICANT shall fully comply with all local, state and federal laws applicable or otherwise 

implicated by APPLICANT'S receipt of funds under this GRANT PROGRAM, which includes 

but is not limited to APPLICANT'S compliance with Title VII, Civil Rights Act of 1964, as 

amended, the Texas Labor Code, the Drug Free Workplace Act of 1988, and the Americans with 

Disabilities Act, as well as APPLICANT’S refraining from discrimination of persons based on 

race, color, religion, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth, and related medical conditions; sexual 

orientation), national origin, disability, age, citizenship status, genetic information, political 

affiliation or participation in civil rights activities. Furthermore, while the City of Palestine fully 

supports the exercise of freedom of speech, the City of Palestine will not financially support or 

fund projects that incorporate or promote ideas of hate or which are intended to vilify, humiliate, 

or incite hatred against a group or a class of persons on the basis of race, religion, skin color, sexual 

identity, gender identity, ethnicity, disability or national origin. 

3.10. APPLICANT will use all commercially reasonable efforts to continue operations in 

Palestine, Anderson County, Texas. 

3.11. APPLICANT shall timely pay all ad valorem taxes due and owed by it to the CITY and all 

other taxing authorities having jurisdiction over the APPLICANT'S property. APPLICANT shall 

also timely pay any and all water and sewer bills owed to the CITY. In addition, APPLICANT 

shall timely pay all employment, income, franchise, and other taxes owed by it to all local, state, 

and federal government entities. 

3.12. APPLICANT shall properly notify the Anderson County Appraisal District of all capital 

improvements, personal property, and equipment and shall list the City of Palestine as the taxable 

situs of all capital improvements, personal property, and equipment located on the property. 

3.13. If APPLICANT'S operations, past or present, cause the CITY or PEDC to be fined by any 

governmental entity, this AGREEMENT shall terminate immediately and the PEDC will have 

no further obligations under this GRANT AGREEMENT and APPLICANT shall immediately 

repay the CITY or PEDC for such fines, penalties, and expenses within thirty (30) days. 



3.14. If the business property, that being 201 W. Crawford St, Palestine, Texas 75801, is sold, 

conveyed, or utilized for a purpose not originally intended by the GRANT APPLICATION 

within one year of grant funding being awarded to APPLICANT, APPLICANT shall be required 

to reimburse the PEDC immediately for the full amount of the grant. 

 

4. REMEDIES 

 

4.1. Upon default, the non-defaulting party shall have the right to seek any remedy available in 

law or equity including, termination of this GRANT AGREEMENT, recovery of GRANT funds, 

and pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the rate provided by law or as otherwise provided 

by this GRANT AGREEMENT (whichever is greater). 

 

4.2 Attorney’s Fees. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, each party shall bear its 

own costs and attorney’s fees in connection with this Agreement, including any dispute relating 

thereto. 

5. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 

5.1. All representations, warranties, covenants, and agreements, as well as rights and benefits for 

the parties to this GRANT AGREEMENT shall survive the payment of grant funds to 

APPLICANT. 

 

5.2. This GRANT AGREEMENT may not be assigned by APPLICANT without the prior written 

consent of PEDC. No such assignment shall relieve APPLICANT of any of its obligations under 

this GRANT AGREEMENT. 

 

5.3. The GRANT AGREEMENT may not be amended, modified, altered, or changed unless in 

writing, signed by both parties to this GRANT AGREEMENT and approved by the City of 

Palestine. 

 

5.4. APPLICANT SHALL INDEMNIFY AND HOLD THE PEDC, ITS EMPLOYEES, 

AND ITS AGENTS HARMLESS FOR ANY DAMAGES, BOTH PERSONAL AND 

PROPERTY, WHICH MAY RESULT DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY FROM ANY 

INCIDENT ASSOCIATED WITH PROJECT BOTH DURING AND AFTER 

CONSTRUCTION, AND THAT PEDC, ITS EMPLOYEES, AND ITS AGENTS SHALL 

NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY DEBTS INCURRED IN ASSOCIATION WITH THE 

EXECUTION AND COMPLETION OF THE SUBJECT PROJECT OF THIS 

APPLICATION. 

 

PEDC, ITS EMPLOYEES, AND ITS AGENTS, DO NOT ATTEST TO THE QUALITY, 

SAFETY, OR CONSTRUCTION OF A PROJECT ELIGIBLE FOR, OR RECEIVING 

GRANT FUNDING. THEREFORE, PEDC, ITS EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS SHALL 

BE HELD HARMLESS BY THE APPLICANT FOR ANY PROJECT WHOSE 

APPLICATION HAS BEEN APPROVED OR HAS RECEIVED ACTUAL GRANT 

FUNDING. 

 



5.5.  Severability. In the event of any one or more words, phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs, 

sections, or other parts of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person, firm, 

corporations, or circumstance, shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or 

unconstitutional for any reason, then the application, invalidity, or unconstitutionality of such 

words, phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs, sections, or other parts of this Agreement shall 

be deemed to be independent of and severable from the remainder of this Agreement, and the 

application, validity, or constitutionality of the remaining parts of this Agreement shall not be 

affected thereby. 

5.6. This GRANT AGREEMENT shall be binding upon an inure to the benefit of the parties and 

their respective heirs, administrators, and assigns. 

5.7. No failure or delay on the part of the PEDC in exercising any right, power, or exercise 

hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such 

right, power, or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other 

right, power or remedy hereunder. No notice to or demand on APPLICANT in any case shall 

entitle APPLICANT to any other or further notice or demand in similar or other circumstances. 

5.8. All notices, consents, requests, demands, and other communication hereunder shall be in 

writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given to the party hereto if mailed by certified mail, 

prepaid, to the APPLICANT'S address shown above as first written. 

5.9. Time is of the essence of this agreement. 

5.10. Neither party will be liable for delays or failure in its performance hereunder to the extent that 

such delay or failure is caused by acts of God, war, terrorism, or threats of terrorism, natural 

disaster, strike, lockout, labor dispute, work stoppage, fire, third-party criminal act, quarantine 

restriction, epidemic, pandemic, act of government, or other events outside of the reasonable 

control of a party (a “Force Majeure Event”); provided that the delayed party took reasonable 

precaution to prevent the impact of the Force Majeure Event. 

5.11. This GRANT AGREEMENT shall be deemed a contract made under the laws of the State of 

Texas and for all purposes shall be construed in accordance with the Laws of said State. The 

venue shall be in Anderson County, Texas. 

5.12. The providing of this GRANT AGREEMENT by PEDC to APPLICANT by any means of 

delivery constitutes an offer by PEDC to APPLICANT to accept this GRANT AGREEMENT 

on the terms and conditions contained therein, subject to approval by the City of Palestine City 

Council. If APPLICANT has not accepted the offer by ninety (90) days from the date approved 

by the City Council of the City of Palestine, Texas, the offer will lapse, and the offer and this 

GRANT AGREEMENT shall become null and void. 

6. TERM

6.1. This GRANT AGREEMENT shall be effective on the date of the last signature below.  The 

GRANT AGREEMENT shall terminate one year from the date that the PEDC board of directors 



makes a finding of completion of the project pursuant to Section 2.5 of this GRANT 
AGREEMENT or earlier as otherwise terminated according to the provisions of this GRANT 

AGREEMENT. 

AGREED and SIGNED to be effective as of the Effective Dnte. 

For the Applicant(s): 

The Historic Palestine Event Center 

Date 
Kevin Fuhr. Owner 

For the PEDC: 
Palestine Economic Development Corporation 

By __________ _ Date 
Dan Bochsler Board Vice President 

APPROVED: 

City of Palestine. Texas 

By Date 

Mitchell Jordan, Mayor 



Agenda Date: April 22, 2024
To: City Council
From: Lisa Bowman, Economic Development Admin
Agenda Item: Downtown Grant Performance Agreement between the PEDC and Palestine

Community Theater, Inc.
Date Submitted: 04/17/2024

SUMMARY:
Consider and take possible action on a Downtown Grant Agreement between the Palestine Economic
Development Corporation and Palestine Community Theater, Inc. in an amount not to exceed
$60,000.00.
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends consideration and approval of a Downtown Grant Agreement between the Palestine
EDC and Palestine Community Theater, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $60,000.00.
 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Downtown Grant Application - Palestine Community Theater, Inc. 
Downtown Grant Agreement - Palestine Community Theater, Inc. 





























































DOWNTOWN GRANT PERFORMANCE 

AGREEMENT 

 

This Downtown Grant Performance Agreement ("GRANT AGREEMENT") is 

executed by and between the Palestine Economic Development Corporation, a Texas Section 

4B Economic Development Corporation ("PEDC"), whose address is 100 Willow Creek 

Pkwy. Suite A, Palestine, Texas 75801, and Palestine Community Theater, 

Inc.("APPLICANT"), whose current address is 213 W. Crawford St. Palestine, TX 75801. 
 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, the PEDC is an Economic Development Corporation, organized under the 

Texas Development Corporation Act of 1979, Article 5190.6, Section 4B of Vernon's Texas 

Civil Statutes, now Section 501 et seq. of the Texas Local Government Code (the Act), and 

authorized by the City of Palestine, Texas (City); 

 

WHEREAS, the PEDC has adopted, and the City approved, a Downtown Grant Program 

("GRANT PROGRAM"); 

 

WHEREAS, the APPLICANT submitted its Application dated April 4, 2024 for a Downtown 

Grant ("APPLICATION"); and 

 

   WHEREAS, the APPLICANT plans to make real property capital investments of          

Eighty Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($80,000.00) for the purpose of replacement of an 

HVAC system at the business property of The Historic Texas Theater, that being 213 W. 

Crawford St, Palestine, TX 75801 (“PROJECT”). PEDC has found that the proposed 

improvements of APPLICANT'S property will encourage economic development in the City 

and will add to the ad valorem tax rolls of the City and other local taxing entities, and the PEDC 

and City have approved a cash performance grant to APPLICANT that matches funds 

expended by APPLICANT not to exceed a grant of Sixty Thousand Dollars and No Cents 

($60,000.00) ("GRANT"). 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of mutual covenants and agreements 

contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

 
1. APPLICANT’S OBLIGATIONS 

 

1.1. The GRANT PROGRAM, APPLICATION, and APPLICATION GRANT APPROVAL are 

incorporated herein by reference as if specifically set forth herein. 

 

1.2. APPLICANT accepts such grant subject to PEDC and City approval.  

 

1.3. APPLICANT recognizes that, pursuant to the terms and provisions of Texas law, this 

GRANT AGREEMENT will not be valid and binding on PEDC until it is approved by the City 

Council of the City of Palestine, Texas. 



1.4. APPLICANT will secure completion of the improvements in compliance within its 

APPLICATION, the GRANT APPLICATION APPROVAL, and the GRANT PROGRAM before 

January 17, 2025. 

1.5. APPLICANT will obtain all permits required by the CITY or otherwise required by other 

government authorities for the improvement project. 

1.6. PEDC, by its designated representative, shall have the right to inspect during the 

construction of the improvements and, following APPLICANT'S notice of completion, to 

evaluate APPLICANT'S compliance with the APPLICATION, the GRANT APPLICATION 

APPROVAL, and the GRANT PROGRAM. 

2. FUNDING

2.1. APPLICANT will be provided with 50% of the total grant award upon execution of this 

GRANT AGREEMENT. 

2.2. APPLICANT shall provide PEDC with written notification of project completion by 

certified mail, return receipt requested, stating that all improvements have been completed in 

accordance with the APPLICATION and GRANT APPLICATION APPROVAL and GRANT 

PROGRAM, and that full payments have been made for all labor and materials with attached 

payment receipts for materials and labor, required permits, inspection reports, and project 

photographs. 

2.3. Upon PEDC'S receipt of APPLICANT'S notification of completion, an on-site inspection 

may be made by a representative or representatives of PEDC. Such inspection shall not be 

considered in any way as a reflection of PEDC'S approval on the quality, safety, or reliability 

of the improvements, such being the sole responsibility of APPLICANT. 

2.4. Following on-site inspection, PEDC will review the findings and may request additional 

information if needed and then either notify the APPLICANT of compliance or identify items 

of non-compliance. APPLICANT shall correct the items of non-compliance within thirty (30) 

days of notice thereof or this GRANT AGREEMENT shall be immediately cancelled and the 

APPLICANT shall immediately refund of all grant monies received to date, if any. 

2.5. Upon the PEDC board of directors making a finding of completion of the project, as per the 

terms of the APPLICATION, the GRANT APPLICATION APPROVAL and the GRANT 

AGREEMENT, payment of the remaining 50% of the total grant award will be made. 

3. REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTIES

APPLICANT represents and warrants to PEDC that: 



3.1. APPLICANT has the power and authority, corporate or otherwise, to conduct its business 

and to perform all of its obligations under this GRANT AGREEMENT. 

3.2. APPLICANT'S execution, delivery, and performance of this GRANT AGREEMENT has 

been duly authorized by all necessary action, corporate or otherwise, and does not and will not 

violate any provision of any existing law, rule, regulation, contract, or lien by which 

APPLICANT or its property or assets is bound or affected. 

3.3. To the best of APPLICANT'S knowledge neither it, nor any division, branch, subsidiary, 

or related agency of the APPLICANT, is a party to any administrative or legal proceeding that 

is active or threatened against the APPLICANT or APPLICANT'S officers which may result in 

any material adverse change in APPLICANT'S business operations or assets which may be the 

subject of this GRANT AGREEMENT. 

3.4. APPLICANT represents and warrants that they are not engaged in business with Iran, 

Sudan, or a foreign terrorist organization, as prohibited by Section 2252.152 of the Government 

Code. 

3.5. Information, documentation, and other material in connection with the GRANT 

AGREEMENT may be subject to public disclosure pursuant to Chapter 552 of the Government 

Code (the “Public Information Act”). To the extent, if any, that any provision of the 

Agreement is in conflict with the Public Information Act, such provision shall be void and have 

no force or effect. 

In accordance with Section 2252.907 of the Government Code, APPLICANT is required to 

make any information created or exchanged with the PEDC pursuant to the GRANT 

AGREEMENT, regardless of contrary provisions contained herein, and not otherwise excepted 

from disclosure under the Public Information Act, available in a format that is accessible by the 

public at no additional charge to the PEDC. 

3.6. No Indemnification by the PEDC. APPLICANT and the PEDC expressly acknowledge 

that the PEDC’S authority to indemnify and hold harmless any third party is governed by 

Article XI, Section 7, of the Texas Constitution and any provision that purports to require 

indemnification by the PEDC is invalid. Nothing in this GRANT AGREEMENT requires that 

the PEDC incur debt, assess or collect funds, or create a sinking fund. 

3.7. APPLICANT is aware of the limitations imposed on this GRANT and the use of funds by 

law and acknowledges that the funds herein granted shall be utilized solely for purposes 

authorized under law and by the terms of this GRANT AGREEMENT. In the event that an 

audit determines that the financial incentives granted under this GRANT AGREEMENT were 

not used for proper purposes, APPLICANT agrees to reimburse PEDC for the sums of money 

spent for purposes not authorized by law or this GRANT AGREEMENT, with interest at the 

rate periodically announced by the Wall Street Journal as the prime or base commercial lending 

rate, or if the Wall Street Journal shall ever cease to exist or cease to announce a prime or base 

lending rate, then at the annual rate of interest from time to time announced by Citibank, N.A. 



(or by any other New York money center bank selected by the City) as its prime or base 

commercial lending rate. The payment of interest shall be from the date that the money was 

spent for purposes not authorized by law or this GRANT AGREEMENT.  

3.8. APPLICANT does not and will not knowingly employ an undocumented worker, as that 

term is defined by Tex. Gov't. Code Sec. 2264.001, directly or indirectly through a contractor or 

subcontractor. If, after receiving the funds herein granted, APPLICANT is convicted of a 

violation under 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(t), APPLICANT shall repay the amount of the grant paid by 

PEDC to APPLICANT with interest at the rate periodically announced by the Wall Street 

Journal as the prime or base commercial lending rate, or if the Wall Street Journal shall ever 

cease to exist or cease to announce a prime or base lending rate, then at the annual rate of 

interest from time to time announced by Citibank, N.A. (or by any other New York money 

center bank selected by the City) as its prime or base commercial lending rate. The payment of 

interest shall be, no later than 120 days after the date that APPLICANT receives notification of 

such a violation.  

3.9. APPLICANT shall fully comply with all local, state and federal laws applicable or 

otherwise implicated by APPLICANT'S receipt of funds under this GRANT PROGRAM, 

which includes but is not limited to APPLICANT'S compliance with Title VII, Civil Rights Act 

of 1964, as amended, the Texas Labor Code, the Drug Free Workplace Act of 1988, and the 

Americans with Disabilities Act, as well as APPLICANT’S refraining from discrimination of 

persons based on race, color, religion, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth, and related medical 

conditions; sexual orientation), national origin, disability, age, citizenship status, genetic 

information, political affiliation or participation in civil rights activities. Furthermore, while the 

City of Palestine fully supports the exercise of freedom of speech, the City of Palestine will not 

financially support or fund projects that incorporate or promote ideas of hate or which are 

intended to vilify, humiliate, or incite hatred against a group or a class of persons on the basis of 

race, religion, skin color, sexual identity, gender identity, ethnicity, disability or national origin. 

3.10. APPLICANT will use all commercially reasonable efforts to continue operations in 

Palestine, Anderson County, Texas. 

3.11. APPLICANT shall timely pay all ad valorem taxes due and owed by it to the CITY and 

all other taxing authorities having jurisdiction over the APPLICANT'S property. APPLICANT 

shall also timely pay any and all water and sewer bills owed to the CITY. In addition, 

APPLICANT shall timely pay all employment, income, franchise, and other taxes owed by it 

to all local, state, and federal government entities. 

3.12. APPLICANT shall properly notify the Anderson County Appraisal District of all capital 

improvements, personal property, and equipment and shall list the City of Palestine as the 

taxable situs of all capital improvements, personal property, and equipment located on the 

property. 

3.13. If APPLICANT'S operations, past or present, cause the CITY or PEDC to be fined by any 

governmental entity, this AGREEMENT shall terminate immediately and the PEDC will have 



no further obligations under this GRANT AGREEMENT and APPLICANT shall immediately 

repay the CITY or PEDC for such fines, penalties, and expenses within thirty (30) days. 

3.14. If the business property, that being 213 W. Crawford St, Palestine, Texas 75801, is sold, 

conveyed, or utilized for a purpose not originally intended by the GRANT APPLICATION 

within one year of grant funding being awarded to APPLICANT, APPLICANT shall be 

required to reimburse the PEDC immediately for the full amount of the grant. 

4. REMEDIES

4.1. Upon default, the non-defaulting party shall have the right to seek any remedy available in 

law or equity including, termination of this GRANT AGREEMENT, recovery of GRANT funds, 

and pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the rate provided by law or as otherwise 

provided by this GRANT AGREEMENT (whichever is greater). 

4.2 Attorney’s Fees. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, each party shall bear its 

own costs and attorney’s fees in connection with this Agreement, including any dispute 

relating thereto. 

5. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

5.1. All representations, warranties, covenants, and agreements, as well as rights and benefits 

for the parties to this GRANT AGREEMENT shall survive the payment of grant funds to 

APPLICANT. 

5.2. This GRANT AGREEMENT may not be assigned by APPLICANT without the prior 

written consent of PEDC. No such assignment shall relieve APPLICANT of any of its 

obligations under this GRANT AGREEMENT. 

5.3. The GRANT AGREEMENT may not be amended, modified, altered, or changed unless in 

writing, signed by both parties to this GRANT AGREEMENT and approved by the City of 

Palestine. 

5.4. APPLICANT SHALL INDEMNIFY AND HOLD THE PEDC, ITS EMPLOYEES, 

AND ITS AGENTS HARMLESS FOR ANY DAMAGES, BOTH PERSONAL AND 

PROPERTY, WHICH MAY RESULT DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY FROM ANY 

INCIDENT ASSOCIATED WITH PROJECT BOTH DURING AND AFTER 

CONSTRUCTION, AND THAT PEDC, ITS EMPLOYEES, AND ITS AGENTS SHALL 

NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY DEBTS INCURRED IN ASSOCIATION WITH THE 

EXECUTION AND COMPLETION OF THE SUBJECT PROJECT OF THIS 

APPLICATION. 

PEDC, ITS EMPLOYEES, AND ITS AGENTS, DO NOT ATTEST TO THE QUALITY, 

SAFETY, OR CONSTRUCTION OF A PROJECT ELIGIBLE FOR, OR RECEIVING 

GRANT FUNDING. THEREFORE, PEDC, ITS EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS SHALL 

BE HELD HARMLESS BY THE APPLICANT FOR ANY PROJECT WHOSE 



APPLICATION HAS BEEN APPROVED OR HAS RECEIVED ACTUAL GRANT 

FUNDING. 

5.5.  Severability. In the event of any one or more words, phrases, clauses, sentences, 

paragraphs, sections, or other parts of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person, 

firm, corporations, or circumstance, shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 

invalid or unconstitutional for any reason, then the application, invalidity, or unconstitutionality 

of such words, phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs, sections, or other parts of this 

Agreement shall be deemed to be independent of and severable from the remainder of this 

Agreement, and the application, validity, or constitutionality of the remaining parts of this 

Agreement shall not be affected thereby. 

5.6. This GRANT AGREEMENT shall be binding upon an inure to the benefit of the parties 

and their respective heirs, administrators, and assigns. 

5.7. No failure or delay on the part of the PEDC in exercising any right, power, or exercise 

hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such 

right, power, or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any 

other right, power or remedy hereunder. No notice to or demand on APPLICANT in any case 

shall entitle APPLICANT to any other or further notice or demand in similar or other 

circumstances. 

5.8. All notices, consents, requests, demands, and other communication hereunder shall be in 

writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given to the party hereto if mailed by certified 

mail, prepaid, to the APPLICANT'S address shown above as first written. 

5.9. Time is of the essence of this agreement. 

5.10. Neither party will be liable for delays or failure in its performance hereunder to the extent 

that such delay or failure is caused by acts of God, war, terrorism, or threats of terrorism, 

natural disaster, strike, lockout, labor dispute, work stoppage, fire, third-party criminal act, 

quarantine restriction, epidemic, pandemic, act of government, or other events outside of the 

reasonable control of a party (a “Force Majeure Event”); provided that the delayed party took 

reasonable precaution to prevent the impact of the Force Majeure Event. 

5.11. This GRANT AGREEMENT shall be deemed a contract made under the laws of the State 

of Texas and for all purposes shall be construed in accordance with the Laws of said State. The 

venue shall be in Anderson County, Texas. 

5.12. The providing of this GRANT AGREEMENT by PEDC to APPLICANT by any means 

of delivery constitutes an offer by PEDC to APPLICANT to accept this GRANT 

AGREEMENT on the terms and conditions contained therein, subject to approval by the City 

of Palestine City Council. If APPLICANT has not accepted the offer by ninety (90) days from 



the date approved by the City Council of the City of Palestine, Texas, the offer will lapse, and 

the offer and this GRANT AGREEMENT shall become null and void. 

6. TERM

6.1. This GRANT AGREEMENT shall be effective on the date of the last signature below.  The 

GRANT AGREEMENT shall terminate one year from the date that the PEDC board of directors 

makes a finding of completion of the project pursuant to Section 2.5 of this GRANT 

AGREEMENT or earlier as otherwise terminated according to the provisions of this GRANT 

AGREEMENT. 

AGREED and SIGNED to be effective as of the Effective Date. 

For the Applicant(s): 

Palestine Community Theater, Inc. 

By _________________________ Date ___________________ 

     Linda McDonald, Board Member 

For the PEDC:  

Palestine Economic Development Corporation 

By_________________________ Date ___________________ 

Dan Bochsler, Board Vice President 

APPROVED:  

City of Palestine, Texas 

By _________________________ Date ___________________ 

Mitchell Jordan, Mayor 


	Agenda
	AI_4637_Discuss water utility options from KSA
	       ATT_KSA
	       ATT_Maps 
	AI_4638_Discuss Water Master Plan from Freese and Nichols, Inc.
	       ATT_Report
	       ATT_Map 
	       ATT_Entire Report
	AI_4640_Discuss expansion of possible Palestine Municipal Airport 
	       ATT_KSA  
	       ATT_Utilities Map 
	       ATT_Drawing 
	AI_4645_Boards, commissions and committees
	AI_4634_Presentation of the Certificate of Achievement for the Fiscal Year 2022 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report
	       ATT_Certificate of Award
	       ATT_Press Release
	AI_4639_Police Department Reports
	       ATT_2023 Racial Profiling Report
	       ATT_CID Stats March 2024
	       ATT_PPD Stats March 2024
	       ATT_PLACE Stats March 2024
	       ATT_2023 Racial Profiling Charts
	AI_4646_PEDC Monthly Report March/April 2024
	       ATT_City Council Report Mar-Apr 2024
	       ATT_ETEX PEDC Broadband Revenue Share Report Q1 2024
	AI_4642_Consider approval of minutes of the Work Session and Regular Agenda of April 8, 2024
	AI_4644_A resolution for the Texas Community Development Block Grant No. CDV23-0354 and reaffirming adopted local Fair Housing and Civil Rights Policies
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI_4647_Adoption of Financial Policies for Federal Grant Contracts
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI_4648_Adoption of Procurement Policies and Procedures for Federal Grant Contracts
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI_4617_Farmers Market
	       ATT_Draft Farmers Market Agreement
	AI_4630_25K Checks
	       ATT_25K  Checks
	AI_4641_Consider approval of engineering services at the Palestine Municipal Airport 
	AI_4636_Consider authorizing City Manager to seek sealed bids for sludge removal at the Water Treatment Plant
	AI_4635_ETEX phone service 
	       ATT_ETEX revised agreement
	AI_4633_Consider approval of a budget amendment for the Palestine Economic Development Corporation
	       ATT_Amendment Details
	Sheet1

	       ATT_Budget Amendment
	AI_4643_Section 3 Presentation for Grant Number CDV23-0354 - Traylor & Associates 
	       ATT_Section 3 Presentation
	AI_4631_Downtown Grant Performance Agreement between the PEDC and The Historic Palestine Event Center.
	       ATT_Downtown Grant Application - The Historic Palestine Event Center
	       ATT_Downtown Grant Agreement - The Historic Palestine Event Center
	AI_4632_Downtown Grant Performance Agreement between the PEDC and Palestine Community Theater, Inc.
	       ATT_Downtown Grant Application - Palestine Community Theater, Inc.
	       ATT_Downtown Grant Agreement - Palestine Community Theater, Inc.

